A CASE STUDY ANALYSIS OF AFRICAN AMERICAN PARTICIPATION IN THE INITIAL ALLOCATION OF TOBACCO MASTER SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT FUNDS TO BLACK COMMUNITIES IN ARKANSAS AND GEORGIA

A DISSERTATION

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF CLARK ATLANTA UNIVERSITY IN

PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

BY

KEVIN T. COLLINS

DEPARTMENT OF POLITICAL SCIENCE

ATLANTA, GEORGIA

May 2009

© 2009

KEVIN T. COLLINS

All Rights Reserved

CONTENTS

Ch	pter	age
1.	NTRODUCTION	
	Background	
	Tobacco-related Disparities	
	Tobacco Industry Influences	
	State Tobacco Policy 1990 to 2003	0
	Tobacco Policy Monopolies	2
	Background on State Tobacco Lobby Influence	3
	Tobacco Lobby Tactics in States	5
	State Tobacco Policy Outputs from 1990 to 1999	8
	Tobacco Master Settlement Agreement	0
	Policy Friction	2
	Tobacco Use in Arkansas and Georgia	4
	Arkansas Policy Process	7
	Georgia Policy Process	2
	Statement of the Problem	4
	Research Question	5
	Significance of the Study	5
2.	CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK	0
	Pluralism 4	0
	The Pluralist view of Power	12

	Resources	43
	Potential versus Actual Power	43
	Scope of Power	44
	Interest Group Theory	45
	Impact of last year's budget	48
	The Fiscal Environment	49
3.	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	55
	Part I. Tobacco Research and African Americans	55
	Part II. The Civic Engagement Process	57
	Avenues of Civic Engagement in Metropolitan Areas	58
	Engagement with Electoral Politics	59
	The Impact of Institutional Design: Progressive Era Reforms	64
	Special Districts and Authorities	67
	Engagement with Institutions of Government Between Elections .	69
	Contemporary Neighborhood Councils	71
	Deliberative Opportunities	74
	Co-production of Public Services	77
	Engagement with Non Governmental Institutions and Groups	80
	Community Organizing and Community Organizations	81
	Neighborhood Organizations	86
	The Evolution of Black Radical Thought and Radicalism	94
	The Intersection of Pluralism and Decision-making Theory	101
	Part III. Federalism	107

	Grants	109
	Marble Cake Federalism	111
	Mandates	113
	Informing Policymakers	113
	Voting Patterns	116
4.	METHODOLOGY	119
	Application of recommended procedures	124
	Resources	126
	Limitations	126
5.	DATA COLLECTION	128
	Characteristics of participating organizations	128
	Membership	130
	Diversity	133
	Leadership	134
	Organizational and policy resources	136
	The Black Caucus	140
	Funding	144
6.	CONCLUSIONS	146
Aŗ	ppendix	

1. By-laws of the Coalition for a Healthy ARkansas Today

TABLES

Τa	Table		
1.	Youth Tobacco Prevalence	26	
	2. Adult Tobacco Prevalence		26

ABSTRACT

POLITICAL SCIENCE DEPARTMENT

COLLINS, KEVIN T.

B.A.A.S. Southwest Texas State University, 1990

MPA The University of Texas at Tyler, 1996

A CASE STUDY ANALYSIS OF AFRICAN AMERICAN PARTICIPATION IN THE

INITIAL ALLOCATION OF TOBACCO MASTER SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

FUNDS TO BLACK COMMUNITIES IN ARKANSAS AND GEORGIA

Committee Chair:

Abi Awomolo, Ph.D.

Dissertation dated:

May 2009

Since the beginning of the 1990s, there has been a sharp rise in anti-tobacco activism, adverse public opinion, litigation, and new legislation to counter the tobacco industry and reduce use. Despite this sharp rise in activism, the role of African Americans in this advocacy process has mostly escaped the analysis of the political science research community. This includes 1999 when payments to the states began from the historically significant Master Settlement Agreement (MSA), which was signed in 1998 between 46 Attorneys General and the tobacco industry.

This research project analyzed the dynamics in the state tobacco coalitions in Arkansas and Georgia. It delved into the roles African Americans played in an effort to leverage resources for the black community. These funds represented needed resources for building capacity and infrastructure.

X

The research used both primary and secondary data. The primary data were gathered by semi-structured interviews with state health officials, coalition members, and policy-makers all intimately involved in the allocation process.

Secondary data were gathered from journals, newspaper articles, by-laws and program reports. Information was also gathered from publications and websites of reputable organizations working in tobacco prevention. These included the Campaign for Tobacco-free Kids and Americans for Non Smokers' Rights.

Through the lens of Interest Group Theory research analyzed the role African Americans played in the initial allocation of Tobacco Master Settlement Agreement funds in Arkansas and Georgia. It was found that African Americans in leadership roles are important to the initial allocation process. Despite Arkansas' success in securing 15% of State Tobacco Prevention funds allocated through an Historically Black College or University for minority communities, blacks in leadership positions were no guarantee that resources would be allocated to black communities.

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Public health has among its core values fairness, equity, and the commitment to address public health needs. This idea of addressing needs by applying resources where there is the greatest need distinguishes public health from private sector health interventions. As a result, there is disciplinary emphasis on training and the development of scholarly and practical work that help public health practitioners assess needs and develop programs and interventions that seek to address these needs.

Tobacco control has traditionally placed itself within the discipline of public health. A significant number of tobacco control practitioners are trained in public health and most publicly funded tobacco control work is situated in health departments where public health is a core mission and value. Yet tobacco control funding and program development have not been consistent with the public health notion of prioritizing resources to address public health needs, particularly as it relates to communities of color – populations facing significant tobacco-related disparities.

¹L.O. Gostin, *Public health law and ethics: A reader.* (Berkeley and New York: University of California Press and Milbank Memorial Fund, 2002), 10.

Tobacco-related health disparities are a much talked about, yet often misunderstood fact that is most often seen in communities of color. The National Conference on Tobacco and Health Disparities (NCTHD), held in December 2002, represented the first scientific gathering to convene researchers and practitioners to review the current research, identify gaps, and develop a research agenda to eliminate tobacco-related health disparities. The National Conference on Tobacco and Health Disparities planning committee defined tobacco-related health disparities as follows: "differences in the patterns, prevention, and treatment of tobacco use; the risk, incidence, morbidity, mortality, and burden of tobacco-related illness that exists among specific population groups in the United States; and related differences in capacity and the infrastructure, access to resources, and environmental tobacco smoke exposure."

It is a well established fact that communities of color (African Americans, American Indians and Alaskan Natives, Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders, Latinos/Hispanics) suffer from tobacco-related problems at disproportionately higher rates. In most of these populations, there are higher rates of smoking, higher rates of disease and death from tobacco-related causes, and higher levels of targeted marketing by the tobacco industry. As a result of these problems, there has been increasing attention to tobacco control work in these communities thanks to the encouragement of a number of national organizations and agencies. For

²Pebbles Fagan, Gary King, and Deidre Lawrence, et al, Eliminating Tobacco-related health disparities: Directions for Future Research, *American Journal of Public Health*, 92 (February, 2004): 211-217.

example, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Office on Smoking and Health (CDC/OSH) sought to create national organizations dedicated to advancing tobacco control in communities of color through the National Networks for Tobacco Prevention initiative. As a groundbreaking endeavor, it was the first national effort to provide dedicated funding for capacity and infrastructure building in underserved and overburdened populations to eliminate the burden of tobacco use.

Prior to the 1998 Master Settlement Agreement (MSA), initiatives such as the National Cancer Institute's Project American Stop Smoking Intervention Study (ASSIST) constituted the majority of funding available to tobacco control. Although there is a significant body of work indicating communities of color require specific interventions, the limited funds available were focused on "general" interventions with little focus on communities of color. 4 5 6

It is estimated the total payout over time to the 46 states and six territories that were parties to the MSA will be \$246 billion. Although tobacco control advocates of color expressed concern about the MSA's limitations, with regard to safeguarding those outside the United States, and spending priorities, there was

³R.G. Robinson, C. Sutton and M. Pertschuk, *Tobacco prevention and control: Targeting the African American Community* (Los Angeles: Kaiser Family Foundation, 1991).

⁴T. Cross, B. Bazron, K. Dennis and M. Isaacs, *Towards a culturally competent system of care*, vol. 1, (Washington, DC: Georgetown University Child Development Center, Child Adolescent Services System Technical Assistance Center, 1989), 55.

⁵J. M. Kershaw, "AAPI youth tobacco use: A comparative analysis of current cigarette use data from Florida, Texas, and National Youth Tobacco Surveys," *Asian American Pacific Islander Journal of Health* 9 (2001): 25-33.

⁶R.G. Robinson, Community Development Model for public health applications: Overview of a model to eliminate population disparities, *Journal of Health Education Practice* (March 2005): 248-266.

hope this potentially significant increase in funding for tobacco control would finally mean significant, new resources for their communities. There was hope and direct advocacy to encourage tobacco control policy decision-makers to dedicate themselves to a more public health, needs-oriented approach in the field.

A national group of tobacco control leadership representing African

Americans, Native Americans, Latinos, Asian Americans, and Pacific Islanders
issued the May 1997 Communities of Color Statement which, among other things,
focused on ensuring that MSA dollars were targeted to the low income individuals
and communities of color as a matter of fairness and attention to need and stated:

The major reason for the litigation is that public monies are being spent on health services to persons with illnesses caused by tobacco. A disproportionate number of the individuals who receive Medicaid-funded health care are low-income and are from our racial, ethnic and tribal communities. We are concerned that a large monetary settlement will only shift the burden of payment from the general public to individual smokers as tobacco companies raise prices on their addictive products to pay the settlement costs. This has the potential to victimize low-income smokers disproportionately, while allowing the investors in tobacco to realize enormous financial rewards by immunizing tobacco companies from many of the costs of further litigation. There must be a balance struck so that poor people and people of color, who are most likely to pay the higher costs of such a settlement through increased prices, also receive significant and measurable benefits from any agreement.

Tobacco-related Disparities

Fiore and colleagues note that, "unless the prevalence of tobacco use is reduced dramatically, , about 25 million Americans, one of two smokers, will die of a disease caused by their use of tobacco." While tobacco's human cost are

⁷C. Sutton, *The potential impact of the tobacco settlement agreement on the African American community*, (Bala Cynwynd, PA: The Onyx Group, 1998): 20.

incalculable, shortening smokers' lives by an average of 13 to 14 years, in economic terms, tobacco-related diseases cost \$150 billion each year.⁸

Studies show the adverse health effects of tobacco use are not evenly distributed among population groups, but rather are disproportionately inflicted on disadvantaged populations, particularly racial/ethnic minorities and those of lower socio-economic status. For example, African Americans according to the CDC, bear the greatest tobacco-related health burden, despite having similar smoking rates as whites. Middle aged and older African Americans are far more likely to die of heart disease, stroke, or lung cancer than their counterparts in other racial groups. To

The prevalence of smoking, smoking cessation, and heavy smoking are associated with race/ethnicity and educational attainment. The relationship between smoking status and race/ethnicity among U.S. adults, adjusting for educational level, was presented in a multi-year analysis of the National Health Interview Survey (NHIS). Before controlling for education, the data indicated that African Americans are more likely than whites to be current smokers. After accounting for the confounding effect of education, the odds ratios for current

⁸ M.C. Fiore, Preventing 3 Million Premature Deaths and Helping 5 Million Smokers Quit: A National Action Plan for Tobacco Cessation.

⁹ Tobacco Use Among U.S. Racia/Ethnic Minority Groups: A Report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 1998.

¹⁰ Ibid., 13.

¹¹ Ibid., 83.

¹² Ibid., 84.

smoking among African Americans decreased considerably. If all the African Americans in the sample had been of similar educational level compared to whites, then the African American smoking rate would have been about the same as whites.¹³

While socioeconomic status and race/ethnicity are often inter-related, statistical adjustment can account for much of the observed differences in current smoking. However, the confounding effects of education and income do not completely explain the marked racial differences in the likelihood of quitting smoking. For instance, even after adjusting for educational attainment, African Americans, despite their initial efforts, are less likely than whites to successfully quit smoking. Data from CDC show that African Americans who had smoked were much less likely than whites to quit smoking. Using whites as the reference group, the odds ratio (controlling for education) was 0.74 for African American former smokers (those reporting smoking at least 100 cigarettes in their life and reporting at the time of survey they were not smoking cigarettes). ¹⁴

Tobacco Industry Influence

Interestingly, the 1960s and 1970s are historically significant for both the Civil Rights and Women's Liberation movements, cultural revolutions which were more than likely not lost on tobacco company executives. The tobacco industry's longtime economic support for racial/ethnic communities, including support for social services and civil rights organizations, has been noted by the

¹³ Ibid

¹⁴ Ibid.,85.

CDC and more recently by Yerger and Malone.¹⁵ ¹⁶ These authors asserted that the tobacco industry exploited their long-standing connections with African American leadership groups and community members for a three-fold purpose: 1) to use these leaders as a frontline force to defend industry policies; 2) to increase the population's tobacco use; and 3) to defuse tobacco control efforts. They further state that these apparent acts of inclusion extract a steep price in terms of the black population's health and longevity.¹⁷

Tobacco products are heavily marketed in the United States, and certain products are advertised disproportionately to members of racial/ethnic groups. "Marketing segmentation is a well-developed strategy for crafting advertising campaigns that present particularly persuasive appeals to targeted audiences. It has been suggested that the tobacco industry strategically targets new consumer groups (e.g., women, racial/ethnic groups, and youths) by developing advertising that exploits the psychological interests and needs of those targeted populations," state the CDC report. 18

Targeted tobacco advertising is known for its flattering images, which project success, wealth and sophistication, all qualities that appeal to racial/ethnic minorities, including African Americans, who have been profiled by tobacco

¹⁵ Ibid., 212-222.

¹⁶ V.E. Yerger, Malone, RE. African American leadership groups: smoking with the enemy. *Tobacco Control*, 2002; 11:336-345.

¹⁷ Ibid., 346.

¹⁸ Tobacco Use among U.S. Racial/Ethnic Minority Groups: A Report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 1998; pp. 212-222.

companies to assess this population's aspirations and cultural practices. African Americans' historical experiences of racism and discrimination may create vulnerability to notions of "acceptance" as a valid consumer group and advertisements showing attractive images designed to appeal to their community. These overtures, even if offered by tobacco marketers have a certain cache'. The Surgeon General's report states that these attractive images oftentimes stand in contrast to less flattering images presented by the news media. An article on the health of African American women was quoted in the report and points out that, "we have grown almost numb to negative images of ourselves in the media — black teen girl surrounded by screaming babies or men in handcuffs. Not so in cigarette or liquor advertisements. In these we are beautiful, confident, well-dressed, happy, wealthy, and in love..."(Villarosa, 1994, p.13).

Musical events, dance troupes, the visual arts and other cultural events have long been outlets for tobacco industry targeting of racial/ethnic minority groups. One of the longest running cultural events in African American communities is the annual Ebony Fashion Fair tour which is attended by 300,000 women in 190 cities.²¹ From the 1970s to the early 1990s, according to the Surgeon General's report, R.J. Reynolds' 'More' cigarettes supported this event, "When the show was supported by 'More' cigarettes, fashion models lit cigarettes

¹⁹ V. Yerger, Malone, RE. African American leadership groups: smoking with the enemy. *Tohacco Control*, 2002; 11:342.

²⁰ Tobacco Use among U.S. Racial/Ethnic Minority Groups: A Report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 1998; pp. 212-222.

²¹ Ibid.

during the walks down the runaway. In addition to reciting the names of clothing designers, the announcer noted the models smoke 'More' cigarettes. Free samples of 'More' cigarettes were distributed to members of the audience as they left the performance."²² Thus, for decades, cigarette smoking was promoted through a variety of African American venues.

Tobacco has played an important socio-economic role among African Americans, particularly since the 1940s. Complex social and economic forces have affected African American workers, labor union leaders, politicians and community leaders. Tobacco farming remains a major crop in six southern states, Georgia, Kentucky, North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee, and Virginia. The high concentration of blacks in certain tobacco industry occupations creates opportunities for membership in tobacco workers' labor unions, which had achieved success in the south and encouraged blacks to register for and vote in municipal elections. Rival unions sought to involve blacks in unionizing efforts as equals; these early unionizing efforts in tobacco-growing states have been regarded by some historians as a prototype of the civil rights movements. African American women were said to have held important union leadership positions; the power held by African American workers led to

²² Ibid.

²³ Ibid., 208-215

²⁴ Ibid.

²⁵ Ibid., 209

concessions resulting in integrated factory production lines at R.J. Reynolds in 1961.

While African Americans no longer rely on jobs in tobacco manufacturing, shifting economic and market forces have nevertheless helped make them significant users of tobacco. Around the time of World War II, for example, some tobacco companies began advertising campaigns targeting blacks. "Advertising efforts increased in the 1950s" notes the Surgeon General's report, "a decade that saw African American men surpass white men in smoking prevalence... Other influences affecting African Americans' ties to tobacco were the tobacco industry's increased attention to and positive steps toward civil rights in the 1950s and 1960s... and the expansion of political power in the 1980s and 1990s..."²⁶ In the 1990s, prior to the 1998 master settlement agreement between the tobacco industry and state governments, low-income, urban, African American communities had a five-fold higher likelihood compared to whites of being exposed to tobacco advertising on neighborhood billboards.²⁷ These historic patterns underpin the relationship African Americans have with the tobacco industry, which resulted in industry access to the community's leadership, and may have affected community members' attitudes and behaviors toward tobacco.

State Tobacco Policy 1990 to 2003

²⁶ Ibid.

²⁷ M. A. Diefenbach, Green V, Gray T, Patterson F, Miller SM. Targeted Smoking-cessation Programs for Underserved Populations. *Primary Care and Cancer*. 20(6):52-56, June 2000.

During the 1990s, tobacco use came under increasingly intense opposition by anti-tobacco proponents who advocated for increased tobacco taxes and stronger tobacco-use regulations. ²⁸ ²⁹ Since the early 1990s, the tobacco industry responded to this heightened political threat throughout the United States by using its influence to mobilize and advocate for lower tobacco taxes and weaker tobacco regulations than those proposed by health advocates. ³⁰ ³¹ ³²

Coalitions of health groups attempted to shock the tobacco policy system from 1990 to 2003 with their challenge to the state policy monopolies historically exercised by the tobacco industry. Since 1990, the states have been a major venue for tobacco policymaking with legislation proposed in the areas of youth-access legislation, clean indoor air enforcement, and tobacco excise taxes. ³³ ³⁴ ³⁵

²⁸ Michael Givel and Stan Glantz. Tobacco Industry Political Power and Influence in Florida from 1979 to 1999. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California

²⁹ Donley Studlar. Tobacco Control: Comparative Politics in the Unites States and Canada. Peterborough, Ontario, Canada. Broadview Press Ltd.

³⁰ Martha Derthick. Up in Smoke: From Legislation to Litigation in Tobacco Politics, 2nd ed. Washington, DC: CQ Press

³¹ Michael Givel and Stan Glantz. Tobacco Industry Political Power and Influence in Florida from 1979 to 1999. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California

³² Chris Morley, Michael Cummings, Andrew Hyland, Gary Giovino, et al. *Tobacco Institute Lobbying at the State and Local Levels of Government in the 1990s*. Tobacco Control 11 (Supplement 1):i102-i109.

³³ Martha Derthick. Up in Smoke: From Legislation to Litigation in Tobacco Politics, 2nd ed. Washington, DC: CQ Press.

³⁴ Michael Givel and Stan Glantz. Tobacco Industry Political Power and Influence in Florida from 1979 to 1999. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.

³⁵ Chris Morley, Michael Cummings, Andrew Hyland, Gary Giovino, et al. *Tobacco Institute Lobbying at the State and Local Levels of Government in the 1990s*. Tobacco Control 11 (Supplement 1):i102-i109.

Tobacco Policy Monopolies

Baumgartner and Jones argue that in the 1970s, the tobacco policy monopoly with respect to public health and tobacco use at the federal level was either destroyed or weakened.³⁶ They argue that when tobacco was characterized as an economic issue that supported the industry and tobacco farmers, federal policy was supportive. However, this changed during the beginning of the 1960s, because of an E. E. Schattschneider-like "mobilization of bias" by health advocates and government agencies regarding health dangers due to tobacco use.³⁷ U.S. federal policy was mixed regarding the tobacco industry, which lost its policy monopoly due to the inclusion of public health concerns. Schattschneider argued that the way for the less powerful to create change is by expanding the scope of the conflict to make it as public as possible. Some federal policies economically supported tobacco farmers, while other federal policies were designed to counter the adverse effects of tobacco use.³⁸ A sharp mobilization of bias by health advocates with respect to tobacco use and public health also occurred from 1990 to the early 2000s at the state level in the United States. ^{39 40} 41 42

³⁶ Frank Baumgartner and Bryan Jones. Agendas and Instability in American Politics. Chicago: University of Chicago Press. 1993.

³⁷ Schattschneider, E. E. 1960. The Semisovereign People. New York: Holt, Rinehart, and Winston.

³⁸ Frank Baumgartner and Bryan Jones. *Agenda Dynamics and Policy Subsystems*. The Journal of Politics 53 94): 1044-74.

³⁹ Martha Derthick. Up in Smoke: From Legislation to Litigation in Tobacco Politics, 2nd ed. Washington, DC: CQ Press

Background on State Tobacco Lobby Influence

The most robust factor in explaining the enactment of state tobacco policy legislation and programs is the power and influence of the tobacco lobby. 43 44 45 46 47 In tandem with the power of the tobacco lobby, other factors significantly contributing to their influence in state tobacco policymaking include the condition of the state's budget, tobacco economy, political priorities as well as gubernatorial involvement. 48 Despite public pronouncements that tobacco use is a question of adult choice, privately, the primary impetus for the industry's state legislative

⁴⁰ Michael Givel and Stan Glantz. Tobacco Industry Political Power and Influence in Florida from 1979 to 1999. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California

⁴¹ Chris Morley, Michael Cummings, Andrew Hyland, Gary Giovino, et al. *Tobacco Institute Lobbying at the State and Local Levels of Government in the 1990s*. Tobacco Control 11 (Supplement 1):i102-i109.

⁴² Donley Studlar. Tobacco Control: Comparative Politics in the Unites States and Canada. Peterborough, Ontario, Canada. Broadview Press Ltd.

⁴³ Joy Austin-Lane, Deborah Girasek, and Galen Barbour. 2004. *A Qualitative Study of Post-Settlement Influences on State Tobacco Control Funding*. Health Promotion Practices 5 (3): 46S-56S.

⁴⁴ Frank Chaloupka, Michael Cummings, Chris Morley, and Judith Horan. 2002. *Tax, Price and Cigarette Smoking: Evidence from the Tobacco Documents and Implications for Tobacco Company Marketing Strategies*. Tobacco Control 11: 62i-72i.

⁴⁵ Shama Gamkhar and Shao-Chee Sim. 2001. *The Impact of Federal Alcohol and Drug Abuse Block Grants on State and Local Government Substance Abuse Program Expenditures*" Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law 26: 1261-90.

⁴⁶ Shama Gamkhar and Shao-Chee Sim. 2000b. The Public Health Undermined: The Tobacco Industry's Legacy in Missouri in the 1990's. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies.

⁴⁷Shama Gamkhar and Shao-Chee Sim 2001a. "Tobacco Lobby Political Influence on U.S. State Legislatures in the 1990s." Tobacco Control 10: 124-34.

⁴⁸ Joy Austin-Lane, Deborah Girasek, and Galen Barbour. 2004. "A Qualitative Study of Post-Settlement Influences on State Tobacco Control Funding." Health Promotion Practices 5 (3): 46S-56S.

political efforts is to maintain and preserve its tobacco sales and increase profits.⁴⁹

⁵⁰ For instance, a 1991 internal Philip Morris memorandum stated:

During the next five years, PM-USA [Philip Morris, USA] plans to continue its profit growth, generating operating income increases of 13.5% annually. Domestic cigarettes will contribute a cumulative \$18.0 billion to the corporate cash flow over the plan period. Market share will reach 49.6% in 1995, while volume will grow at a compound annual rate of half a percent.

PM-USA volume growth will occur despite a 2.9% compound annual decline in industry volume. Industry volume will be negatively affected by increasing smoking restrictions, the decreasing acceptability of smoking and increasing excise taxes. Corporate affairs will use direct lobbying, the media, and industry allies to minimize state and local tax increases, promote accommodation in public places [smoking with non-smoking in public places] and preserve the industry's freedom to advertise and promote cigarettes to adult smokers. ⁵¹

Efforts to maintain sales and profits have occurred through ongoing advocacy in all state legislatures by the tobacco industry. The tobacco industry has consistently opposed vigorous anti-tobacco regulations, educational programs, and higher taxes on tobacco products. 52 53 54 55

⁴⁹ Michael Givel and Stan Glantz. 2001a. *Tobacco Lobby Political Influence on U.S. State Legislatures in the 1990s*. Tobacco Control 10: 124-34.

⁵⁰ Chris Morley, Michael Cummings, Andrew Hyland, Gary Giovino, et al. *Tobacco Institute Lobbying at the State and Local Levels of Government in the 1990s*. Tobacco Control 11 (Supplement 1):i102-i109.

⁵¹ Philip Morris Tobacco Company. 1995. Privileged and Confidential Information. Minneapolis, MN: Minneapolis Tobacco Document Depository. Bates No 2046972451-204692476.

 $^{^{52}}$ Martha Derthick. Up in Smoke: From Legislation to Litigation in Tobacco Politics, 2^{nd} ed. Washington, DC: CQ Press

⁵³ Michael Givel and Stan Glantz. 2001a. *Tobacco Lobby Political Influence on U.S. State Legislatures in the 1990s.* Tobacco Control 10: 124-34.

Tobacco Lobby Tactics in States

The primary approach by the tobacco industry, a powerful force in all states in advancing its policy goal, has been the ongoing employment of well-established and astute contract lobbyists. These state contract lobbyists often have decades of experience and expertise in working with state legislatures to advance or block legislation. For instance, Missouri tobacco lobbyist John Britton began his career as a lobbyist over 45 years ago. ⁵⁶

The tobacco lobbyists have advanced on an ongoing basis the tobacco industry's policy agenda and clashed with the health advocates' interest, such as supporting stronger clean indoor air regulation. 57 58 59 60 61 62 63 64 Coordination of

⁵⁴ Chris Morley, Michael Cummings, Andrew Hyland, Gary Giovino, et al. *Tobacco Institute Lobbying at the State and Local Levels of Government in the 1990s*. Tobacco Control 11 (Supplement 1):i102-i109.

⁵⁵ Donley Studlar. Tobacco Control: Comparative Politics in the Unites States and Canada. Peterborough, Ontario, Canada. Broadview Press Ltd.

⁵⁶ Givel, Michael, and Stanton Glantz 2000b. The Public Health Undermined: The Tobacco Industry's Legacy in Missouri in the 1990's. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies.

⁵⁷ Chaloupka, Frank, Michael Cummings, Chris Morley, and Judith Horan. 2002. *Tax, Price and Cigarette Smoking: Evidence from the Tobacco Documents and Implications for Tobacco Company Marketing Strategies*. Tobacco Control 11: 62i-72i.

⁵⁸ Martha Derthick. Up in Smoke: From Legislation to Litigation in Tobacco Politics, 2nd ed. Washington, DC: CQ Press

⁵⁹ Michael Givel and Stan Glantz. 2001a. *Tobacco Lobby Political Influence on U.S. State Legislatures in the 1990s*. Tobacco Control 10: 124-34.

⁶⁰ Michael Givel and Stan Glantz. 2001b. Tobacco Policy Making in California 1999-2001: Stalled and Adrift. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.

⁶¹ Michael Givel and Stan Glantz. 2002. Political Reform and Tobacco Control Policy Making in Mississippi from 1990 to 2001. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.

these state lobbying efforts occurred through a descending relationship with tobacco industry management at the national corporate level developing and consulting with the contracted state lobbyists. ⁶⁵ This consultation included the development of uniform policy positions that should be promoted or discouraged in each state. ⁶⁶

The state lobbyists employed various tactics to influence states' tobacco policies. These tactics included direct and indirect campaign contributions to organizations such as political parties designed to assist legislator's election campaigns and provide gifts and honoraria to legislators. Other tactics included occasional alliances with other interest groups such as the hospitality industry to counter clean indoor air ordinances, and the development of front groups such as the National Smokers Alliance primarily funded by Philip Morris. ^{67 68} The

⁶² Chris Morley, Michael Cummings, Andrew Hyland, Gary Giovino, et al. *Tobacco Institute Lobbying at the State and Local Levels of Government in the 1990s.* Tobacco Control 11 (Supplement 1):i102-i109.

⁶³ Michael Pertschuk, 1992. Smoking Gun Speaks: The Tobacco Industry's Buy America Strategy. Paper read at Seventh National Conference on Chronic Disease Prevention and Control, Salt Lake City, UT.

⁶⁴ Donley Studlar. Tobacco Control: Comparative Politics in the Unites States and Canada. Peterborough, Ontario, Canada. Broadview Press Ltd.

⁶⁵ Michael Givel and Stan Glantz. 2001a. *Tobacco Lobby Political Influence on U.S. State Legislatures in the 1990s*. Tobacco Control 10: 124-34.

⁶⁶ Adam Goldstein, Joanna Cohen, Brian Flynn, Nell Gottlieb, Laura Solomon, Greg Dana, Karl Bauman, and Michael Munger. 1997. "State Legislators' Attitudes and Voting Intentions Toward Tobacco Control Legislation." American Journal of Public Health 87 (7): 1197-200.

⁶⁷ Joanna Dearlove and Stanton Glantz. 2000. Tobacco Industry Political Influence and Tobacco Policy Making in New York. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.

⁶⁸ Stanton Glantz and Edith Balbach. 2000. Tobacco War: Inside the California Battles. Berkeley: University of California Press.

development of myriad front groups allowed the tobacco industry and its political allies to act without being publicly associated with the tobacco industry. Tactics of the front groups often included orchestrated grassroots advocacy campaigns through the mail or phone calls to pressure policy makers. ⁶⁹ ⁷⁰ Other tactics have been testimony before legislative bodies without any real formal contact with legislators or their staff.

In contrast to the tactics employed by tobacco lobbyists, organized health advocates in state legislatures have primarily used insider advocacy tactics to advance their agenda of better public health.⁷¹ ⁷² ⁷³ ⁷⁴ ⁷⁵ ⁷⁶ Insider advocacy is based on proponents lobbying for their policy goals and ideas in the "halls of power" in state capitals. By contrast, outsider tactics occur beyond official institutions of power to pressure legislators in conjunction with insider lobbying.

⁶⁹ Ibid.

Joanna Dearlove and Stanton Glantz. 2000. Tobacco Industry Political Influence and Tobacco Policy Making in New York. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.

⁷¹ Aguinaga-Bialous, Stella, and Stanton Glantz. 1997. Tobacco Control in Arizona 1973-1997. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.

⁷² Begay, Michael, and Stanton Glantz. 1995. Question 1: Tobacco Education Outlays from the 1994 Fiscal Year to the 1996 Fiscal Year. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.

⁷³ Stella Bialou and Stanton Glantz. 1999. *Arizona's Tobacco Control Initiative Illustrates the Need for Continuing Oversight by Tobacco Control Advocates*, Tobacco Control 8: 141-51.

⁷⁴ Joanna Dearlove and Stanton Glantz. 2000. *Tobacco Industry Political Influence and Tobacco Policy Making in New York*. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.

⁷⁵ Givel, Michael, and Stanton Glantz. 1999. *Tobacco Industry Political Power and Influence in Florida from 1979 to 1999*. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.

⁷⁶ Jennifer Ibrahim and Stanton A. Glantz. 2003. *Tobacco Policy Making in California 2001-2003: No Longer Finishing First.* San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.

Outsider tactics have included: low-cost newspaper issue advertisements, free media interviews. letters to the editor and opinion editorials, community forums, rallies, and public demonstrations. 77 78 79 80

State Tobacco Policy Outputs from 1990 to 1999

Since the beginning of the 1990s, there has been a sharp rise in antitobacco activism, adverse public opinion, litigation, and new legislation to counter the tobacco industry and reduce use. Be a Despite this sharp rise in activism, CDC data suggest that from 1990 to 1999 key policy outputs primarily favored the tobacco industry. This includes 1999 when payments to the states began from the historically significant Master Settlement Agreement (MSA), which was signed in 1998 between 46 Attorneys General and the tobacco industry. Furthermore, the state tobacco excise taxes had little effect on consumption in the 20 states with tobacco excise taxes 25 cents or lower per pack

 $^{^{77}}$ Martha Derthick. Up in Smoke: From Legislation to Litigation in Tobacco Politics, 2^{nd} ed. Washington, DC: CQ Press

⁷⁸ Givel, Michael, and Stanton Glantz. 2001a. *Tobacco Lobby Political Influence on U.S. State Legislatures in the 1990s*. Tobacco Control 10: 124-34.

⁷⁹ Chris Morley, Michael Cummings, Andrew Hyland, Gary Giovino, and Judith Horan. 2002. *Tobacco Institute Lobbying at the State and Local Levels of Government in the 1990s*. Tobacco Control 11 (Supplement 1): i102-i109.

⁸⁰ Donley Studlar. 2002. Tobacco Control: Comparative Politics in the United States and Canada. Peterborough, Ontario, Canada. Broadview Press, Ltd.

⁸¹ Ibid

⁸² Martha Derthick. Up in Smoke: From Legislation to Litigation in Tobacco Politics, 2nd ed. Washington, DC: CQ Press.

as well as in the 12 states with excise taxes between 26 cents and 49 cents per pack.⁸³

To further the anti-smoking message, a few states enacted effective, statewide, clean indoor air legislation increasing the number of clean air ordinances from 7 to 19 over the course of the 1990's. Government reports and recent research by Pion and Givel indicate that because of severe illness and death of nonsmokers, exposure to tobacco smoke should be avoided, this can only occur in smoke-free areas. Ref. By 1999, 20 states, up from just one in 1990, had enacted new tobacco youth-access ordinances that preempted local ordinances. Public health advocates had very modest legislative success with 30 states requiring the licensing of tobacco sellers' vending machines and over-the-counter sales. Tobacco licensing allows for the tracking of tobacco sales violations and subsequent revocation of licenses to sell tobacco.

⁸³ Coalition on Smoking or Health. 1990. State Legislated Action on Tobacco Issues. Washington, DC: Coalition on Smoking on Health.

⁸⁴ California Environmental Protection Agency. Air Resources Board. 2006. Proposed Identification of Environmental Tobacco Smoke as a Toxic Air Contaminant. Sacramento, CA: Air Resource Board of California.

⁸⁵ Martin Pion and Michael Givel. 2004. *Airport Smoking Rooms Don't Work*. Tobacco Control 13 (Supplement 1): i37-i40.

⁸⁶ United States Environmental Protection Agency. 1992. Respiratory Health Effects of Passive Smoking: Lung Cancer and Other Disorders. Washington, DC: Office of Health and Environmental Assessment.

⁸⁷ Coalition on Smoking or Health. 1990. State Legislated Action on Tobacco Issues. Washington, DC: Coalition on Smoking on Health.

⁸⁸ Ibid.

⁸⁹ Ibid.

The Tobacco Master Settlement Agreement

In 1998, 46 Attorney Generals and the tobacco industry negotiated the MSA, which awarded states \$206 billion, adjusted for inflation over 25 years, with the first payment beginning in 1999. This agreement represented a significant and historic development in state tobacco control policymaking. The MSA had no restrictions on how the funds were to be spent, including how to spend the funds on tobacco control efforts. Nor has the MSA had a significant and detrimental impact on tobacco sales and profits. Para In addition to funding from the MSA, 14 states increased their tobacco excise taxes to greater than 50 cents per pack. By 2003, only four states had fully, and eight states partially, funded state tobacco prevention programs from MSA funds while other state revenue sources met the CDC's minimum level of state funding for vigorous tobacco control prevention efforts. Page 1999.

In the post-MSA period, from 1999 to 2003, several state-related issues were implemented. State regulation of tobacco use through effective public smoking restrictions at government work sites, private work sites, and restaurants

⁹⁰ Campaign For Tobacco Free Kids. 2004. Special Reports: State Tobacco Settlement [Online]. Campaign For Tobacco Free Kids, 2003. http://www.tobaccofreekids.org/reports/settlements/. Accessed October 8, 007.

⁹¹ Ibid.

⁹² Frank Sloan, C. A. Mathews, and Justin Trogdon. 2005. *Impacts of the Master Settlement Agreement on the Tobacco Industry*, Tobacco Control 13: 356-61.

⁹³ Ibid.

⁹⁴ Campaign For Tobacco Free Kids. 2004. Special Reports: State Tobacco Settlement [Online]. Campaign For Tobacco Free Kids, 2003. http://www.tobaccofreekids.org/reports/settlements/. Accessed October 8, 907.

increased slightly. State preemption of stronger local clean indoor air ordinances increased from 19 to 21. 95 State preemption of stronger local youth-access ordinances also increased from 20 to 24. 96 Finally, the number of states that licensed tobacco sales increased from 30 to 49. 97

In summary, from 1990 to 2003, one modest tobacco control policy trend was an increase in state licensing of tobacco sales. Another pro tobacco control policy occurred with 14 additional states enacting tobacco excise taxes at 50 cents or greater per pack. However, overall spending in 2003 from the MSA and other state revenue sources for comprehensive state anti-tobacco programs favored the tobacco industry. State tobacco control efforts in the state preemption of local clean indoor air ordinances, youth access enforcement ordinances, and state public smoking restrictions continued to strongly favor the tobacco industry. In the aggregate, these policy outputs represent a failure to punctuate or replace the tobacco policy monopoly equilibrium in the states despite a sharp mobilization for increased tobacco regulation, higher tobacco taxes, and litigation against the industry. ⁹⁸

⁹⁵ American Lung Association. 2004. American Lung Association: State of Tobacco Control: 2003 [Online]. American Lung Association, 2003. http://lungaction.org/reports/overview03.html. Accessed May 27, 2004.

⁹⁶ Ibid.

⁹⁷ Ibid.

⁹⁸ Martha Derthick. 2005. Up in Smoke: From Legislation to Litigation in Tobacco Politics, 2nd ed. Washington, DC: CQ Press.

From 1990 to 2003, the primarily negative feedback, occurring through the "rules of the game," shaped state tobacco legislation and meant that the dominant policy monopoly favoring the tobacco industry did not significantly and sharply change in the 50 states. ⁹⁹ 100

Instead, despite the symbolic appearance of punctuation in the policy system, the tobacco industry was able to use its political resources to counter the health advocates' mobilization, the adverse public opinion regarding tobacco use, litigation, and even a rise in new state tobacco control legislation. In fact, the feedback loop in this case was primarily negative. This confirms Baumgartner and Jones and Worshams' assertion that not all mobilizations or sharp shocks to the system by the less powerful will be successful. This does not mean that another or different shock to the system will not result in punctuated change. ¹⁰¹

Policy Friction

According to Lindblom and Dahl, polyarchy includes freedom of association and expression; the right to vote and fair elections; competition among politicians and political parties; alternative sources of information; and peaceful transitions of political power. 102 103 104 105 106 From the neopluralist view,

⁹⁹ Frank Baumgartner and Bryan Jones. 1991. *Agenda Dynamics and Policy Subsystems*. The Journal of Politics 53 (4): 1044-74.

¹⁰⁰ Jeff Worsham. 1998. *Wavering Equilibriums: Subsystem Dynamics and Agenda Control*. American Politics Quarterly 26 (4): 485-512.

¹⁰¹ Frank Baumgartner and Bryan Jones. 1991. *Agenda Dynamics and Policy Subsystems*. The Journal of Politics 53 (4): 1044-74.

¹⁰² Robert Dahl 1978. *Pluralism Revisited*. Comparative Politics 10 (2): 191-203.

corporations often use their financial resources for political purposes in a variety of government venues. For instance, state legislatures advance policy goals like reducing or eliminating taxes and regulatory oversight over businesses, such as the tobacco industry, to disenfranchise less powerful groups like health advocates.

This maintenance of policy dominance has resulted in a sharp rise in the ongoing and acrimonious conflict between the tobacco industry and public health groups. Because the public health groups' mobilization was not successful, there has been no agreement on new policy ideas or direction with respect to tobacco control in the states. At the center of these differences are largely irreconcilable views of what should be proper state tobacco policies. On one side is the tobacco industry who views more strenuous regulation of tobacco use and higher tobacco taxes as a threat to its sales and profits. On the other side are health advocates who view tobacco use as a serious public health problem. Without a change in mobilization tactics by health advocates or some new form of an exogenous shock such as the election of more pro-tobacco control politicians, the tobacco industry's use of its vast financial resources and state lobbying network will likely prevail into the near future in terms of advancing its policy goals.

¹⁰³ Robert Dahl 1983. "Comment on Manley." American Journal of Political Science 77 (2): 386-88.

¹⁰⁴ Charles Lindblom 1982a. Another State of Mind. American Political Science Review 76 (1): 9-21.

¹⁰⁵ Charles Lindblom 1982b. *The Market as Prison*. Journal of Politics 44 (2): 324-36.

¹⁰⁶ John Manley 1983. *Neo-Pluralism: A Class Analysis of Pluralism I and Pluralism II*. American Political Science Review 77 (2): 368-83.

The modest success in creating stronger tobacco prevention policies came as a result of the mobilization of health advocates, creation of adverse public opinion, and litigation. While the mobilization against the tobacco industry and tobacco use appeared to be a sharp and punctuated policy change regarding tobacco control, this movement also represented an opportunity for new principle actors to emerge. It further represents an opportunity for former leaders and groups to fall from center stage and receive less attention. African Americans and their leaders continue to fight for a seat at the table where policy decisions are being made in an attempt to direct resources to their community and ensure healthy outcomes.

Tobacco Use in Arkansas and Georgia

The Arkansas Tobacco Prevention and Education Program and the Georgia Tobacco Prevention Program are modeled after the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention *Best Practices for Comprehensive Tobacco Control Programs*, which identified guidelines for implementing a comprehensive program. Implementing these guidelines has proven successful in reducing tobacco consumption through comprehensive and cost-effective methods of education and prevention. Arkansas and Georgia have expended significant resources on continuing efforts to protect youth and adults from the harmful effects of tobacco use. The reason for this emphasis is clear: during the 1990s, Arkansas and Georgia, like the rest of the country, experienced an epidemic of

¹⁰⁷ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Best Practices for Comprehensive Tobacco Control Programs, Atlanta: Government Printing Office, 1999.

tobacco use among youth, increasing among high school students from 28 percent in 1991 to 36.5 percent in 1997 nationally.¹⁰⁸

Three states participated in the Youth Tobacco Survey in 1998: Florida, Mississippi, and Texas; and 13 states in 1999: Arkansas, Florida, Georgia, Kansas, Mississippi, Missouri, Nebraska, New Jersey, North Carolina, Oklahoma, South Dakota, Tennessee, and Texas. The data from middle and high school students was organized around seven categories: the prevalence of use; knowledge and attitudes; minors' access to tobacco; media and advertising; smoking cessation; exposure to environmental tobacco smoke; and school curriculum. This data was used to assist states in designing, implementing, and evaluating their comprehensive tobacco control program.

The following table shows the youth prevalence trends in Arkansas and Georgia, which clearly reflects a gradual, but similar decline in tobacco use by youth from 28 percent to 25 percent in Arkansas and 24 percent to 21 percent in Georgia during the period of 1992 to 2002.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Cigarette use among high school students-United States, 1991-2003, *MMWR*, 53 (2004): 499-502. Available at http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm5444a2.htm.

Table 1

Youth Tobacco Prevalence
Arkansas and Georgia

1992 – 2002

State	1992	1995	1998	2001
Arkansas	28	26	25.5	24.9
Georgia	24.8	24	20.1	20.9

Table 2 illustrates Arkansas' adult prevalence rate was consistently higher than the rate of Georgia for the period of 1993 to 2002. Arkansas experienced an increase in adult tobacco prevalence beginning in 1999, while the Georgia prevalence rate remained flat. A lack of significant declines in adult prevalence rates in Arkansas and Georgia illustrates the need for resources to implement a comprehensive tobacco prevention and control program.

Table 2

Adult Tobacco Prevalence
Arkansas and Georgia
1993 – 2002

State	1993	1995	1997	1999	2001	2002
Arkansas	26	25.3	28.2	27.4	25.2	25.5
Georgia	24.8	20.4	23.4	24.1	24	23.8

There has been a gradual decline in Arkansas and Georgia's per capita cigarette consumption since 1990. This decline in consumption has essentially mirrored the national decline. There is evidence of increases in the acceleration of the decline observed in Arkansas' adult per capita consumption with the introduction of various tobacco excise tax increases. 109 Arkansas observed a nearly 14% decline from 2001 to 2002 in consumption of cigarettes. 110 Despite this recent drop in adult per capita consumption, Arkansas tobacco prevalence rates remain much higher than states that have a history of tax increases and aggressive tobacco control programs such as California and Massachusetts and whose respective per capita cigarette consumption trends are much lower than the rest of the country. 111 The costs of smoking-related morbidity and mortality in Arkansas are currently approximated at \$633 million each year, or slightly more than \$1,300 per smoker in 2003. 112 Adult per capita tobacco consumption has dropped from 138.7 packs per person in 2001 to 119.8 packs per person in 2002, a decline of approximately 14%. 113 Georgians paid \$2.07 billion in annual health care costs directly caused by smoking. 114

Arkansas Policy Process

¹⁰⁹ The Gallop Organization, Arkansas Department of Health's Tobacco Prevention and Education Program, A Progress Report Card (Little Rock, 2004): 12.

.

¹¹⁰ Ibid., 23.

¹¹¹ Ibid., 26.

¹¹² Ibid., 60.

¹¹³ Ibid., 84.

At the time of the MSA in 1998, Arkansas was among the least healthy states in the United States. Among the 50 states and the District of Columbia, Arkansas had the 4th highest rate of age-adjusted lung cancer deaths, the 4th highest rate of cardiovascular deaths, and the 2nd highest rate of stroke deaths. Together these factors contributed to an overall age-adjusted death rate for the state of 19% higher than the national average. Significantly contributing to these high mortality rates was the fact that, in 1998, Arkansas had the 11th highest rate of adults smoking (25.9%) and the 7th highest rate of high school students using tobacco (39.6%).

Various proposals for MSA expenditures occurred as it became evident tobacco settlement dollars would begin flowing to the state. Original proposals for expenditure of the MSA included tax relief, securitization of state-issued bonds, highway development, and prison funding. Initially, health and health care-related proposals included tobacco control and prevention programs through the Arkansas Department of Health (ADH) and funding for indigent care services by the University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences (UAMS). 118

Campaign for Tobacco-Free Kids. Special reports: State tobacco settlement. Retrieved April 1, 2006, from http://tobaccofreekids.org/reports/settlements/

¹¹⁵ Joseph Thompson, Kevin Ryan, Shirley Tyson and Chiquita Munir, Arkansas Tobacco Settlement Proceeds Act of 2000: Results From Education and Engagement with Policy Makers and the Public, *Health Promotion Practice*, 5 (2004): 56.

¹¹⁶ Ibid., 58.

¹¹⁷ Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 2000. Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance 1999. 49 (SS-5), 23.

¹¹⁸ Joseph Thompson, Kevin Ryan, Shirley Tyson and Chiquita Munir, Arkansas Tobacco Settlement Proceeds Act of 2000: Results From Education and Engagement with Policy Makers and the Public, *Health Promotion Practice*, 5 (2004): 59.

With knowledge of the serious health issues faced by its citizens and seeking to maximize the potential impact of the singular opportunity the MSA presented, the Arkansas Center for Health Improvement (ACHI) developed the "Position Paper on Spending the Tobacco Settlement Funds in Arkansas" to serve as a framework to inform the state's decision-makers. ¹¹⁹ More important, this paper proposed four key principles on which all spending proposals should be judged. Briefly stated, these principles were the following:

- All funds should be used to improve and optimize the health of Arkansans.
- Funds should be spent on long-term investments to improve the health of Arkansans.
- Future tobacco-related illness and health care costs in the state should be minimized through this opportunity.
- Funds should be invested in effective and efficient solutions.

These core principles were publicly presented to the executive and legislative leadership in the state and were accepted as guides for proposals under consideration. The educational value and public awareness generated by the "Position Paper" proved to be an instrumental step in securing funds for health programs. Although not proposing specific expenditures, this strategy effectively focused the policy discussions on health by documenting the state burden of tobacco-related illness. It also highlighted the negative impact tobacco

_

¹¹⁹ Ibid., 58.

consumption has on health and showcased the potential positive impact of appropriately designed and implemented tobacco control programs.

Subsequent to dissemination of the "Position Paper," many Arkansans agreed MSA funds should be spent on health programs. However, ongoing discussions ensued in the halls of the Capital and communities across the state debating the balance of programs between immediate clinical care and financing needs for an unhealthy population or investments in long term public health and prevention efforts.

Over the subsequent months, an integrated plan including both short and long-term programs to improve health and prevent disease was developed through a series of meetings of a broadly representative group of health advocates. This multidisciplinary group became know as the Coalition for a Healthier Arkansas Today (CHART). These meetings utilized empirical information of the disease burden and health needs of the state and reviewed recommended programmatic funding levels to come to consensus on their proposed plan. After presenting this plan to Arkansas legislators, a trust fund to ensure against tobacco company insolvency was added to address state fiscal responsibility concerns. On presentation of this plan to Arkansas legislators and analysis of their reactions, a trust fund to ensure against tobacco company insolvency was added to address state fiscal responsibility concerns.

-

¹²⁰ Joseph Thompson, Kevin Ryan, Shirley Tyson and Chiquita Munir, Arkansas Tobacco Settlement Proceeds Act of 2000: Results From Education and Engagement with Policy Makers and the Public, *Health Promotion Practice*, 5 (2004): 60.

¹²¹ Ibid., 58.

The CHART plan received significant media coverage and was proposed in a Special Session of the Arkansas General Assembly in 2000 called by Governor Mike Huckabee to address the MSA expenditures. 122 Although passed by the Arkansas Senate, the proposal was blocked from full consideration in the House by a key committee containing members receiving maximum allowable campaign contributions from tobacco companies. ¹²³ In response to this stalemate in the Legislature, Governor Huckabee, with the support of the Arkansas Senate President pro tem, called for the CHART proposal to be voted on by the citizens of Arkansas. Express and ongoing support by the Governor, active support by CHART members to coordinate collection of required numbers of petition signatures, and a grassroots media campaign resulted in successful placement of the plan on the ballot in November 2000 as an Initiated Act. Last minute attempts in the courts challenging the legality of the plan as a ballot item were unsuccessful. 124 Considered by the statewide electorate, the CHART plan passed into law as the Tobacco Settlement Proceeds Act of 2000 by a 64% majority. 125

_

¹²² Robert Garrett, Chart program tests waters, Fort Smith Times Record, www.swtimes.com/archive/2003/July/13/insight/.

¹²³ Joseph Thompson, Arkansas Tobacco Settlement Proceeds Act of 2000: Results from Education and Engagement with Policy Makers and the Public, Health Promotion Practice, vol. 5 July 2004. 58.

¹²⁴ Walker v Priest, 342 Ark. 110, 29 SW 3d 657 2000.http://courts.state.ar.us/opinions/200b/20001018sc/00-1037.html.

¹²⁵ Arkansas Secretary of State. State of Arkansas certification report 2000-general. Retrieved September 25, 2006, from www.arelections.org/2000/

Georgia Policy Process

When former Democratic Governor Roy Barnes committed to using Georgia's tobacco settlement funds for cancer research, economic development and tobacco prevention, the Legislature largely followed his lead. Legislation passed in 2000 established the One-Georgia Fund to receive a third of the state's tobacco settlement funds. These funds have been subdivided into two funds: the EDGE (Economic Development, Growth and Expansion) Fund helps Georgia communities compete with communities in other states to attract businesses; and the Equity Fund that has been used for a variety of projects, including expanding water and sewer systems to support industrial parks, improving tourism and recreation in the state, shrimp and fish aquaculture, and assistance to technical colleges. Tobacco prevention and cessation programs were appropriated \$15.8 million. 126

The FY2002 budget increased funding for tobacco prevention by \$5 million to \$20.8 million. However, \$3.9 million in supplemental funding for the program was obtained, raising the total appropriation for tobacco prevention to \$24.7 million. The program was implemented based on a plan recommended by the Georgia Department of Human Resources and Coalition for a Healthy & Responsible Georgia (CHARGe) in 2000.

_

¹²⁶ Campaign for Tobacco-Free Kids. Special reports: State tobacco settlement. Retrieved April 1, 2006, from http://tobaccofreekids.org/reports/settlements/

¹²⁷ Ibid., 2.

The FY2003 budget approved by the Legislature and signed by Governor Barnes appropriated \$15.17 million to the state's tobacco prevention program. This represented a cut from the initial FY2002 appropriation of \$20.77 million and a break from Governor Barnes commitment to increase funding for tobacco prevention by \$5 million per year until Georgia reached the CDC's minimum recommended spending level. However, tobacco control advocates were able to secure \$3.9 million in a 2002 supplemental budget to carry over into FY2003, making \$19.07 million available for tobacco prevention in FY2003. During the 2003 legislative session, the Legislature passed and Governor Perdue signed a 25-cent increase in the state's cigarette excise tax, bringing the total tax to 37 cents a pack.

Georgia was also part of a separately negotiated settlement with the tobacco industry that would have provided a total of \$5.15 billion to the National Tobacco Growers Settlement Trust Agreement. This settlement, called Phase 2, would have provided up to \$1.95 billion over 12 years for direct payments to tobacco farmers in addition to the other assistance they received from the Tobacco Trust Fund and the Gold Leaf Foundation. However, the tobacco quota buyout

¹²⁸ Campaign for Tobacco-free Kids, (2003). Show us the money: An update of the states' allocation of the tobacco settlement dollars. Retrieved September 18, 2006, from www.tobaccofreekids.com/reports/settlements.33.

¹²⁹ Ibid., 35.

Campaign for Tobacco-free Kids, (2003). Show us the money: An update of the states' allocation of the tobacco settlement dollars. Retrieved September 18, 2006, from www.tobaccofreekids.com/reports/settlements.32.

passed by Congress in 2004 ended the companies' legal obligations to continue the payments.¹³¹

The Fiscal Year 2006 budget approved by the Legislature and signed by Republican Governor Sonny Perdue appropriated \$3.1 million to the state's tobacco prevention program, a decrease of \$8.4 million from the \$11.5 million appropriated in FY2005. Tobacco settlement revenues in FY2006 were also used to expand Medicare for pregnant women and infants, the PeachCare for Kids program, the mental retardation waiver programs, and the AIDS drug assistance program. Table 2006 were also assistance program.

Statement of the Problem

The Master Settlement Agreement resulted in significant funding being dedicated for tobacco control in Arkansas and Georgia. These states used very similar efforts during the allocation process, yet had vastly different outcomes regarding allocating Master Settlement Agreement funds to communities of color. Predictably, African American communities have continued to receive a disproportionately low level of funding, while tobacco companies have continued to target them.

¹³¹ Ibid., 36

¹³² U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health. (2001). *State tobacco control highlights 2000*, 40.

Research Question

What role have interest groups played in allocating tobacco settlement funds to African Americans in Arkansas and Georgia?

Significance of the Study

It may surprise people who are new to the tobacco control movement, but policy advocacy was not always an accepted strategy to combat tobacco use. For at least a couple of decades after the 1964 Surgeon General's report, loud voices – individuals and institutional – argued those wanting to combat tobacco use should concentrate on educating the public about the health effects of tobacco use and improving cessation classes for those smokers who were convinced to quit. Policy advocacy seemed too radical to some, untested or ineffective to others, and simply inappropriate to many.

The 1980s and 1990s saw a marked increase in tobacco control policy efforts. However, these efforts included limited successes in implementing clean indoor air laws, curtailing youth access to tobacco products, increasing tobacco excise taxes, and limiting regulation of tobacco products and marketing.

The signing of the Master Settlement Agreement (MSA) and subsequent flow of dollars to state-level tobacco control efforts brought tobacco control into new areas, some of which tobacco control advocates were not prepared to address. The funds made available to the states from the MSA were an estimated \$246 billion over 25 years. This was unprecedented not only for tobacco control but for

¹³³ Ibid., 40.

any similar public health effort. The amount seemed so large that, following the signing of the MSA, many tobacco control advocates felt the need to remind the public the fight was not over and tobacco companies were still in business, creating public health problems.

A critically important part of the agreement was that state legislatures were required to allocate the MSA funds before any spending could occur. Although the Recitals section of the MSA contained language advocating for the spending of MSA funds on tobacco control and public health initiatives, the MSA placed no restrictions on how state legislatures could allocate these funds. In other words, even though the MSA was signed as a result of states' concerns about health consequences caused by tobacco use, the settlement did not require money to be spent on tobacco control efforts. The money was not mandated to be spent on public health efforts at all; states could, if they chose, spend the money on highway construction or general debt reduction. The general public did not initially understand this complex and critical aspect of the MSA.

The general public, then, as now, understood tobacco use led to cancer.

They believed the tobacco Master Settlement Agreement would be used to pay for health care related to tobacco use and prevent future use of a product in which its manufacturers were finally admitting was deadly. The public saw the settlement as a source of funds to fix the ailing health care system and saw the announcement of the settlement as the first of many to come announcing a revitalized American health system.

The lack of significant progress by tobacco advocates against the powerful force of the tobacco industry, and thus their failure, appears to serve as a warning bell for the entire health care community. Just as tobacco advocates were experiencing set back after set back against the tobacco industry, so was the health care industry failing to meet previous expectations of a revitalized health care system.

The general public has since become accustomed to hearing that the health care crisis in low income and urban communities is worsening. On Sept. 8, 2004, the infamous and largest for-profit hospital cartel in the nation, Health Corporation of America, announced it will close the San Jose Medical Center (SJMC), with its Emergency Room and Trauma Center, in December—three years earlier than expected. That will leave downtown San Jose, which has a diverse population, without a hospital, ER, or trauma center. The sudden, unplanned closure of San Jose Medical Center will create severe impacts. Extreme pressure will be placed on the 11 remaining emergency departments (ED) in the County to handle the more than 30,000 visits seen at SJMC according to a Los Angeles Times article published November 11, 2004. Regional Medical Center, located just over 2 miles from SJMC, will handle many of those ED visits. Santa Clara Valley Medical Center (SCVMC) and O'Connor, located 4.9 and 5.7 miles away from SJMC respectively, will also see a dramatic increase in volume. Moreover, closure of SJMC's trauma center will impact not only Santa Clara County residents but other counties which rely on Santa Clara County's trauma system for their residents and visitors. For example, in calendar year 2003, the

County's three trauma centers (Stanford, SJMC and SCVMC) treated 5.819 trauma victims, of which 1,585 originated in neighboring counties.

The epicenter of the crisis is Los Angeles County, California. It's the nation's largest, covering 4,084 square miles, larger than the combined areas of Delaware and Rhode Island. It has the largest population (10,103,000 as of 2004) of any county in the nation, and it is exceeded by only eight states. L.A. County has lost 27 acute care hospitals in a decade, from 126 in 1994 to 99 in 2004. Besides the seven closed in 2004, seven other hospitals in the County have either scaled back or eliminated mental health care units. Of its 23 Trauma Centers, 13 have closed or were downgraded to emergency rooms. Now, it will lose the Watts Trauma Center—and possibly more hospitals, since the County health system is on the verge of collapse according to a Los Angeles Times newspaper article dated November 11, 2004.

Atlanta, Georgia residents join other urban communities who fear news of closing medical centers and emergency departments. A New York Times article titled, "A Safety-Net Hospital Falls into Financial Crisis" was published on January 8, 2008 and stated that the closing of Grady Memorial Medical Center would create a huge void in the availability of health care services for the most vulnerable, mostly black urban core of Atlanta. This would also serve as another blow to the elimination of health disparities.

The closing hospital crisis is just the latest in a series of crisis for communities of color and the poor in this country. The examples above illustrate how decisions based on financial reports can have a negative impact on the

vulnerable and underserved. It is well established in the Surgeon General's report Tobacco Use among U.S. Racial/Ethnic Minority Groups that communities of color (African American, American Indians and Alaskan Natives, Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders, and Latinos/Hispanics) suffer from tobaccorelated problems at disproportionately higher rates. ¹³⁴ In most of these populations, there are higher rates of smoking, of death from tobacco-related causes, and of targeted marketing by the tobacco industry. As a result, there has been an increasing need for decision-makers to allocate resources that eliminate the high burden caused by tobacco use. Thus this research project proposes to analyze Arkansas and Georgia's efforts to allocate Master Settlement Agreement funds for blacks in the respective states. Additionally, this research project is important because it adds to the knowledge-base and tobacco-related literature that will assist blacks in acquiring the necessary resources for eliminating the disparities that exist in tobacco-related disease and death. By using a case study method, the researcher intends to gather information from those directly involved in each state's allocation process that answers the research questions.

Tobacco Use among U.S. Racial/Ethnic Minority Groups: A Report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 1998; 212-222.

CHAPTER 2

CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

Pluralism

Pluralism is the theory that a multitude of groups, not the people as a whole, govern the United States. These organizations, such as unions, trade and professional associations, environmentalists, civil rights activists, business and financial lobbies, and formal/informal coalitions of like-minded citizens, influence the making and administration of laws and policies. Since the participants in this process constitute only a tiny fraction of the populace, the public acts mainly as bystanders.

Indeed, some pluralists believe direct democracy is not only unworkable, it is not necessarily desirable. Besides the logistical problems of having every citizen meet at one time to decide policies, political issues require continuous and expert attention, which the average citizen does not have. Robert Dahl, a noted pluralist, suggested in one of his early writings that in societies like ours, "politics is a sideshow in the great circus of life." Most people, he explained, concentrate their time and energies on activities

¹Robert Dahl, *Who Governs?: Democracy and Power in the American City*, Yale University Press, 1961. 3.

²Ibid., 36.

involving work, family, health, friendship, recreation, and the like. Other pluralists go further; they worry that the common person lacks the virtues of reason, intelligence, and patience for self-government, and that direct democracy leads to anarchy and the loss of freedom.³

However, tobacco prevention efforts in the United States have relied heavily on local communities engaging in direct democracy activities. Local coalitions and interest groups comprised of organizations and individuals have designed and implemented advocacy campaigns at the local, state, and national level.

Pluralists do not think representative democracy works as well in practice as in theory. Voting is important. However, Americans vote for representatives, not for specific policy alternatives. A candidate's election cannot always be interpreted as an endorsement of a particular course of action.

Politicians frequently win office with only a "plurality" of the votes, that is, they receive more votes than their opponents but not with a majority of the total eligible electorate. President Reagan, for example, received approximately 51 percent of the ballots cast in 1980, but this percentage constituted only about a quarter of the votes of all potential voters, since only 55 percent of those eligible to participate actually went to the polls. Furthermore, a first choice among candidates is not necessarily the same as a

³Ibid., 37.

first choice among policies. The people who elected President Clinton, for example, did not all agree with his positions on health care, taxes, national defense, Bosnia, and the environment. Many of them, in fact, were probably voting against his opponent, George H.W. Bush, rather than for Clinton himself.

Contrastingly, tobacco prevention coalitions have used the legislative resources from its members, such as paid lobbyist of the American Cancer Society, to track the elections of opponents in an attempt to elect legislators, councilmen, and other decision-makers that are sympathetic to tobacco prevention efforts. They routinely track how members vote on tobacco or health related issues and use opinion polls and influential supporters to convince opponents to change their votes.

If Americans do not decide major controversies directly or indirectly through elections, how are such matters resolved? Pluralists are convinced public policy emerges from competition among groups. Since relatively few people participate actively in this process then it might seem that power is concentrated in few hands. However, before drawing conclusions about the possible undemocratic nature of this form of government, it is necessary to look at political power as pluralists see it.

The Pluralist View of Power

Everyone recognizes political power when they see it: Congress raises taxes; the President sends troops to Bosnia; the Supreme Court declares the death penalty

constitutional; a police officer tells a motorist to pull off the road. In each instance a group or person makes others do something they would not otherwise do. Seen from this perspective, the definition of power seems simple enough. Yet the term is loaded with implications that must be fully grasped if one is to understand pluralism.

Resources

In the first place, power is not an identifiable property humans possess in fixed amounts. Rather, people are powerful because they control various resources. Resources are assets that can be used to force others to do what one wants. Politicians become powerful because they command resources people want - fear or respect. The list of possibilities is virtually endless: legal authority, money, prestige, skill, knowledge, charisma, legitimacy, free time, experience, celebrity, and public support. Civil rights activists in the 1960s relied mainly on their numbers and legitimacy of their cause to get their way whereas corporations frequently depend on their access to officeholders, control of information, and campaign contributions. Whatever the case, pluralists emphasize power is not a physical entity individuals either have or do not have, but flows from a variety of different sources.

In the realm of tobacco policy formation, this power manifests itself when advocates come together to pass ordinances or to advocate for the passage of legislation

to reduce tobacco use. Advocates often come together as coalitions as a means of combining their individual skills and resources.

Potential versus Actual Power

Pluralists also stress the differences between potential and actual power. Actual power means the ability to compel someone to do something; potential power refers to the possibility of turning resources into actual power. Cash, one of many resources, is only a stack of bills until it is put to work. A millionaire may or may not be politically influential; it all depends on whether or not the wealth is spent for trips to the Bahamas or trips to Washington. A particular resource like money cannot automatically be equated with power because the resource can be used skillfully or clumsily, fully or partially, or not at all. Martin Luther King Jr., for example, was certainly not a rich person. But by using resources such as his forceful personality, organizational and oracle skills, and especially the legitimacy of his cause, he had a greater impact on American politics than most wealthy people.

Three of the major tenets of the pluralist school are (1) resources, and hence potential power, are widely scattered throughout society; (2) at least some resources are

_

⁴Ibid., 49.

available to nearly everyone; and (3) at any time the amount of potential power exceeds the amount of actual power.⁵

Scope of Power

Finally, and perhaps most importantly, no one is all-powerful. An individual or group that is influential in one realm may be weak in another. Large military contractors certainly throw their weight around on defense matters, but how much sway do they have on agricultural or health policies? A measure of power, therefore, is its scope, or the range of areas where it is successfully applied. Pluralists believe, with few exceptions, that power holders in America usually have a relatively limited scope of influence.

For all these reasons power cannot be taken for granted. Pluralists believe the best way to observe power empirically is to examine a wide range of specific decisions, noting who took which side and who ultimately won and lost. Only by keeping score on a variety of controversies can one begin to identify actual power holders.

Indeed, it is because of pluralism's belief that direct democracy is not workable, that the researcher argues why pluralism is not the lens for which to view this project.

Tobacco advocates have used direct democracy at the local, state, and national levels to their advantage and thus have proven that when citizens are organized and coordinated,

⁵Ibid., 23.

they possess considerable power. Therefore, interest group theory which focuses on the collective power of groups and individuals offers the best vantage point for which to review the efforts to direct the tobacco settlement dollars in Arkansas and Georgia.

Interest Group Theory

Interest groups have two motives: electoral and influential. They correspondingly serve politicians via two channels: contributions and information. Interest groups may add value to a democracy by representing subsets of voters, disseminating information to the general public, and providing opportunities for political training. They also help reduce uncertainty in the political process, both for the groups themselves and politicians. However, interest group politics may lead to efficiency losses due to resources being spent to influence political and distributional outcomes or through entry barriers created by special interests. 9

⁶ Gene Grossman Elhanan Helpman, Electoral Competition and Special Interest Politics. In Interest Groups and Trade Policy, Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press. 44.

⁷ Clive Thomas and Ronald Hrebenar, Interest Groups in the States, In Politics in the American States: A Comparative Analysis, 7th ed, Washington DC: CQ Press, 1999. 120.

⁸ Gary Becker, A Theory of Competition among Pressure Groups for Political Influence. Quarterly Journal of Economics 98 (1998). 380

⁹ Mancur Olson, Jr. The Logic of Collective Action. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press 1965. 33

The financial interests of tobacco manufacturers create a major role for interest groups on both sides of the issue. Advocates of creating policy through litigation have argued that the preferred policy genesis legislation has been stalled by tobacco interest. According to this view, the tobacco lobby has held considerable sway over congressional representatives (judging by political contributions and voting records). Further, litigation is the only way to unlock the regulatory capture plaguing public-health advocates. However, some have argued regulatory agencies are far from being captive to industry interests. In fact, in recent years, the tobacco lobby appears to be in retreat and interests may primarily be able to influence budget allocations in states in which there is substantial support from the voters. ¹⁰

Although the political influence of smokers is unclear a priori, state policy has reflected the self-interest of smokers and tobacco industry. Some studies have concluded self-interest has little influence on social and political attitudes, whereas others have argued for policies with clear and prominent effects exercising self-interest is important. Philip Green and Ann Elizabeth Gerken found smokers in California opposed restrictions on public smoking as well as taxes on tobacco. Richard Dixon et al.

¹⁰ Peter Jacobson and Kenneth Warner, Litigation and Public Health Policy Making: The Case of Tobacco Control Laws: Policy Implications for Activists and the Industry, *Journal of the Helath Politics*, *Policy, and Law* 24 (1999) 774.

¹¹ Ibid.

¹² Richard Dixon, Roger Lowery, et al, Self-Interest and Public Opinion toward Smoking Policies: A Replication and Extension. *Public Opinion Quarterly* 55 (1991). 241.

confirmed these findings for California, Illinois, and North Carolina finding self-interest to be significant on both sides of the issue, including people who profit from smoking or are bothered by it. More recently, states with high smoking prevalence or tobacco production allocated few settlement dollars to tobacco control. Tobacco interests are expected to influence not only tobacco-control policy, but also other uses of settlement funds, including subsidies for tobacco farmers and communities negatively affected by the settlements. Other programs thus would be relatively less well funded.

Clive Thomas and Ronald Hrebenar ranked the late 1990s' most active interest groups at the state level. Several stakeholders on both sides of the tobacco issue appeared on their list. Teacher organizations were ranked second. Ranked fifth were hospital and health care organizations, excluding physicians, followed by insurance. Physicians and state medical societies were the tenth most active group. Senior citizens were only thirty-fourth. Tobacco interests ranked thirty-seventh, and miscellaneous social issue groups, including the antismoking movement, were fortieth. States with active health-oriented interest groups such as the American Medical Association (AMA) would be expected to spend more on tobacco and health. States with interest groups active in other areas (e.g. seniors) might be expected to spend less of the settlement funds on tobacco and health, diverting funding to their preferred programs. Either positive or negative effects could plausibly be associated with teacher associations. Curbing youth smoking might be a

¹³ Gary Gross, Benny Soffer, et al, State expenditures for Mark Peterson, From Trust to Political Power: Interest Groups, Public Choice, and Health Care, *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law*26 October (2001) 1150.

high priority for educators, but such groups might be expected to lobby for more funds spent on education versus tobacco control or health.

Impact of last year's Budget

As Aaron Wildavsky stated, "The largest determining factor of the size and content of this year's budget is last year's budget." One reason for static budget allocations is the existence of mandatory programs, a factor that does not apply in the context of tobacco settlement funds allocations. But even when there is some flexibility in budgeting, it is costly to revisit past compromises, and revisiting every budgetary item on an annual basis would be extremely burdensome.

To the extent budget allocations are subject to change, there is a question whether funds from an external source, such as settlements, increase total public budgets in an area or new funds simply substitute for existing funding. Some states had implemented comprehensive tobacco-control programs before the MSA was approved. States that funded tobacco control before receiving the annual payments might be expected to favor funding programs from the tobacco settlements to strengthen existing programs they consider effective. In the context of health spending, commitments to fund Medicaid may have become increasingly difficult to honor, given exogenous factors contributing to the growth in expenditures. Cutting back on the program involves important political

¹⁴ Aaron Wildavsky, *The Politics of the Budgetary Process*, (1964) 34.

¹⁵ Cary P. Gross, Benny Soffer, Peter Bach, Rahul Rajkumar and Howard Forman, State Expenditures for Tobacco Control Programs and the Tobacco Settlement, *New England Journal of Medicine* 347 (2002) 1090.

costs as well. Having a new source of funding may solve a policy dilemma, at least in the short term.

The Fiscal Environment

Fiscal environments can affect both election outcomes and budget decisions. The policies voters, politicians, and interest groups deemed desirable during the campaign season can be altered or abandoned if resource availability changes. Although alternative uses for the tobacco funds vary from building prisons and sports stadiums to improving education and health insurance coverage, the cyclical downturn of the early 2000s led to a budget crisis in almost every state (National Governors Association [NGA] and National Association of State Budget Officers [NASBO]), with many state legislatures viewing tobacco money as a resource for mitigating budget shortfalls. States in fiscal crisis might be expected to spend more on ameliorating the budget shortfall by supporting existing programs and spending correspondingly less on new programs. As relative newcomers, tobacco-control programs may receive less funding from a new cash grant such as the MSA than they would under more favorable circumstances.

Does professional power of medicine translate into political power for organized medicine? Paul Starr's analysis would seem to make this a question hardly worth asking. Economist Paul Feldstein, in his book, *Health Associations*, states categorically, "In the past, health legislation at both a state and a federal level has been strongly influenced by

¹⁶ Lou Fintor, Critics Feel States May Misspend Their Tobacco Windfall, *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 91 (1999) 1360.

health interest groups. In many respects, the structure of our health care system is a result of the legislative activity of these groups...The American Medical Association is the most influential of the health professional organizations."¹⁷

These declarations, however, are offered devoid of any citations to explicit evidence of this power. As a general proposition, the demonstrated influence of organized interests is far more circumspect. Consider this summary judgment from Frank Baumgartner and Beth Leech who recently combed the political science literature on interest group efforts to affect the outcomes of policy making:

Early interest-group studies shared the outlook of early subsystem studies. Interest groups were enormously powerful, and insider groups had the advantage...Several important studies published in the 1960s helped challenge this view. Interest-group influence was...benign...The popular conclusion drawn from these studies was that interest groups did not exert pressure, indeed were not influential. If it was that simple, we could simply say that interest groups were once seen as all-powerful, but more recent studies have shown this to be wrong...However, interest groups at times probably are weak and ineffectual, and at other times very effective at getting what they want.

...Unfortunately, the accumulated mass of quantitative and qualitative studies of lobbying behavior has generated a great number of contradictions, with few consistent findings...The studies reviewed... for all their contradictions, have in fact taught us something important: they allow us to stipulate at least occasional interest-group influence and to concentrate instead on the circumstances under which groups are influential.¹⁸

_

¹⁷ Paul Feldstein, Health Associations and the Demand for Legislation: The Political Economy of Health, (1977) 322.

¹⁸ Frank Baumgartner and Beth Leech, *Basic Interests: The Importance of Groups in Politics and Political Science*, (1998) 120-122.

Briefly stated, having the capacity to shape public policy requires possessing the kinds of attributes that matter to and could influence elected officials, their advisers, and agency officials. A quick survey of the literature reveals a number of group characteristics that would be advantageous in the "political market"¹⁹

These characteristics are:

- Information: Government officials who have policy-making authority and are accountable to election constituencies need information to overcome two types of uncertainty. The first involves the linkages between proposed policy actions and actual policy outcomes as experienced by the public. The second pertains to how one's own constituency is likely to see and interpret what government does and respond to it politically. Organizations representing knowledge-based, high-status individuals or institutions earn automatic recognition and have particular credibility in helping to resolve both kinds of uncertainty.
- Recurrent Interactions with Policy Makers: The credibility of the information provided by organized interests to policy makers is tested through repeated interactions and the establishment of stable relationships. In the competition among groups, active participation in issues that appear regularly on the

¹⁹ Mark Peterson, From Trust to Political Power: Interest Groups, Public Choice, and Health Care, *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law26* October (2001) 1150.

government's agenda gives an organization the opportunity to solidify impressions of its value as an information source.

- Large and Dispersed Membership: Because elected officials are sensitive to the attitudes of the districts of states they represent, organizations have greater access and potential influence when they include a policy maker's constituents. Large and widely distributed memberships or clientele expand the number of elected officials with who the interest group will have a direct relationship. The effects are strengthened if an organization can stimulate grassroots mobilization.

 However, an interest group with a large and dispersed base can also fall victim to collective action and thus need other attributes, such as an occupational connection and selective benefits, to overcome this hurdle.
- Quasi-Unanimity: Large organizations are also more prone to having disparate interests among their memberships, possibly yielding fictionalization which threatens their ability to take expressed positions on issues of public policy.
 Effectively organized interest groups have to possess enough cohesion and focus on shared core interests to project something representing a unified front on high-priority policy concerns.
- Organizational Resources: Economic and status resources make it possible for an
 association to attract one of its most important organizational resources: a large,
 skilled, experienced, and professional staff. A staff of this caliber has a better
 sense of how to frame issues, gather appropriate information, conduct research,

- mobilize the membership, orchestrate media campaigns, and facilitate communications with policy makers.
- Electoral Resources: Policy makers need both political intelligence about their constituencies and campaign funds to launch effective drives for election and reelection. At the national level, campaign contributions by organized interests have been primarily formalized through the establishment of associated political action committees (PACs). In addition to having a large, dispersed, unified membership, PAC money also provides insight concerning an organization's political wherewithal, issue priorities, and constituency influence.
- Policy Niche and Coalition Leadership: No group could hope to become a forceful and respected voice on all matters of public policy. Credibility, unity, and impact are enhanced when an organized interest is able to claim a comparative advantage in information and resources over other interests in a particular policy niche or domain, especially if the group's association is recognized and supported by other compatible interests as a coalition leader.

CHAPTER 3

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

The review of literature for this research project is divided into three sections which reflect the complexity of tobacco control in the African American community.

The three sections are Tobacco Research and African Americans, The Civic Engagement Process, and Federalism. The review of the literature is designed to examine the sparse tobacco-related literature that specifically targets African Americans, the many facets of community advocacy, and the presence of federalism in tobacco prevention.

Part I. Tobacco Research and African Americans

Much of the research on the onset and maintenance of tobacco use among African Americans has focused primarily on an array of risk factors affecting individuals' behavior. These studies emphasized the behavioral, psychological, and societal attributes influencing an individual's tobacco use or, taken together, increasing an individual's openness to smoking. Investigators have also focused on environmental factors such as peer smoking or availability of cigarettes. These studies have proven to be useful for developing prevention strategies. Investigators have given less attention, until recently,

¹ *Tobacco Use among U.S. Racial/Ethnic Minority Groups: A report of the Surgeon General.* Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 1998; pp. 225.

to the equally important area of environmental conditions. Included under this rubric are the following issues: tobacco policies enacted at the local level; tobacco taxation; minors' access to tobacco products; results due to counter-advertising; tobacco industry influence on community organizations; and local communities' capacity to counter tobacco use.² However, only minors' access to tobacco products, industry targeting, the industry's influence on community organizations and local communities' capacity to counter tobacco use have been researched with a specific focus on African American communities.³

The factors associated with adult tobacco use among racial/ethnic groups have been less studied than adolescent tobacco use and the corresponding risk factor analysis is lacking. For African Americans, investigators have examined the role of social support, stress and symptoms of depression in relation to cigarette smoking. In general, studies show African Americans who are exposed to high stress levels, experience depression or poverty, and/or have low levels of occupational prestige are also the most likely to smoke. This population also has had less overall success with cessation.

Despite the seemingly obvious connection between these variables and African Americans, there are no studies that have examined the lack of commitment of the Master

² Ibid

³ Ibid.

⁴ Ibid., 233

Settlement Agreement dollars to provide the community capacity and infrastructure needed to provide these services.

Having social support from family and friends has shown to be an important resource for individuals attempting to quit smoking.⁵ Research has indicated African Americans tend to rely on community support, such as church-based programs, and on self-help efforts within their social networks to address a range of health concerns, including problems related to smoking.⁶ Unlike the availability of literature on the topic of African American and tobacco cessation, there is nothing in the literature that examines the role these supportive social networks play in African American communities asking for and receiving funds from the MSA.

Part II. The Civic Engagement Process

The Civic Engagement Process is multi-faceted and constantly evolving.

Segregation and stratification across metropolitan localities are not the only obstacles to a vibrant local civic culture. Civic activity is shaped by a variety of place-related factors besides demographic differences and jurisdictional boundaries. Sprawl itself may dampen civic engagement, as well as other aspects of community design that emphasize

⁵ MC Fiore, Bailey WC, Cohen, SJ, et al. Treating Tobacco Use and Dependence. Clinical Practice Guideline. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Public Health Service. June 2000.

⁶ Peterson LL, Ahluwalia JS, Harris KJ. Smoking cessation among African Americans: what we know and do not know about interventions and self-quitting. *Preventive Medicine*. 2000 Jul; 31 1:23-28.

the private over the public.⁷ The greater reliance on automobiles, the decline of walking, absence of front porches, and other aspects of sprawling suburban design create what some urban planners call environments of soullessness and "placelessness." Williamson found, for example, that citizens in pedestrian-friendly cities with high mass transit use have an increased propensity to "participate in civic life in more demanding ways than simply voting."

One of the least-studied trends, with potentially profound implications for civic engagement is the growth of population in unincorporated areas. These are usually located on the fringes of metropolitan areas and sometimes dubbed "exurbia". These unincorporated areas may have limited or weak institutions of local government. We do not know much about the civic consequences of living in unincorporated areas, in part because it is difficult to generalize across the diverse set of institutions servicing these areas.

Avenues of Civic Engagement in Metropolitan Areas

With this background in mind, consider the central avenues through which residents of metropolitan areas engage with government and each other to influence

Andres Duany, Elizabeth Plater-Zyberk, and Jeff Speck, Suburban Nation: The Rise of Sprawl and the Decline of the American Dream (New York: North Point Press, 2000), 210.

⁸ Peter Calthorpe, *The Next American Metropolis: Ecology, Community and the American Dream* (New York: Princeton Architectural Press, 1993), 12.

⁹ Thad Williamson, "Does Sprawl Hinder Citizenship? The Impact of Local Socio-Spatial Characteristics on Nonelectoral Political Participation" Paper presented at the 2004 annual meeting of the Urban Affairs Association, Washington, D.C.

policies, solve public problems, and enhance their community. The menu of opportunities for local civic engagement begins with government institutions: electoral politics, including voting, campaigning, and office holding. It also includes various forms of participation in deliberation and policy development between elections. These opportunities for civic engagement stretch from service on traditional city councils and school boards to an expanding array of other public committees, commissions, and councils receptive to citizen input. Many large cities are finding innovative ways of bringing government closer to the people by creating neighborhood councils, citizen advisory boards, and other means for citizens to participate in the provision of local services. This growing movement seeks to identify additional opportunities for citizens to deliberate together about local issues.

But citizen involvement is not restricted to formal institutions of government. A rich array of non-governmental institutions, committees, organizations, and other efforts exist for the purpose of influencing political choices, mobilizing citizens to act in local politics, and empowering politically disadvantaged segments of the population. Of course, here as elsewhere, observers worry that some forms of political activity and association may detract from the larger public good. Homeowners associations, for example, may cause encouraged members to disengage from the larger political community, or so some worry.

Engagement with Electoral Politics

The most common and arguably least demanding form of citizen participation at the local level is voting. Local politics offers a prodigious array of opportunities for casting ballots. In 1992, there were 494,000 locally elected officials, including not only mayors and city councilors, but also elected officials who serve on numerous school boards, county offices, and commissions. A remarkable 96.2 percent of the nation's elected officials serve at the local level.¹⁰

Turnout in local elections is notoriously low; however, in general, the lower the level of election, the lower the turnout. Although 62% of eligible voters claimed in 1990 to have voted in all or most presidential elections since they were old enough, only 54% claimed to have voted in all local elections. Even these rates are likely to be overreported because turnout figures acquired through municipal records in 1962 and 1975 put the average turnout in municipal elections in cities with populations over 25,000 at 31%. This is compared to an average national election turnout rate from roughly the same period of 59%. Most municipalities reformed elections in the late 1800s or early 1900s to hold local elections in off years and in the spring, rather than at the same time as

¹⁰ 1992 Census of Governments. Volume 1. Government Organization, No. 2. Popularly Elected Officials.

¹¹ Kay Lehman Schlozman, Nancy Burns, Sidney Verba, and Jesse Donahue, "Gender and Citizen Participation: Is there a Different Voice?" Am Journal of Political Science no.2 (1995): 270.

¹² Robert L. Morlan, "Municipal vs National Election Voter Turnout: Europe and the United States," Political Science Quarterly 3(1984): 461.

higher-level, November elections.¹³ The result is a wide array of elected officials from mayors and council members to law enforcement and judicial officials who are simultaneously easily accessible and yet selected by a very small fraction of the constituents they represent.

Beyond the act of voting, elections provide city residents with the opportunity to participate in various ways in the process of campaigning and electioneering. An important part of these efforts is the attempt to mobilize citizens into the political process. Scholars have convincingly demonstrated that mobilization enhances political and civic engagement. Getting someone to participate in public life is a bit like dating; it's a lot more likely to happen if someone asks, and asks in person. In a study of 30,000 registered voters in New Haven, Connecticut, for example, Donald Green and Alan Gerber found face-to-face contact substantially increases the probability individuals will turn out to vote, while direct mail had only a slight effect on turnout and telephone solicitation had no effect at all. Is In a later study of local elections in six cities, Gerber,

¹³ John P. Pelissero, "The Political Environment of Cities in the Twenty-first Century," In John P. Pelissero (ed) Cities, Politics, and Policy: A Comparative Analysis, (Washington: CQ Press, 2003), 18.

¹⁴ Alan S. Gerber and Donald P. Green. "The Effects of Canvassing, Telephone Calls and Direct Mail on Voter Turnout: A Field Experiment" Am Political Science Review, Vol. 94. No. 3 (Sept. 2000): 653.

¹⁵ Donald P. Green, Alan S. Gerber, and David W. Nickerson. Getting Out the Vote in Local Elections: Results from Six Door-to-Door Canvassing Experiments" Journal of Politics. Vol. 65 No. 4 (Nov 2003): 1083.

Green, and David Nickelson found face-to-face mobilization contact increased turnout by between 0.2 and 1.5 percentage points. ¹⁶

The goal of elections and campaigns is winning elective office, which typically represents the most intense form of civic engagement available at the local level. An elected official has made the decision to run for office, solicited support of others, succeeded and subsequently participates in the exercise of public authority. Each of the nearly half-million local offices represents recurrent collective political efforts. The scope of the activities varies widely. The sheer number of elected offices and civic activity generated would seem inevitably to be a major spur to civic activity in America. Despite increasing numbers of local governments since 1950, however, the number of candidates running for local offices dropped by 15 percent between 1974 and 1994. 17

Local elective offices are especially important to minority groups, because it is at the local level that African Americans and Latinos have had their greatest electoral success. By the most reliable estimate, the number of African American elected officials has increased nearly five-fold since 1970 with 9,101 holding office in 2001. Close to half

¹⁶ Ibid.

¹⁷ Robert Putnam, "Bowling Alone: America's Declining Social Capital" Journal of Democracy 1 (Jan 1995): 65.

of those served at the municipal level, and another 21.3% were elected to school boards. ¹⁸ Of all Latinos holding public office, 70% served in local office in 2002. ¹⁹

There are at least two major reasons for the increased minority office holding in cities and working class suburbs. One was the implementation of the Voting Rights Act in 1965 and its expansion to include language minorities in 1975. Thanks due to the Voting Rights Act enforcement, many cities and towns had "diluted" the votes of African Americans and Latinos through gerrymandering and use of at-large elections were forced to transform their electoral systems. Because of actions taken directly under the auspices of the Voting Rights Act, cities such as Dallas, Houston, San Antonio, Los Angeles, New York, Chicago, and many others have experienced considerable increases in the numbers of African American and Latino elected local officials.

Another important factor in the rise of minority office-holding was the out-migration of whites, who chose to leave many central cities and working class suburbs, especially in the post-WWII era. As whites left, those who remained or moved in were often African American and Latino. Simple demographics allowed minority candidates to win offices in increasing numbers.

¹⁸ David A. Bositis, "Black Elected Officials: A Statistical Summary, 2001," Washington, DC: Joint Center for Political and Economic Studies, 2003

¹⁹ Ibid.

²⁰ Chandler Davidson and Bernard Grofman, *Quiet Revolution in the South: The Impact of the Voting Rights Act*, 1965-1970 (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1994), 67.

But these victories come with sobering challenges. When white residential outmigration coincided with substantial retail and industrial out-migration, newly empowered racial and ethnic politicians often faced almost insurmountable difficulties in finding sufficient financial resources to meet the needs of the constituencies who placed them in office.^{21 22} Public office can be a "hollow prize."²³

Even in the face of these challenges, the substantial numbers of African Americans and Latinos who win local elective offices serves as a clear sign of a minority leadership core that is willing to undertake demanding forms of civic engagement. Local elective office serves as a significant training ground for leaders who then go on to win higher elective office. Local civic engagement in the metropolis may help promote more inclusive forms of civic activity in the polity as a whole. Local government plays an especially important role as a political training ground and spring board for growing segments of our urban populations.²⁴

The Impact of Institutional Design: Progressive Era Reforms

.

²¹ Paul Friesma, "Black Control of Central Cities: The Hollow Prize," *Journal of the American Institute of Planners*, 35 (1969): 75079.

²² Adolph Reed, "The Black Urban Regime: Structural Origins and Constraints," *Comparative Urban and Community Research* (1988): 138.

²³ Douglas Yates, *The Ungovernable City: The Politics of Urban Problems and Policy Making*, (Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1977), 33.

²⁴ Data are taken from Table 471. Local Elected Officials by Sex, Race, Hispanic Origin, and Type of Government, U.S. Census Bureau, Statistical Abstract of the United States: 2000, Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office. 2003 287.

While local electoral politics furnishes a cornucopia of opportunities for civic engagement, these activities are structured and facilitated or constrained by local political institutions. The political reform movements swept across many cities in the 1890s and early decades of the 20th century changed many aspects of local institutions, including the method of filling many local government jobs (patronage to civil service), election districts (ward, district elections to at-large elections), election ballots (partisan to non partisan), and type of executive (elected mayor to non-elected city manager). In many places these reforms remain; however, new localities often choose to adopt reform institutions.

Reformers attacked graft and corruption, and sought to replace political machines and partisan politics with greater professionalism and businesslike efficiency. Many scholars argue another motive was to curb the political power of recent immigrants.²⁵ Whatever the mix of intentions, the changes were not without consequences for civic engagement. They weakened the old political machines by curbing patronage and promoting council manager systems that chose chief administrators on the basis of merit rather than 'sullied' partisan elections. While the machines themselves had often become entrenched power centers, they had done a great deal to spur participation for a time and also to incorporate immigrants in the political process. Steven Eric, scholar of cities

²⁵ Russell D. Murphy, "Politics, Political Science, and Urban Governance: A Literature and a Legacy," *Annual Review of Political Science* 5 (2002), 63.

argues they were "a veritable school of politics for working-class and minority voters, compared with big-city reform.²⁶

Evidence for the contemporary impact of reform institutions on civic engagement is complex. Several studies suggest some reform institutions, nonpartisan elections, and council/manager forms of government continue to decrease election turnout.²⁷ The dampening effects of these reform institutions seem to be particularly acute among African Americans and Latinos in the South, Southwest and West, and people of lower socio-economic status. These effects raise special concerns from the standpoint of democratic equality.²⁸ In addition, evidence from the 1970s showed that cities with a system of choosing a mayor other than through a popular election were less likely to have an African American mayor, holding other factors constant. In contrast, cities with nonpartisan elections in the 1970s were more likely to have an African American mayor and council members.²⁹ This is an important finding because the presence of a black mayor is related to higher rates of African American local participation.³⁰ However,

²⁶ Steven Eric, *Rainbow's End: Irish-Americans and the Dilemmas of Urban Machine Politics*, 1840-1985. (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1988), 22.

²⁷ Luis Ricardo Fraga, "Domination Through Democratic Means: Nonpartisan Slating Groups in City Electoral Politics," *Urban Affairs Quarterly*, 4 (June 1988): 528.

²⁸ Ibid., 530.

²⁹ Ibid., 533.

³⁰ Lawrence Bobo and Franklin D. Gilliam, Jr. 1990, "Race, Sociopolitical Participation, and Black Empowerment," *Am Political Science Review* 84 (2002): 377.

other scholars are less certain about the relationship between reform institutions and minority participation.³¹

When it comes to their effect on civic engagement, choices of institutional structure appear to involve difficult trade-offs. By shifting from neighborhood-based to city-wide based representation and placing the powers of chief financial officer in the hands of a non-elected manager, reform institutions widen the distance between governing processes and ordinary citizens. By removing the cue of party labels and lessening neighborhood-based representation, leaders reduced the information available to citizens about how to get involved in politics. At the same time, council-manager forms of government and governments in which some of the seats are elected at-large, are associated with higher levels of trust in government. Limiting local partisan politics may promote greater citizen trust in local government.

Choices about institutional form may also be important for immigrant incorporation. While evidence shows that individual resources such as education, income, and home ownership are commonly identified as predictors of political engagement and play a role in shaping immigrant political activity. The political and institutional context of immigrants and their communities are also critical to understanding their political behavior. In a recent study of immigrants and blacks in Los

³¹ Luis Ricardo Fraga, "Domination Through Democratic Means: Nonpartisan Slating Groups in City Electoral Politics," *Urban Affairs Quarterly*, 4 (June 1988): 551.

³² Margaret Levi and Laura Stoker, 2000, "Political Trust and Trustworthiness," *Annual Review of Political Science* 3 (2002):486-488.

Angeles and New York, Jones-Correa found responsiveness to immigrants' concerns was a function of institutional frameworks within the two cities.³³

Institutional form matters but more research is needed before we can say definitely identify which forms foster more participation or equal participation among residents of metropolitan areas. It may be that greater perceived professionalism or efficiency in government encourages some citizens to participate with greater intensity.

Special Districts and Authorities

The reformist impulse also contributed to the formation of new governments insulated from partisan politics. Services previously supplied by municipal governments, such as water, sewer, and fire protection, are now frequently supplied by "special districts" and authorities. The tremendous growth of special districts since World War II represents, among other things, an effort to "take the politics out of municipal government." In the United States, the number of special districts increased from 8,299 in 1942 to 35,356 in 2002. These districts often overlap each other and overlap municipal boundaries.

³³ Michael Jones-Correa, *Immigrants, Blacks and Cities: Black and Multiracial Politics in America*, Yvette M. Alex-Asensoh and Lawrence Hanks, eds. (New York: New York University Press, 2000)

³⁴ U.S. Bureau of the Census, Statistical Abstract of the United States 2000 (Washington, DC: Government Printing Office, 2000), 2999.

³⁵ U.S. Bureau of the Census, Statistical Abstract of the United States: 2002: Washington, DC: Government Printing Office, 2002), 261.

The formation of special districts and authorities is often a strategy to overcome the tax and debt limitations of municipal governments, provide services on a more regional basis, or professionalize service delivery. In addition, and especially in recent decades, corporations and real estate developers have been most successful at forming special districts, often via referenda they succeed in placing on the ballot.³⁶

The formation of these districts is a profoundly political act with significant implications for civic engagement. Beyond the fact that they can be a source of confusion for ordinary voters trying to understand and influence local decision-making, special districts enable the private values of selected groups to dominate via obscure political structures nearly invisible to ordinary voters. Burns shows developers use special districts to acquire access to powers of eminent domain and fund the infrastructure needed for private development through the issuance of tax exempt revenue bonds, all with very little if any democratic oversight.³⁷ Kathryn Foster shows special districts tend to drive up the cost of government and "bias" spending toward development and routine services over social services. Lest we assume the specter of greater public indebtedness increases salience for voters, turnout in special district elections, when they occur, is very low, usually less than 5 percent, compared to about 30 percent in municipal elections. Special districts are not required to follow the one person, one vote

³⁶ Kathryn Foster, *The Political Economy of Special-Purpose Government* (Washington, DC: Georgetown University Press, 1997), chap. 2 passim.

³⁷ Ibid.

requirement placed on municipal governments and can have property qualifications for voting. As Burns argues, "these local institutions ... are created for reasons that often impair their ability to be democratic training grounds. ... [They] discourage participation because ... the information costs associated with learning even the names of the districts that govern a location are prohibitive." Special districts do not take the politics out of municipal government; they only make it less visible and less accessible to the average citizen.

Engagement with Institutions of Government between Elections

The design of institutions of local government can either enhance or depress civic engagement. Similarly, political choices shape the opportunities for engagement with local government after Election Day.

Citizens may address their locally elected officials by writing a letter, making a phone call, or attending a public meeting. Millions of Americans do get involved in precisely these traditional ways. One 1987 survey found that almost 25 percent of Americans reported having contacted a local official about an issue in the previous year, and in 1989, 14 percent reported attending a meeting of a local board of commission.³⁹ In the 2000 National Election Survey, 27 percent responded they had attended a meeting

³⁸ Nancy Burns, *The Formation of American Local Governments: Private Values in Public Institutions* (New York: Oxford University Press, 1994), 25.

³⁹ Verba, et al. 1990 Citizen Participation Study data, estimates calculated on weighted data. 51.

to address a community issue in the last twelve months. Beyond attending meetings, citizens may serve on local councils, commissions, and advisory boards. In 1990, 3 percent of U.S. adults reported volunteering for an official local board or council in the previous two years. But some scholars call attention to a profound decline in citizens use of these traditional avenues for political voices. Between 1973 and 1994, the percentage of people reporting they attended a public meeting on town or school affairs declined from approximately 22 percent to 12 percent. Service on local boards and councils also seem to be declining.

In addition to these most formal options for participation, American government provides an increasing variety of additional avenues for people to make their voices heard. Among the legacies of the idea of "participatory democracy" came to the fore in the 1960s and 1970s are "requirements for citizen participation... at every level of government. Although they are seriously attenuated at the federal, state, and local levels some good-faith efforts still provide citizens an opportunity to influence policymaking."

Contemporary Neighborhood Councils

⁴⁰ Ibid., 45.

⁴¹ Ibid., 54.

⁴² Robert Putnam, "Bowling Alone: America's Declining Social Capital" Journal of Democracy I (Jan 1995): 65.

⁴³ Ibid., 66.

⁴⁴ Jeffrey Berry, Kent Portney, and Ken Thompson, *The Rebirth of Urban Democracy*: (Washington, D.C.: The Brookings Institute 1993), 45.

Many participatory structures are based at the neighborhood level, especially in large cities. After all, the neighborhood is where citizens may have the most to say about what government should do and how it should be done. Government-mandated neighborhood-based structures for citizens input into the policy process can stimulate engagement under the right conditions.

Since the upsurge of community organizing in the 1960s and 1970s, city governments have gradually tried to incorporate neighborhoods into the institutions of city government. Boston Mayor Kevin White established "Little City Halls"; New York City created 59 community planning boards; and St. Paul, Minnesota empowered seventeen district councils. In a 1993 survey of the 161 cities with populations over 100,000, Carmine Scavo found 60% have active systems of neighborhood councils within their systems. 45,46

Cities continue to innovate in the area of neighborhood governance. For example, the Minnesota State Legislature and the City of Minneapolis initiated its Neighborhood Revitalization Project (NRP) in 1990. Through the NRP, neighborhood associations have implemented a host of housing rehabilitation, construction, economic development, education, and public services improvement projects.⁴⁷ In 1999, Los Angeles revised its

⁴⁵ Carmine Scavo, "Use of Participative Mechanisms by Large U.S. Cities," *Journal of Urban Affairs* 1 (1993): 109.

⁴⁶ Ibid.

⁴⁷ Judith Martin and Paula Pentel, "What the Neighborhood Want: The Neighborhood Revitalization Program's First Decade," *Am Planning Association Journal*. 4 (2002):435.

city charter to create what will become a system of more than 100 neighborhood councils. This is a much needed layer of intermediate civic associations between residents and city government. Though the expansion has proceeded in fits and starts, more than half of the neighborhoods in the city have created representative associations.⁴⁸

Neighborhood councils address such issues as housing, the physical quality of the neighborhood, and public services. They vary widely in their powers, effectiveness, and methods for selecting representatives. These bodies have received scant attention from researchers and there is little evidence to report and few generalizations to be offered about the effects of different forms of neighborhood government on the quantity, quality, and equity of civic engagement in metro areas. Neighborhood councils, associations, and similar bodies would seem to increase the quantity of civic engagement. They would multiply the avenues through which citizens can engage with each other and local government. They offer a first step on the ladder of civic leadership, as neighborhood councils are more accessible than many city-wide institutions, such as the city council, school board, or zoning board offices.

It is not easy to say whether neighborhood governance increases levels of civic engagement. Issues might be brought directly to city councilors or agency officials in the

⁴⁸ Juliet Musso, Alicia Kitsuse, Evan Lincove. Michael Sithole, and Terry Cooper. "Planning Neighborhood Councils in Los Angeles: Self-Determination on a Shoestring" Neighborhood Participation Project, School of Planning, Policy, and Development, University of Southern California (Report, April 30, 2002).

⁴⁹ Susan S. Fainstein and Clifford Hirst, Neighborhood Organizations and Community Planning: The Minneapolis Neighborhood Revitalization Program" Dennis Keating, *Revitalizing Urban Neighborhoods* (Lawrence: University of Kansas Press. 1996), chap. 4.

absence of neighborhood council structures. Furthermore, neighborhood councils are subject to the same kinds of background inequalities that shape participation in other political venues. In particular, homeowners, the wealthier, as well as the more educated residents, participate at a greater rate than renter and low-income residents in typical systems of neighborhood government.⁵⁰ In addition, government may co-opt neighborhoods and seek to control their organizing and advocacy efforts.⁵¹

Only one study has examined whether the presence of neighborhood government structures increases civic engagement generally. Berry, Portney, and Thompson compared five cities with strong systems of neighborhood government to a group of cities without such institutions and found no significant differences in aggregate civic participation. In terms of equity of engagement, this study also found expected socioeconomic biases in participation with greater activity exhibited by wealthier, more educated citizens. Additionally, participation did not seem to diminish in cities with neighborhood governance structures. Berry, Portney, and Thomson are, however, more sanguine about the impact of neighborhood governance structures on the quality of civic engagement. They argue neighborhood councils help make government more responsive to resident concerns. It also made those who participate more knowledgeable about

⁵⁰ Ibid.

⁵¹ Saul Alinsky, "The War on Poverty – Political Pornography," *Journal of Social Issues* 21 (January 1965): 42.

⁵² Jeffrey Berry, Kent Portney, and Ken Thompson, *The Rebirth of Urban Democracy*, (Washington, D.C.: The Brookings Institute 1993), 81.

public affairs and more tolerant of differences. This gives them an increased sense of political efficacy. Furthermore, residents of cities with robust neighborhood governance institutions are more likely to engage in a variety of more demanding forms of participatory democratic engagement.

Deliberative Opportunities

From the general assemblies of New England town meetings, when settlements were much smaller than today's local communities, Americans have always experimented with forms of engagement and participation at the local level. ^{53 54} As one way of overcoming parochialism, a growing movement promotes citizen interest and engagement with public issues through face-to-face discussion. These efforts are consistent with a very large and growing body of work within political theory about the need for opportunities to come together and talk with one another about pressing public issues. ⁵⁵ Deliberative theorists assert such opportunities improve the quality of civic engagement and public policy.

Today, some municipalities are experimenting with more deliberative forms of citizen engagement and decision-making about local issues.⁵⁶ Minneapolis, Rochester,

⁵³ Frank Bryan, *Real Democracy*, (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2003), 12.

⁵⁴ Joseph F. Zimmerman, *The New England Town Meeting: Democracy in Action*, (Westport, CT: Praeger 1999), 20.

⁵⁵ Ibid.

⁵⁶ Archon Fung, *Empowered Participation: Reinventing Urban Democracy* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2004), 15.

and Portland have innovative participatory opportunities with respect to neighborhood planning. Vermont and Kentucky encourage parents to serve on boards governing individual schools. Often, deliberative opportunities are initiated by a mayor's office, city council, human-relations department, or public safety department. Chicago's Local School Councils or Alternative Police Strategy and in many initiatives conducted by the Study Circles program are examples of mayor-initiated efforts. Alternatively, they may be sponsored by non-governmental institutions and civic groups, such as the National Issues Forums or AmericaSpeaks.⁵⁷ Regardless of the sponsor, deliberative events can be an innovative addition to the formal institutions of local government, and public officials, seeking better ways to grapple with increasing heterogeneity and increasing demands, have been willing to participate in them.⁵⁸ For example, the 2002 "Listening to the City" event, which drew some 5,000 participants to the Jacob Javitz Center in Manhattan to deliberate about the plans to rebuild the area of lower Manhattan, was a remarkable opening of an urban design and planning process to public criticism.⁵⁹

Efforts to enhance civic engagement and other examples point to the need for special efforts to ensure participatory opportunities are equitably distributed. Achieving equity in deliberation may require special mobilization efforts. Even when a

⁵⁷ Katherine Cramer Walsh, *Talking about Politics: Informal Groups and Social Identity in American Life,* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press 2004), 191.

⁵⁸ Ibid., 194.

⁵⁹ Ibid., 194.

representative cross-section of the community can be mobilized to participate, there is no guarantee the proposals generated by deliberation will become public policy.

Community involvement in the design of the World Trade Center site had a significant impact on evolving plans. In other instances, it is less clear how deliberative efforts ultimately fare in the wider, adversarial decision-making process where elected officials, bureaucrats, or others make the final decision. A much more systematic study is needed to fully understand the conditions under which public deliberation of the sort described here succeeds both as a participatory opportunity so as to improve outcomes. 60

Co-production of Public Services

In some municipalities, citizen participation does not end with deliberation about policy development, but extends to policy implementation. Citizens become not just consumers of public services, but active participants in the production of those services as well. Public safety is perhaps the most obvious policy area in which the activity and involvement of citizens themselves are crucial to the desired public goods. In his city survey, Scavo finds that the use of co-production strategies is widespread – 92% report block watches, 39% use adopt-a-park programs, and 27% report adopt-a-street

⁶⁰ John Hibbing and Elizabeth Theiss-Morse, *Stealth Democracy: Americans' Beliefs About How Government Should Work*, (Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press, 2003), 11.

programs.⁶¹ From providing "eyes on the street," to forming block watches, citizen patrols, and anti-crime marches and crusades, residents frequently engage in activities, sometimes with police, other times by themselves, to promote their physical security.⁶² These forms of civic engagement are often essential to promoting safer neighborhoods. In addition, fully forty percent of the U.S. population is protected by volunteer fire departments (most communities under 50,000).⁶³

With respect to schooling, Parent Teacher Associations (PTA's) used to be a widespread and important part of our collective commitment to education. But PTA's have experienced a huge decline in membership "from a high in the early 1960s of almost 50 members per 100 families with children under eighteen to fewer than twenty members per 100 families with children under eighteen in the early 1980s. Some of this membership has likely been absorbed by Parent-Teacher Organizations (PTOs), which do not enjoy federal organization like PTA. Even if parents continue to be involved in their school districts, the fact they are no longer doing so (to nearly the previous extent at least) through organizations that are linked across school district boundaries is troubling

⁶¹ Carmine Scavo, "Use of Participative Mechanisms by Large U.S. Cities," *Journal of Urban Affairs* 1 (1993): 102.

⁶² Ibid.

⁶³ Ibid.

⁶⁴ Susan Crawford and Peggy Levitt, "Social Change and Civic Engagement: The Case of the PTA, in Theda Skocpol and Morris P. Fiorina, eds. Civic Engagement in *American Democracy*, (Washington: Brookings Institute, 1999), 249.

⁶⁵ Ibid.

given the increasing homogeneity of school districts and problems of metro-wide fragmentation. ⁶⁶

Efforts to involve citizens in local service provisions may be sponsored by the federal government. Programs such as AmeriCorps or Teach for America engage citizens in helping to solve the problems of inner cities and other disadvantaged places. A recent development involves federal funding for faith-based service provision.

With few notable exceptions, citizen participation in the production of public services has escaped the attention of political scientists who tend to focus on engagement in law and policy-making rather than on implementation. However, many of the most salient encounters between citizens and government occur at the level of public administration and service delivery. Individual engagement offers reasonable prospects of being effective at the local level. Citizens are crucial conduits of information, as well as being participants in the creation of public goods. Citizen participation in services offers many of the benefits claimed for participation generally, more informed and responsible citizens on one hand, and more accountable and responsive government on the other.

⁶⁶ Ibid., 283-284.

⁶⁷ Lawrence Susskind and Michael Elliott, *Paternalism, Conflict, and Coproduction: Learning from Citizens Action and Citizen Participation in Western Europe*, (Plenum Press, 1983), 12.

⁶⁸ Gordon P. Whitaker "Coproduction: Citizens Participation in Service Delivery" *Public Administration Review.* 40 (May/June 1980): 240.

These new forms of civic empowerment and the older, more traditional forms of engagement both suggest that sustained participation requires giving citizens authentic decision-making power. Citizens want their engagement to make a difference. When this occurs, reform efforts appear to overcome some obstacles that commonly hinder participation. Skeptics will argue that this kind of democratic engagement cannot persist in resource-poor neighborhoods. However, analysis of participation in Chicago suggest otherwise. Contrary to what socio-economic models of participation predict, attendance at police beat meetings across the city was not a function of median income, education levels, or racial composition of the neighborhood. Instead, attendance was driven by the neighborhood crime rate. With respect to public schools, the number of parents who ran for the Local School Council varied partly according to the socio-economic characteristics of the school. Turnout was higher in neighborhoods with higher proportions of Black and Hispanic students.

Efforts to involve citizens in these new and innovative forms of engagement can be assisted by direct mobilization. As part of its community policing initiative, for example, the City of Chicago provided \$3 million to a community-based group charged with deploying organizers throughout the city to recruit participants for neighborhood community policing meetings. They used door-to-door contracting, outreach to

⁶⁹ Sherry Arnstein, "A Ladder of Citizen Participation," *Am Institute of Planning Journal* (July 1969): 216.

⁷⁰ Archon Fung, *Empowered Participation: Reinventing Urban Democracy* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2004): 33.

neighborhood forums, and other time-tested methods to generate very substantial participation rates across most Chicago neighborhoods.⁷¹

Engagement with Non-Governmental Institutions and Groups

Opportunities for civic engagement in local settings are not limited to the formal access points governments provide. Citizens who care about the issues facing their communities can find many other avenues of political action, including those provided by organizations bridging the gap between citizens and formal institutions of government. In some cases, these bridging efforts have become deeply enmeshed in government institutions, making it difficult to tell where one stops and the other begin. Often, these organizations work to mobilize different communities within the metropolitan region, including communities of interest or issue, communities of racial and ethnic similarity, and communities of geographic location, such as neighborhoods.

In this section, efforts are highlighted that engage citizens by interest, issue, and demographic profile. We then turn to a discussion of citizen mobilization by neighborhood boundaries. Of course, to the extent that neighborhoods are fragmented and segmented, these distinctions are not clear cut and frequently overlap.

Community Organizing and Community Organizations

One branch of local community engagement is "community organizing". This phrase evokes the adversarial tradition of radical neighborhood organizing pioneered by

⁷¹ Ibid.

Saul Alinsky in Chicago's Back of the Yards.⁷² Since the 1930s, organizers in Alinsky's tradition have sought to mobilize residents of poor neighborhoods and local institutions such as churches and labor unions to demand concessions from city government and private corporations on issues such as employment, health, public services, and local amenities. This tradition remains significant in many cities today. Its hallmarks are the use of professional organizers who attempt to build lasting "power" organizations and indigenous leaders in low-income, typically minority communities. These organizations deploy a variety of tactics ranging from electoral mobilization, disruptive protest and improving the quality of life in highly disadvantaged areas.

Community organizations may also be part of larger national organizing networks. The largest of these networks that are best documented and analyzed are the Industrial Areas Foundations, Associated Community Organizations for Reform Now (ACCORN), the Pacific Institute for Community Organizing (PICO), the Gamaliel Foundation, and the Direct Action Research and Training Center (DART). There are no doubt thousands of less heralded and documented organizations in cities and towns

⁷² Saul Alinksy, *Rules for Radicals* (New York: Random House, 1971), 22.

⁷³ Mark R. Warren, *Dry Bones Rattling: Community Building to Revitalize American Democracy* (Princeton University Press, 2001), 33.

⁷⁴ Mary Beth Rogers, *Cold Anger: A Story of Faith and Power in Power in Politics* (University of North Texas, 1990), 23.

across the United States dedicated to fair housing, community development, environmental justice, and school quality.⁷⁵

It is difficult to estimate the general effect of this brand of populist, adversarial community organizing upon the quantity or quality of civic engagement. There is no census of community organizing revealing the extent of the number of persons involved. It is similarly difficult to assess the quality of participation in these organizations. Surely, they provide crucial avenues through which residents of disadvantaged areas can learn the skills and reap the benefits of collective action. There are also grounds to view these organizations critically. The quality of democracy within these organizations varies.

The effect of these groups upon the equity of civic engagement, however, is clearer. These groups create paths of sociability and collective action in precisely those committees lacking the resources and connections to engage civically. They reduce the bias in civic engagement stemming from inequalities in material conditions, social status, and political privilege. Community organizing can lead directly to improved economic access, school, quality, public and private investment, and public services.

Issue or interest-based adversarial community groups constitute only one kind of community organizing. Additional efforts attempt to mobilize people along demographic

⁷⁵ Richard Wood, *Faith in Action: Religion, Race, and Democratic Organizing in America* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2002), 102.

⁷⁶ Mark R. Warren and Richard Wood, *Faith Based Community Organizing: The State of the Field* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2000), 77.

lines. In cities, settlement houses of the late 19th and early 20th centuries provide an early example of efforts at engaging immigrants and the poor. They are established to address the economic, social, cultural and intellectual needs of impoverished immigrant neighborhoods by mobilizing residents. These associations filled gaps in the larger civic and municipal structure. The settlement houses drew public attention to the condition of impoverished areas and produced many activists who would later engage in broader reform endeavors.^{77 78}

Community empowerment and mobilization initiatives can have an especially important impact on African Americans, Latinos, newer immigrants, and other segments of working class urban communities.⁷⁹ Immigrants, in particular, face obstacles to mobilization and engagement in many aspects of community life because they often face statutory and bureaucratic obstruction in addition to cultural and language barriers.⁸⁰ This is an increasing problem because foreign migration to the United States is dramatically altering the demographic profiles of the American population.⁸¹

⁷⁷ Michael McCormick, "Public Life in Industrial America" in Foner, ed. New American History. Cited in Putnam, *Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of the American Community,* (New York: Simon and Schuster, 2000), 100.

⁷⁸ Rufus P. Browning, Dale Roger Marshall and David H. Tabb. *1984 Protest Is Not Enough: The Struggle of Blacks and Hispanics for Equality in Urban Politics* (Berkeley, University of California Press), 50.

⁷⁹ Rufus P. Browning, Dale Rogers Marshall and David H. Tabb, *Racial Politics in American Cities*, 2^d ed. (New York: Longman, 1997), 34.

⁸⁰ Noah Pickus, *Immigration and Citizenship in the 21st Century* (Lanham, MD: Rowman and Littlefield Publishers, Inc. 1998), 23.

⁸¹ Ibid.

A considerable range of new research in political science is focusing on immigrant mobilization. Immigrants are likely to follow settlement patterns marked out by the co-national predecessors. This leads to a striking array of new ethnic enclaves in which immigrants from particular sending countries live in close proximity within a metropolitan area. This residential concentration should make mobilization easier from a logistical standpoint, but efforts to activate political participation among immigrants by political parties are sporadic at best. Represented the population rates and status occupations, as well as correspondingly modest incomes, make these populations less likely targets of mobilization by established political forces controlling local politics. The mobilizing work traditionally accomplished by political parties is now largely undertaken through civic organizations, labor unions, churches, and voluntary organizations in immigrant communities.

Immigrant mobilization is influenced by particular features of gateway cities and their surrounding metropolitan areas, and differences across the states in political culture political parties, electoral competitiveness, and election laws. ⁸⁴ The local contextual factors especially important for immigrants are the density of co-ethnic populations, competitiveness and receptiveness of local political party structures to immigrants,

⁸² Archon Fung, *Empowered Participation: Reinventing Urban Democracy* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2004), 27.

⁸³ Ibid., 55.

⁸⁴ Ibid., 54.

possibilities for cooperation in cross-group coalitions, presence of traditions of balancing slates with ethnic groups, and other features of local networks and organizations. For newer immigrants groups, one challenge is to find the most effective mechanism for becoming a part of the municipal governing coalition through collaboration, displacement, or the forging of new coalitions among immigrants crossing racial and ethnic boundaries.

Research on immigrant empowerment suggests in the midst of difficult circumstances, immigrants are very much involved in non-electoral political activities, including labor union organizing and participation, church-related activities, national-origin mutual aid societies, social movements, women's organizations, and other non-governmental organizations. In order to find such instances of engagement, political scientists must be willing to look beyond electoral participation. ⁸⁶ ⁸⁷ ⁸⁸ There is still much to learn about existing patterns of civic engagement among immigrants and the ways in which they might be empowered to participate more. Latin American immigrants, for example, may simultaneously be engaged in churches whose activities

⁸⁵ Ibid., 77.

⁸⁶ Kim Geron, Enrique de la Cruz, Leland T. Saito and Jaideep Sing. 2001. "Asian Pacific Americans' Social Movements and Interests Groups" *PS: Political Science and Politics* 3 (2001): 619.

⁸⁷ Carol Hardy-Fanta, *Latina Politics, Latino Politics: Gender, Culture and Political Participation in Boston* (Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 1992), 27.

⁸⁸ Benjamin Marquez and James Jennings 2000 "Representation by Other Means: Mexican Americans and Puerto Rican Social Movement Organizations", *PS: Political Science and Politics* 3 (2001): 720.

focus on lived realities in the U.S., but also in "hometown associations" maintaining ongoing links between immigrants' communities in the U.S. and their home country.

Neighborhood Organizations

Although neighbors may have similar demographic profiles and interests, neighborhoods themselves are fertile ground for civic engagement. Many Americans have strong neighborhood ties and cooperate with their neighbors to pursue collective aims on a regular basis. Efforts to mobilize along geographic lines have come from a variety of sources and have attempted to accomplish a variety of aims.

Neighborhood-based social service providers can be especially important in disadvantaged areas. ⁸⁹ Consider, for example, the Grand Boulevard neighborhood on Chicago's South Side, which was studied by a research team at Northwestern University. This is a high poverty neighborhood of 36,000 residents in which fully 82 percent of the children grow up in families living below the poverty line. Yet even in this very poor neighborhood, a block-by-block inventory revealed 319 "face-to-face organizations" where volunteers do the bulk of the work. About 100 of these nonprofits were churches or religious groups. ⁹⁰ These types of organizations can empower citizens and provide an important link between residents and city hall.

⁸⁹ Steven Rathgeb Smith, "The New Politics of Contracting: Citizens and the Nonprofit Role," in Helen Ingram and Steven Rathgeb Smith, eds. *Public Policy for Democracy* (Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution, 1993), 198.

⁹⁰ John P. Kretzmann, John L. McKnight, and Nicole Turner, *Voluntary Associations in Low-Income Neighborhoods: An Unexplored Community Resource* (Evanston, IL: Institute for Policy Research, Northwestern University), 124.

An important wave of neighborhood organizing came from Washington, with President Johnson's 1964 War on Poverty and its Community Action Programs (CAPS) and Model Cities. Community Action Agencies were created and charged with developing and administering poverty-reduction programs with the maximum feasible participation of the members of the groups and residents of the area served. Many urban neighborhoods participated, eventually establishing over one thousand Community Action Agencies across the country, making the Citizen Action Program a vast incubator of civic engagement. The participation mandated by the Community Action Program laid the groundwork for other forms of citizen participation in policymaking. and changed expectations about what local policy ought to look like.

Today, community development corporations, or CDC's, could be an important avenue for citizen engagement at the neighborhood level. ⁹⁵ CDC's are nonprofits with a primary focus on housing and are governed by their own independent boards of directors. They play a vital role in conceiving, planning, and financing various neighborhood

⁹¹ David J. Greenstone and Paul E. Peterson, *Race and Authority in Urban Politics: Community Participation and the War on Poverty* (New York: Sage, 1973), 2.

⁹² U.S. Congress, An Act to Mobilize the Human and Financial Resources of the Nation to Combat Poverty in the United States, Public Law 88-452, 88th Cong., 2nd Sess., 1964, p.9, quoted in Greenstone and Peterson 1973, 4-5.

⁹³ Richard Cole, *Citizen Participation and the Urban Policy Process* (Lexington, MA: Lexington Books, 1974), 26.

⁹⁴ Peter Eisinger, "The Community Action Program and the Development of Black Political Leadership." In Dale R. Marshall, ed. *Urban Policy Making* (Beverly Hills: Sage, 1979), 127.

⁹⁵ Mildred Warner, "Innovative Economic Development Strategies," June 2001, at http://www.cce.cornell.edu/restructuring/doc/reports/econdev/feds.htm. Accessed 27 February 2004.

projects, and in establishing public-private partnerships to pursue economic development. This gives them considerable status in their communities. Some scholars have argued most CDC's exert little effort at community organizing and advocating for their neighborhoods. Community development corporations have been highly successful in building links between city hall and neighborhoods. They are less than ideal vehicles for citizen participation. Whereas citizen participation was at the very foundation of CAPS, it has never been at the heart of the CDC's mission.

Beyond efforts to mobilize poor or disadvantaged areas, residents of middle and upper class neighborhoods are especially likely to organize their neighborhoods, seeking to preserve or advance the quality of their local public goods. Most sizable towns and cities in America contain dozens, if not hundreds of neighborhood improvement and residential community associations, block clubs, and neighborhood corporations.

In the national 2000 Social Capital Benchmark survey led by Robert Putnam, twenty percent of respondents claimed to participate in a neighborhood association.⁹⁷ Those with college educations were almost three times as likely (32% responded affirmatively) as those with a high school education or less (12% responded affirmatively) to participate in such an association.⁹⁸

⁹⁶ Randy Stoecker, "The CDC Model of Urban Redevelopment: A Critique and an Alternative," *Journal of Urban Affairs* 1 (1997), 22.

⁹⁷ Ibid.

⁹⁸ Ibid.

Older studies have found different relationships between neighborhood participation and socio-economic status (SES). Nearly a quarter century ago Richard C. Rich identified 167 neighborhood associations in the consolidated county of Indianapolis/Marion, Indiana. Rich found no associations in the wealthiest quarter of neighborhoods, 10% of the associations in the poorest quartile and 90% in the middle half.

More recently, Matthew Crenson has argued there is a curvilinear relationship between SES and neighborhood participation. On this argument, neighborhood participation operates according to mechanisms that are quite distinct from other forms of political engagement rising monotonically with socio-economic status, such as voting, working in political campaigns, and contributing money to campaigns. ¹⁰⁰ Eric Oliver finds a similar curvilinear relationship between community median household income and a host of other local participatory acts. ¹⁰¹

Rich and Oliver differ, however, about the explanation for this pattern. Rich hypothesizes formation of, and participation in, neighborhood associations corresponds to the ratio of resources in the neighborhood to the demand for public goods. In contrast, Oliver argues communities in the middle-income range are also more likely to be

⁹⁹ Richard C. Rich, "A Political Economy Approach to the Study of Neighborhood Organizations" *Am Journal of Political Science* 4 (Nov. 1980): 592.

¹⁰⁰ Matthew Crenson, Neighborhood Politics (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1983), 34.

¹⁰¹ Ibid.

economically diverse and diversity begets conflict, which in turn, generates participation.¹⁰²

Covenants attached to deeds of residential property are one type of neighborhood organization particularly common among middle and upper income Americans and raise some concerns about civic engagement. Homeowners Associations (HOA's) are "private governments" managing property held in common by homeowners, providing services, and enforcing rules and regulations. Through internal processes of decision-making and lobbying of local government, HOA's would seem to stimulate civic participation. However, both the quality and equality of that participation is problematic.

The moniker "private government" is applied because HOA's tend to take on many of the roles traditionally assumed by local government. They collect mandatory fees, similar to local taxes, to finance operations and have a public meeting once or twice a year to elect a governing board to supervise business between meetings. A 1989 report by the Advisory Commission on Intergovernmental Relations (ACIR) asserted homeowner associations "account for the most significant privatization of local government responsibilities in recent times…"

This form of association has grown dramatically over the past forty years. In 1964, there were fewer than 500 HOA's. By 2003, 8,000 new HOA's were forming each

¹⁰² Richard C. Rich, "A Political Economy Approach to the Study of Neighborhood Organizations" *Am Journal of Political Science* 4 (Nov. 1980): 592.

¹⁰³ Evan McKenzie, *Privatopia: Homeowner Associations and the Rise of Residential Private Government* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1994), 11.

year and an estimated 50 million Americans – almost one out of every five – lived in association-governed communities. ¹⁰⁴ Despite their growing numbers, few, if any, HOA's cater to low-income or subsidized housing. ¹⁰⁵ Traditionally found in middle and upper-middle homeowner enclaves, HOA's reinforce income segregation and may thereby reinforce racial segregation. ¹⁰⁶ According to the 2001 Annual Housing Survey, seven million Americans live in gated communities. These mostly involve a community association and further accentuate their exclusionary character by controlling public access. The withdrawal of prosperous homeowners from the local public governance leaves fewer resources to meet the needs of those left behind. The possibilities for redistribution and the promotion of other inclusive public goods within the public sector are attenuated. HOA's can thus exacerbate place-based inequalities.

McKenzie states that HOA's can be viewed as "small republics": the epitome of grassroots democracy where residents identify their own interests with the interests of the community. The weakness of HOA's is that they nurture a sense of shared fate among residents at the expense of connections to the larger political community. In addition, the governance structures of HOA's do not encourage norms of healthy political engagement, despite the semblance of direct and representative democracy. For example, renters do

1020

¹⁰⁴ Ibid.

Robert H. Nelson, "Privatizing the neighborhood: A Proposal to Replace Zoning with Private Collecive Property Rights to Existing Neighborhoods," in David T. Beito, Peter Gordon, and Alexander Tabarrok, eds., *The Voluntary City* (Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press, 2002), 307.

Evan McKenzie, *Privatopia: Homeowner Associations and the Rise of Residential Private Government* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1994), 11.

not have a vote, meetings are not subject to sunshine laws, and free speech and other constitutional guarantees are not protected. Many decisions are delegated to hired professionals and contractors, leading to a system that, in the words of one author, "attempts to replace politics with management. The underlying rationale is that the residents have chosen to self-segregate into communities where they voluntarily agree on what services should be provided and what rules of behavior should be enforced. With everyone agreeing on the goal of protecting property values, there should, in theory, be few interest or value conflicts. Management thus replaces politics because values are agreed upon, and those who do not agree are free to move.

In practice, the governance of HOA's is characterized by a combination of widespread indifference along with recurrent nasty conflicts of interest and values. The private decision-making process, or managerial model, is not well suited to resolve these conflicts. Many HOA's have trouble mustering a quorum for their meetings or persuading someone to run for the board. More than half of the respondents to a 1988 survey of HOA board members characterized their members as "apathetic." Much of this nonparticipation is probably due to the fact members are basically satisfied with the services of their homeowner association.

¹⁰⁷ Ibid., 18.

¹⁰⁸ Ibid.

¹⁰⁹ Robert Jay Dilger, *Neighborhood Politics: Residential Community Associations in American Governance* (New York: New York University Press, 1992), 7.

Externally, HOA's can stimulate citizen participation in the larger community, and in fact, homeowner associations have increasingly become effective lobbying organizations. However, they usually become politically active when residents perceive a proposed action, such as a commercial development or a landfill, threatens their property values. According to a number of studies, HOA's "are in the vanguard of the NIMBY (Not In My Back Yard) movement across America." In contrast to renters and low-income homeowners, HOA's have the resources, networks, and often, the paid legal assistance to effectively direct patterns of land use around their neighborhoods. HOA's have every right to organize and lobby the government, but the "mobilization of bias," to use Schattschneider's term, tilts the playing field of metropolitan development in the direction of these well-financed and well-organized interests.

In conclusion, HOA's can provide an avenue of civic engagement to their members, but it is a narrow form of civic engagement which is aimed at advancing the particular interests of a well-defined association. Internally homogeneous and with weak commitments to the democratic processes, HOA's seem very likely to exemplify the weaknesses of small and insular communities committed to advancing a narrow agenda. They do not serve as effective schools for civic engagement in a large and diverse society.

The Evolution of Black Radical Thought and Radicalism

110 Ibid		

The Evolution of Black Radical Thought is the underpinning of the many social revolutions by blacks in America. In fact, the book "Africans at the Crossroads – Notes for African World Revolution" by Dr. John Henrik Clarke provides the framework to assess black radical thought and resistance. Regardless of whether the resistances are organized or not, the common denominators of radical thought and resistance are shared by many groups and individuals who have earned a prominent place in the annals of struggle for freedom and justice.

To begin with, one must start with two important definitions. First is the definition of resistance, which throughout the history of Radical Thought is seen as taking action, large or small, against a powerful opposition. Resistance is also relative based on the context and perhaps geography, history and culture. Thus, resistance is defined and redefined by each community in which it is engaged. Daniel Mannix and Malcolm Cowley describe the mutinies that took place in "A History of the Atlantic Slave Trade." Herbert Aptheker describes resistance by slaves on plantations in "American Negro Slave Revolts." Further, William Loren Katz describes how Negro slaves broke

¹¹¹John Henrik Clarke, Africans at the Crossroads – Notes for an African World Revolution (Trenton, New Jersey: Africa World Press, 1991).

¹¹²Danial Mannix and Malcolm Cowley, A History of the Atlantic Slave Trade (New York: Penguin Books, 1976).

¹¹³Herbert Aptheker, *American Negro Slave Revolts* (New York: International Publishers, 1969).

tools and consorted with the Indians in "Black Indians." The above can easily be identified by the radical action they took.

The second definition is radical. This idea is clearly a relative term redefined with each generation. Many people simply see radical as being the opposite of conservative. "At the turn of the century radical was seen as left-winged, Marxist formations, which were anti-capitalist" However, Richard B. Moore in his essay *Afro-Americans and Radical Politics* defined radical politics as a program which proposes basic change in the economic, social, and political order... it has to do with the thoroughgoing nature of the ends sought and means used to achieve these basic ends. 116

Moving forward to the end of the 19th Century, in an effort to challenge the entrenchment of white supremacy, disenfranchisement, lynching, and bigotry, a number of black organizations emerged. One of the first groups formed was the National Afro American League and, shortly thereafter, the National Federation of Afro American Women and Colored Women's League merged to create the National Association of Colored Women. These organizations illustrate the important contribution made by women. In her research "When and Where I Enter – The Impact of Black Women on

¹¹⁴William Loren Katz, *Black Indians* (New York: Amos Press, 1969).

Herb Boyd, "Radicalism and Resistance: The Evolution of Black Radical Thought" *The Black Scholar* 28 (2001) 44.

¹¹⁶Richard B. Moore, *Afro-American and Radical Politics* (New York: International Publishers, 1995).

Race and Sex in America. "117 Paula Giddings articulates the many contributions made by women to defend the race when no one else did. Alternatively, it should be noted these organizations existed prior to the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People and Urban League.

In the early twentieth century, two black giants in radical political thought began a very public debate of opposing views. W.E.B. Du Bois' publication "The Souls of Black Folk" was the first of many shots he took at Booker T. Washington without any regard to his substantial power and influence in Washington. Interestingly the overall objectives of the two were similar. Both proposed relatively radical ideas for their day. However, Washington hinged his outlook on economic matters, while Du Bois stressed social equality. They are both seen as a response to the white supremacy that existed in each of their regions of the country, noted David Levering Lewis in his "Biography of Du Bois." 119

In 1915, Du Bois developed a new nemesis, Marcus Garvey. Much like the public debates that occurred between Du Bois and Washington, the debate between Du Bois and Garvey were of two opposing radical arguments. In *The Art & Imagination of W.E.B. Du Bois*, Arnold Rampersad captured the discontent between the two leaders:

¹¹⁷Paula Giddings, When and Where I Enter: The Impact of Black Women on Race and Sex in America (New York: Morrow, 1984).

¹¹⁸W.E.B. Du Bois, *The Souls of Black Folk* (New York: W.W. Norton, A Norton Critical Edition 1999).

¹¹⁹David Levering Lewis, *A Biography of W.E.B. Du Bois* (New York: W.W. Norton, A Norton Critical Edition 1999).

"Garvey derived Du Bois as a mulato ashamed of his Black ancestry and Du Bois retaliated by questioning Garvey's ability to lead an organization and then calling him a little fat black man, ugly, but with intelligent eyes and a big head." In the end, George Frederickson's "A Comparative History of Black Ideologies in the United States and South Africa," pointed out the critical role of Garvey's movement. "It played a critical role by synthesizing two ideologies, nineteenth century pan Negroism and Washington's philosophy of economic self-help and group solidarity." 121

In 1919, the birth of the African Blood Brotherhood helped push radical theory and practice into the forefront of this period. The organization gained popularity after the Tulsa Riots and aimed to further Communist thought. In 1924, Negro Sanhedrin of Chicago's Communist Party was at the core of this event with members of the ABB, Workers Party, NAACP, National Race Congress, National Equal Rights League and conservative organizations such as Friends of Negro Freedom. It was a great opportunity for mainstream organizations and black radicals to set aside their differences and formulate a program of mutual benefit. However, this effort collapsed under left-wing hidden agendas according to Earl Ofari Hutchinson in "Blacks and Reds – Race and Class in Conflict 1919 -1990." ¹²² Another important note regarding this meeting is the

¹²⁰Arnold Rampersad. *The Art and Imagination of W.E.B. Du Bois* (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1976).

¹²¹George Frederickson, *A Comparative History Ideologies in the United States and South Africa* (New York: Oxford University Press, 1995).

¹²²Earl Ofari Hutchinson, *Blacks and Reds – Race and Class in Conflict 1991-1990* (East Lansing: Michigan State University Press, 1995).

organizations were there to begin a militant program for civil rights and equal opportunity.

The 1930s and 1940s were marked with the rise and fall of openly communist organizations. The National Negro Congress, American Negro Labor Congress and League of Struggle for Negro Rights were viewed as front groups for the Communist Party. Langston Hughes, Paul Robeson, Mary Macleod Bethune, and Katherine Dunham earned more than a passing scrutiny as described in Mark Naison's "Communist in Harlem during the Depression." 123

The late 1940s and 1950s saw an increased focus on the southern states and the right to vote. Cedric Robinson's "*Black Movements in America*" and Rosa Parks autobiography both point to the focus on voter registration, while noting the rise of the NAACP and the introduction of Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. as the Civil Rights Movement's leader. 124 125

John Rachal's article "The long, hot summer: The Mississippi response to freedom summer, 1964" details the outgrowth and importance of groups like the Congress of Racial Equality (CORE); Student Non-violent Coordinating Committee

¹²³ Mark Naison, *Communist in Harlem during the Depression* (Urbana: University of Illinois, 1983).

¹²⁴ Cedric Robinson, *Black Movements in America* (New York: Routledge, 1997).

¹²⁵ Rosa Parks, Rosa Parks: My Story (New York: Dial Books, 1992).

¹²⁶ John R. Rachal, "The long, hot summer: The Mississippi response to freedom summer, 1964" *The Journal of Negro History* 84 (Fall 1999) 315-40.

(SNCC); Southern Christian Leadership Conference; and Council of Federated Organizations (COFO). Clive Webb's "Fight against Fear: Southern Jews and Black Civil Rights and Debra Schultz' "Going South: Jewish Women in the Civil Rights Movement" highlights the contributions made by Jewish Women at the tremendous risk of personal safety. An Essay review by William Ayers entitled "We Who Believe in Freedom Cannot Rest Until It's Done: Two Dauntless Women of the Civil Rights Movement and the Education of a People" and J. Steinbridge's "Notes on a Class," in Stokely Speaks: A Black Power Back to Pan Africanism tell of the Freedom Schools that were operated by SNCC. Stokely Speaks goes even further with descriptions of Septima Clarke and Ella Baker as veterans in the NAACP and the SCLC who were the master minds behind the Freedom Schools.

The contributions of women in the Civil Rights Movement is often overlooked or expected to take a backseat to the contributions of more notable men such as. David Garrow's "A Circle of Trust: Remembering SNCC." However, there are several

¹²⁷ Clive Webb, *Fight against Fear: Southern Jews and Black Civil Rights* (Athens: University of Georgia Press, 2001).

¹²⁸ Debra L. Schultz, *Going South: Jewish Women in the Civil Rights Movement* (New York: University Press, 2001).

William Ayers, "We Who Believe in Freedom Cannot Rest Until It's Done: Two Dauntless Women of the Civil Rights Movement and the Education of a People" *Harvard Educational Review* 59 (Nov. 1989) 520-28.

¹³⁰ Stokely Carmichael, *Stokely Speaks: A Black Power Back to Pan Africanism* (New York: Vintage, 1971).

¹³¹ David Garrow, "A Circle of Trust: Remembering SNCC," *The Journal of American History* 85 (Mar 1999) 1672-4.

articles that do not shy away from recognizing the contributions of women. They include Teresa Nance's "Hearing the Missing Voice," Passing the Torch: African American Women in the Civil Rights Movement" by LaVerne Gyant and powerful personal stories like, "Fannie Lou Hamer: The Unquenchable Spirit of the Civil Rights Movement," by Janice Hamlet, "The Education of Kathleen Neal Cleaver" and "Gloria Richardson: Breaking the Mold" 136

While it can be said that black women played a significant role in the Civil Rights Movement, it must also be noted that the civil rights movement didn't completely address the unique needs of black women. Therefore, towards the middle to late 1960s there began a rise in black feminism, an understanding of being a black woman. This awakening of sorts, this need of self expression is captured in several articles and books most prominently Patricia Hill Collins' "Black Feminist Thought", and Hooks'

¹³² Teresa A. Nance, "Hearing the Missing Voice," *Journal of Black Studies* 26 (May 1996) 543-559.

¹³³ LeVerne Gyant, "Passing the Torch: African American Women in the Civil Right Movement 26 *Journal of Black Studies* (May 1996) 629-47.

¹³⁴ Janice D. Hamlet, "Fannie Lou Hamer: The Unquenchable Spirit of the Civil Rights Movement 26 *Journal of Black Studies* (May 1996) 560-76.

¹³⁵ Kathleen Neal Cleaver, "The Education of Kathleen Neal Cleaver (In Conversation)," 77 *Transitions* (1998) 172-195.

¹³⁶ Anita K. Foeman, "Gloria Richardson: Breaking the Mold" 26 *Journal of Black Studies* (May 1996) 604-15.

¹³⁷ Patricia Hill Collins, *Black Feminist Thought* (Boston: Unwin Hyman 1990).

"Feminist Theory: From Margin to Center," and White's "Dark Continent of Our Bodies: Black Feminism and the Politics of Respectability," 139

Black radicals and radicalism in America has a long history that continues to be written today. As long as blacks continue to define and redefine who they are and define their place in the world, they will continue to evolve the vision of themselves.

The intersection of pluralism and decision-making theory

Because there are so many issues, and given the high information costs of being informed on all issues, voters delegate responsibilities for making allocative choices to their elected officials. Interest groups and political parties mainly have an effect when the public is not interested in or informed about a particular issue or policy.¹⁴⁰

Elected officials are voters' agents for the vast majority of public decisions.

Particularly on less visible decisions, elected officials are able to exercise considerable latitude in judgment. Also, policy choices often take place well after elections, and future electability is likely to reflect performance on a variety of public policy issues. In this sense, the preferences of elected officials, as well as those of voters, should matter.

Many decisions, including those about allocation of funds from the tobacco settlements, involve concentrated benefits for a few well-defined groups, with the costs being widely

b. hooks, Feminist Theory: From Margin to Center (Boston: South End Press, 1984).

¹³⁹ E. F. White, *Dark Continent of Our Bodies: Black Feminism and the Politics of Respectability* (Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 2001).

¹⁴⁰ Paul Burstein and April Linton, The Impact of Political Parties, Interest Groups and Social Movement Organizations on Public Policy: Some Recent Evidence and Theoretical Concerns. *Social Forces* 81 (2002) 390.

shared among the population at large. Under these circumstances, the incentives to influence policy design are much greater for the direct beneficiaries than for the general public.¹⁴¹ In the context of the tobacco settlements, such beneficiaries consists of groups that have a clear interest in tobacco control, public health, agriculture, communities negatively affected by tobacco control, and other special interests, such as education lobbies, that see the settlement dollars as a new source of funding. In this research project, the researcher will examine the role of black advocate groups in allocating funds over time. Additionally, the research will examine how much funding has been allocated to the interest groups listed above.

Past patterns of spending create inertia. Thus, new sources of funds may be allocated in ways that are shaped by prior expenditure decision. For this reason, spending from new revenue sources may increase the size of existing programs. However, state decision makers may reason that the new funds should be allocated differently because existing spending has already exploited high-yield investments in the areas to which these funds have been allocated in the past. Finally, as occurred on a widespread basis during the first five years post-MSA, shocks to state revenue and expenses may greatly affect the allocations of funds, which states regard as new money. This fact reinforces the need for a case study research model for examining the allocation of tobacco funds. The case

¹⁴¹ Thomas Persson and G. Tabellini, Political Economics and Public Finance. In *Handbook of Public Economics*, vol. 3, ed. A.J. Auerbach and M. Geldstein, 1555.

study format will enable the researcher to probe respondents deeper to better understand the underpinnings behind decisions.

The allocation decisions of the settlement funds are made by legislatures whose compositions are influenced by the preferences of the median voter in a system of universal suffrage and majority rule. 142 143 144 Competition among politicians is for the middle of the political spectrum where most votes are. Voters' preferences are influenced by demographic characteristics, including race, age and income, partisan identification such as Democrat or Republican, and political ideology, which includes self-identification as liberal or conservative. Given that elderly persons are relatively heavy consumers of personal health services, such program should be more popular in states with high proportions of elderly. By contrast, tobacco control largely concentrates on discouraging initiation of the smoking habit or in encouraging early cessation. Thus, public demand for tobacco-control programs should be higher in states with proportions of younger persons.

Potential effects of race and ethnicity are more complex, especially holding effects of income constant. In general, given lower rates of voter participation and less influence in the political process in general, African Americans, Latinos, and other

¹⁴² A. Downs, An Economic Theory of Democracy, 1957. 35.

¹⁴³ H. Hotelling, Stability in competition, *Economic Journal* 39 (1929) 44.

¹⁴⁴ K.W.S. Roberts, Voting over Income Tax Schedules, *Journal of Public Economics* 8 (1977) 335.

minorities are less likely to obtain public funds for priorities of greatest interest to these groups. ¹⁴⁵ But on certain issues, the interest of minority groups may be sufficiently high that policy makers may be responsive.

One would expect states whose mean partisan identification is Democratic and whose ideology is liberal to spend more on health care and progressive social programs such as tobacco control. Partisan differences have been demonstrated to be greatest regarding health spending and are larger among party leaders. This may be especially true for health programs such as Medicaid, because the program benefits accrue to lower income groups, though it likely depends on how the issue is framed.

Although the electorate chooses the party in control, the allocation of the settlement funds is most directly a legislative decision. Given the amount of funds involved, allocation of settlement money is not likely to be a major issue in an election. This gives elected officials some latitude in how fund allocation decisions are made.

¹⁴⁵ Frank A. Sloan and Jennifer S. Allsbrook, et al, States Allocations of Funds from the Master Settlement Agreement with Tobacco Compromise: Evidence from Six States, *Health Affairs* 24 (2005) 222.

Andre Blais, Donald Blake and Stephanie Dion, Do Parties Make a Difference? Parties and the Size of Government in Liberal Democracies, *American Journal of Political Science* 37 (1993) 45.

¹⁴⁷ T. J. Eismeier, Public Preferences about Government Spending: Partisan, Social, and Attitudinal Sources of Policy Difference, *Political Behavior* 4 (1982) 134.

¹⁴⁸ W. G. Jacoby, Public Attitudes toward Government Spending, *American Journal of Political Science* 38 (1994) 359.

¹⁴⁹ M. A. Maggiotto and J.E. Pierson, Partisan Identification and Electoral Choice: The Hostility Hypothesis, *American Journal of Political Science* 21 (1977) 751.

¹⁵⁰ W. G. Jacoby, Public Attitudes toward Government Spending, *American Journal of Political Science* 38 (1994) 359.

Democrat-controlled legislatures and Democratic governors may be expected to provide greater funding for social programs, particularly for those programs that are most clearly redistributive. The weighing of the individual rights of smokers versus the rights of those on whom smoking imposes negative externalities may in the end be an ideological if not a partisan issue, but very rarely an issue commanding widespread public interest.

Whatever relationships may be deducted theoretically, the empirical evidence connecting political parties to policy enactment is mixed. Past research has failed to link, for example, generous Medicaid benefits with Democratic control of the legislature.¹⁵¹ The electoral process drives both parties toward the median voter, whereas interest group influence accounts for any divergence in policy after elections.¹⁵²

Alternative explanations for lack of significant findings also relate to characteristics of the median voter, that is, demographic traits and level of awareness of and interest in a policy. Controlling for party demographic composition, for example, race and class, the party emerges as a significant factor in Medicaid benefits decisions. ¹⁵³

¹⁵¹ Thad Kousser, The Politics of Discretionary Medicaid Spending, *Journal of Health Politics*, *Policy and Law* 27 (2002) 647.

¹⁵² Robert S. Erikson, Gerald C. Wright, and John P. McIver, Political Parties, Public Opinion and State Policy in the United States, *American Political Science Review* 83 (1989) 734.

¹⁵³ Robert D. Brown, Party Cleavage and Welfare Effort in the American States, *American Journal of Political Science* 37 (1995) 25.

The influence of party also varies with the policy in question. Colleen Grogan argued that different policies have different "bounds" in which a politician can safely operate. Their width varies according to how interested and informed the constituents are, as well as pressure from interest groups. Publicity following the tobacco settlements is likely to have raised public awareness nationally. This is with considerable variation in the public's views and levels of interest among states. Given the amount of money available, stakes are high for interest groups. Hence, legislators are likely to experience high pressure from various stakeholders.

Part III. Federalism

The final section of the literature review examines the role federalism plays in tobacco prevention at all levels. The Tobacco Master Settlement Agreement was negotiated by State Attorney Generals and approved by the U.S. Congress provided that 25 years of potential prevention funding for states was but one of many intersections of state and federal government.

The federalism literature in political science and law has focused on constitutional design and characterizations of the relationships between levels of government. This has included a large number of descriptive models that have been used to illustrate the relative power and authority of the different levels of government. These depictions range from classic discussions of "dual federalism" and "marble cake" to more recent

¹⁵⁴ Colleen M. Grogan, Political Economic Factors Influencing State Medicaid Policy, *Political Research Quarterly* 47 (1998) 595.

analyses of the "devolution revolution." ¹⁵⁵ ¹⁵⁶ ¹⁵⁷ ¹⁵⁸ ¹⁵⁹ ¹⁶⁰ ¹⁶¹ This literature also features a number of normative arguments about the ideal relationship between the federal and state governments. These include proposals to return to a particular view of the "historical" relationship, adopt a new pattern of responsibilities, continue most current arrangements, or reverse the new devolution. ¹⁶² ¹⁶³ ¹⁶⁴ The U.S. Supreme Court weighed into this issue during the 1990's as well, setting new limits on the scope of federal authority over the states by invalidating provisions of the Brady Handgun Violence Prevention Act (Printz v. U.S. and Mack v. U.S., 521 U.S. 898[1997]), the Gun-Free School Zone Act (U.S. v. Lopez, 514 U.S. 549[1995]), and the Violence Against Women

¹⁵⁵ D. Elazar, The American Partnership: Intergovernmental co-operation in the nineteenth – century United States. (Chicago: University of Chicago Press. 1962): 201.

¹⁵⁶ M. Grodzins, *The American System: A new view of government in the United States*, (Chicago: Rand McNally & Company 1966): 122.

¹⁵⁷ J. Shannon, "The return of fend for yourself federalism: The Reagan mark," *Intergovernmental Perspective*, (Summer/Fall 1987): 34.

¹⁵⁸ T. Dye, *American federalism: Competition among governments*, (Lexington, MA: Lexington Books, 1990): 245.

¹⁵⁹ J. Kincaid, "From cooperative to coercive federalism," *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 509 (1990):147.

¹⁶⁰ R. Nathan, "The "devolution revolution": An overview," In Rockefeller Institute Bulletin (Albany, NY: Nelson A. Rockefeller Institute of Government, 1996): 9.

¹⁶¹ T. Conlan, From new federalism to devolution: Twenty-five years of intergovernmental reform, (Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press, 1998): 124.

¹⁶²A. Rivlin, *Reviving the American dream: The economy, the states, and the federal government,* (Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press, 1992): 65.

¹⁶³ P. Peterson, *The price of federalism*, (Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press, 1995): 67.

¹⁶⁴ J. Donahue, *Disunited states*, (New York: Basic Books, 1997): 76.

Act (U.S. v. Morrison, 529 U.S. 598[2000]). For federal mandates in particular, researchers have given some attention to the reactions of state and local officials to these mandates and the congressional politics of mandate reform, and have debated the value of mandates and their costs. ¹⁶⁵ ¹⁶⁶ ¹⁶⁷ But in most of these discussions about the desirability of federal mandates, analysts have generally assumed that the mandates are actually implemented, and as a result, the mandates create burdens for lower levels of government. Furthermore, this analysis fails to mention the impact of community advocates or the role of interest groups on the process of enacting these mandates.

Grants

The economic analysis of grants has focused on their fiscal incentives, modeling the effects of intergovernmental grants associated with changing either the net prices or the income constraints faced by lower units of government and the prototypical "median voter." who is assumed to be decisive in determining the level of government spending and its allocation. This economic analysis highlights the differing incentives presented by lump sum or block grants, as opposed to grants with matching requirement. ¹⁶⁸

¹⁶⁵ T. Conlan, "And the beat goes on: Intergovernmental mandates and preemption in an era of deregulation," *Publius: The Journal of federalism* 21 (Spring 1991): 47.

¹⁶⁶ S. MacManus, "Mad" about mandates: The issue of who should pay for what resurfaces in the 1990s," *Publius: The Journal of federalism*, 21 (Spring 1991): 64.

¹⁶⁷ P. Posner, *The Politics of unfunded mandates: Whither federalism?* (Washington, D.C.: Georgetown University Press. 1998): 225.

¹⁶⁸ H. Chernick, "Block grants for the needy: The case of AFDC," *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 1 (1982): 212.

Matching grants requires the recipient government to pay part of the costs of the program, with the grant-giving unit matching these funds on the basis of a specified formula. This reduces the implicit price faced by the recipient government, encouraging spending on that program in particular. A matching grant should stimulate a higher level of spending than a lump sum grant or an equivalent increase in income, although this theoretical expectation encounters an extensive body of empirical results in which lump sum grants appear to stimulate program spending via a "flypaper effect." ¹⁶⁹

Indeed, this is consistent with the general conclusion of the implementation literature that policy change does not necessarily lead to the desired results, especially for complex policies that require the agreement of multiple parties, agencies, and units of government. For grant programs, although bargaining between levels of government is important, lower levels of government, for instance, state governments, have the upper hand, because the federal government faces significant limits in its ability to monitor and enforce compliance with its policy goals. A late 1970s survey designed

¹⁶⁹ J. Hines & R. Thaler, "The flypaper effect," Journal of Economic Perspective, 9 (1995): 218.

M. Derthick, New towns in-town, (Washington, DC: Urban Institute Press, 1972): 187.

¹⁷¹ J. Pressman & A. Wildavsky, *Implementation: How great expectations in Washington are dashed in Oakland; Or, why it's amazing that federal program work at al, (Berkely: University of California Press. 1973): 255.*

¹⁷² E. Bardach, *The implementation game: What happens after a bill becomes a law, (*Cambridge, MA: MIT Press. 1977): 65.

¹⁷³ H. Ingram, "Policy implementation through bargaining: The case of federal grants-in aid," *Public Policy*, 23 (1977): 502.

to assess the burden of mandates from the perspective of states and local officials reveals that they themselves perceive limits in the degree of actual compliance with grant conditions. Asked about federal conditions of aid, the question "How well is that mandate being performed?" generated such responses as: "completely (33%), "substantially" (41%), "minimally" (6%), and "not at all" (18%). The evidence that nearly a quarter of respondents indicated either minimal or nonexistent compliance suggests that one cannot assume the full implementation of grant conditions and mandates.¹⁷⁴

Marble Cake Federalism

The Federal Government has often used a 'carrot on a stick' approach when providing programs and services. The federal government often provides funds to the states, which then administer the services through state agencies. This relationship has been described as a 'layered cake' and more recently 'marble cake federalism' as the line between the federal government and the state government becomes blurred much like the swirls in a marble cake. 175

This marble cake relationship represents an evolution of the relationship between the federal government and state governments. Historically, the federal government has

¹⁷⁴ C. Lovell, et al., "Federal and state mandating on local governments: An exploration of issues and impacts," (Riverside, CA: Graduate School of Administration, University of California, Riverside. 1979): 145.

¹⁷⁵ Morton Grodzins, *The Federal System, Goals for Americans*, (Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1960): 175.

provided funds to states for policies which are set at the federal level but enacted at the state and local community level. Federalism sets the boundaries of a struggle for power among national, state, and local governments. This struggle for power is often determined by the resources that each side brings as they vie for control over policymaking. In the case of health disparities, this involves elected officials and different public health entities implementing reforms.

Similarly cooperative federalism refers to the system by which the federal government encourages rather than commands states to pursue national goals. As mentioned previously, the federal government often uses a 'carrot on a stick' approach in working with the states by dangling money in front of them to get them to accept congressional mandates.

Conversely, marble cake federalism refers to the situation when the lines become blurred. This situation is marked by a lack of a clear line between state, federal, and local government activities. This lack of clear distinction between governments is seen in the passing and acting of laws. ¹⁷⁶ Contrary to marble cake federalism is layered cake federalism which has very clear lines of distinction. There is very little blurring of these lines as the role of the state and local governments are clearly set and vastly different from those of the federal government. ¹⁷⁷

¹⁷⁶ Ibid., 177.

¹⁷⁷ Sheldon Edner, "Surface Transportation Funding in a New Century: Assessing One Slice of the Federal Marble Cake," *Publius: The Journal of federalism* 32 (Winter 2002): 7.

However an article by McGinnis and Somin introduces federalism as a classic example of a principal-agent problem. A situation where there is a conflict of interest between an individual or group (the "principals") and those who are given authority to act on their behalf (the "agent"). Because the principals lack information, they fail to enforce their power in the political process thus allowing the agents to form a beneficial distribution of power between state and federal officials as guaranteed in the Constitution. ¹⁷⁸

Mandates

Contrary to much of the literature on federalism, which has been focused on responses of lower levels of government to financial incentives intergovernmental grant programs, an article by Kronebusch analyzes the grant conditions and mandates of grant programs. Kronebusch concludes that while the current pattern of federal Medicaid matching payments reduces policy variation to some extent, these effects are modest compared to the impacts of the mandates. Mandates are a more powerful instrument for national policymakers than the comparatively weak fiscal incentives provided by matching rates.¹⁷⁹

Informing Policymakers

¹⁷⁸ John O. McGinnis and Ilya Somin, "Federalism vs. State's Rights: A Defense of Judicial Review in a Federal System," *Northwestern Law Review* 99 (Fall 2004): 92.

¹⁷⁹ Karl Kronebusch, "Matching Rates and Mandates: Federalism and Children's Medicaid Enrollment," 32 *The Policy Studies Journal* (2004): 317.

There is ample evidence of the need and obligation for public health practitioners to inform the public policy process. ¹⁸⁰ ¹⁸¹ ¹⁸² ¹⁸³ ¹⁸⁴ ¹⁸⁵ ¹⁸⁶ To do so, practitioners need a firm grounding in the policy process and corresponding opportunities to influence it.

Several early studies provide insights into the legislative process at the federal and state levels. ¹⁸⁷ ¹⁸⁸ ¹⁸⁹ ¹⁹⁰ ¹⁹¹ ¹⁹² ¹⁹³ This early research should not be overlooked or dismissed when considering how, where, and when to influence the legislative process.

¹⁸⁰ R. Dear and R.J. Patti, Legislative advocacy: Seven effective tactics, *Social Work*, 26 (1981): 292.

¹⁸¹ M. Ezell, Advocacy in human services, (Stamford, CT: Brooks/Cole 2001): 34.

¹⁸² K. Haynes and J.S. Mickelsen, *Afecting change: Social workers in the political arena*, 5th ed. (Boston: Allyn & Bacon 2003): 302.

¹⁸³ D. Hepworth and J. Larson, *Direct social work practice: Theory and skills, (Chicago: Dorsey Press 1986): 196.*

¹⁸⁴ B.S. Jansson, *Becoming and effective policy advocate: From policy practice to social justce.* 3rd ed. (Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole 1999): 33.

¹⁸⁵ R.L. Schneider and L. Lester, *Social Work advocacy*, Stamford, C1: Brooks/Cole 2001): 199.

¹⁸⁶ B. Van-Gheluwe and J. Barber, Legislative advocacy in action, *Social Work* 31 (1986): 393.

¹⁸⁷ B. Lewis and P. Ellefson, Evaluating information flows to policy committees in state legislatures: Forest and natural resources as a case, *Evaluation Review* 66 (1996): 33.

¹⁸⁸ D. MacRae, Jr., The university and the utitlity of policy analysis, *Policy Studies* 5 (1976): 286.

¹⁸⁹ J.C. Pierce and N. Lovrich, Trust in the technical information provided by interest groups: The views of legislators, activists, experts, and the general public, *Policy Studies Journal* 12 (1983): 628.

¹⁹⁰ D. Ray, The sources of voting cues in three state legislatures, *Journal of Politics*, 44 (1982):1080.

¹⁹¹ P. A. Sabatier and D. Whiteman, Legislative decision making and substantive policy information flow, *Legislative Studies Quarterly* 65 ((1985): 398.

Legislative staff and executive agencies have been consistently cited as sources of information for legislators. Staff provides key resources and helps policy-makers draft legislation and sort through the pros and cons of components of legislation. Executive agencies are important because they may propose legislation and are responsible for implementing it. Often the institutional memory necessary to propel policy solutions forward reside in legislative staff and employees of government agencies. Reliance on information from fellow legislators, particularly as a cue for voting, is well documented. 194 195 196 197 198 199 There is also literature on interest group influence and

¹⁹² D. Songer, The influence of empirical research: Committee vs. floor decision making, *Legislative Studies Quarterly* 13 (1988): 385.

¹⁹³ R. Zwier, The search for information: Specialists and non specialists in the U.S. House of Representatives, *Legislative Studies Quarterly* 4 (1979): 35.

¹⁹⁴ K. Entin, Information exchange in Congress: The case of the House Armed Services Committee, *Western Political Quarterly* 26 (1973): 430.

¹⁹⁵ J. Kingdon, *Congressmens' voting decisions*, 3rd ed. (New York: Harper& Row 1989): 312.

¹⁹⁶ D. Kovenock, Influence in the U. S. House of Representatives: A statistical analysis of communications, *American Politics Quarterly* 1 (1973): 422.

¹⁹⁷ D. Matthews and J. Stimson, Yeas and nays: Normal decision-making in the U.S. House of Representatives, (New York: John Wiley and Sons 1998): 325.

¹⁹⁸ H. Porter, Legislative experts and outsiders: The two-step flow of communication, *Journal of Politics* 36 ((1974): 725.

¹⁹⁹ J. Wahike, H. Eulau, W. Buchanan. and L. Ferguson, *The legislative system: Explorations in legislative behavior*, (New York: John Wiley and Sons 1962): 166.

the prevalence of lobbying in the legislative process. ²⁰⁰ ²⁰¹ ²⁰² ²⁰³ ²⁰⁴ ²⁰⁵ Few would deny that these are useful sources of information for state legislators.

Voting Patterns

A number of studies have demonstrated ways in which the constituency may affect legislative voting patterns. Witt argued that "constituents who take the time and effort to present their position can make a strong impression, influence the staff person, and thereby reach the elected official...Elected officials have limited time. 206 207 208 209 They are most responsive to those who elect them or will re-elect them." The role of the

²⁰⁰ V. Gray and D. Lowery, Where do policy ideas come from? A study of Minnesota legislators and staffers, *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 10 (2000): 580.

²⁰¹ C. Mayo and D. Perlmutter, Media use and disuse by state legislators, *Journal of Business and Technical Communications*, 12 (1998): 74.

J. Pierce and N. Lovrich, Trust in the technical information provided by interest groups: The views of legislators, activities, experts, and the general public, *Policy Studies Journal*, 12 (1983): 636.

²⁰³ K. Schlozman and J. Tierney, *Organized interests and American democracy*, (New York: Harper and Row 1986): 402.

²⁰⁴ C. Thomas and R.J. Hrebenar, Interest groups in the states. In V. Gray, *Politics in the American states*, 7th ed., (Washington, D.C.: Congressional Quarterly Press): 127.

²⁰⁵ H. Ziegler and M. Huelshoff, Interest groups and public policy, *Policy Studies Journal* 9 (1980): 439.

²⁰⁶ M. Barnello, Gender and roll call voting in the New York state assembly, *Women and Politics*, 20(1999): 87.

²⁰⁷ M. Herring, Legislative responsiveness to black constituents in three Deep South states, *Journal of Politics* 52 (1990): 748.

²⁰⁸ S. Witt and G. Moncrief, Religion and roll call voting in Idaho: The 1990 abortion controversy, *American Politics Quarterly* 21 (1993): 144.

²⁰⁹ S. Hays and H. Glick, The role of agenda setting in policy innovation, *American Politics Quarterly* 25 (1997): 510.

media in providing information to legislators and the agenda-setting potential of the media has also been studied.^{210 211 212 213 214 215} However, much of the attention has been focused on mainstream media with little to no consideration given to alternative media.

Policy diffusion studies remind us that lessons learned from other state and local governments provide yet another source of information for state legislators. ²¹⁶ ²¹⁷ ²¹⁸ ²¹⁹ Early speculation was that the increased workloads of legislative staffs would

²¹⁰ C. Bybee and M. Comadena, Information sources and state legislators: Decision-making and dependency, *Journal of Broadcasting* 28 (1984): 335.

²¹¹ V. Gray and D. Lowery, Where do policy ideas come from? A study of Minnesota legislators and staffers, *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 10 (2000): 580.

²¹² C. Mayo and D. Perltmutter, Media use and disuse by state legislators, *Journal of Business and Technical Communications*, 12 (1998): 82.

²¹³ D. Riffe, Comparison of media and other sources of information for Alabama legislators, *Journalism Quarterly*, 65 (1988): 53.

²¹⁴ F. Baumgartner and B. Jones, *Agendas and Instability in American politics*, (Chicago: University of Chicago Press 1993): 276.

²¹⁵ R. Cobb and C. Elder, *Participation in American politics: The dynamics of agenda-building*, (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press 1972): 243.

²¹⁶ F. Berry and W. Berry, State lottery adoptions as policy innovations: An event history analysis, *Political Science Review* 84 (1990): 400.

²¹⁷ A. Davis, The evolution of the institution of mothers' pension n the United States, *American Journal of Sociology* 35 (1930): 577.

²¹⁸ V. Gray, Innovation in the states: A diffusion study, *American Political Science Review* 67 (1973): 1182.

²¹⁹ C. Mooney, Modeling regional effects on state policy diffusion, *Political Research Quarterly* 54 (2001): 113.

²²⁰ J. Walker, The diffusion of innovations among the American states, *American Political Science Review* 63 (1996): 885.

encourage them to turn to academic researchers for quality research without having to expand staff or spend much money. Studies have shown that legislative staffs are less likely to rely on information from academic sources because of the rigidity and inaccessibility of universities and colleges, coupled with the inordinate amount of time it takes most academic researchers to analyze data and publish results. Academics are most likely to have an effect if they can develop personal, informal relationships with legislators and their staff and thus be viewed as knowledgeable on specific issues.

Anecdotal evidence suggests that state legislators rely on additional sources of information which include the Internet, ethnic media outlets, grassroots organizations, ethnic associations, and a host of community and policy-related organizations and activities.

CHAPTER 4

METHODOLOGY

Case study is an ideal methodology for an in-depth investigation into the role interest groups played in allocating tobacco funding in Arkansas and Georgia. Case studies have been used in a variety of investigations, particularly in sociological studies. Yin, Stake, and others who have wide experience in this methodology have developed robust procedures that, when used, allow the researcher to utilize methods as well developed and tested as any in the scientific field. On the other hand, data collection and analysis methods are known to hide some details whether or not the study is experimental or quasi-experimental. Case studies, on the other hand, are designed to bring out the details from the viewpoint of the participants by using multiple sources of data. A review of the literature has identified at least four applications for a case study model:

- 1. To explain complex causal links in real-life interventions
- 2. To describe the real-life context in which the intervention has occurred
- 3. To describe the intervention itself
- 4. To explore those situations in which the intervention being evaluated has no clear set of outcomes. ²

¹ Robert Stake, *The art of case research* (Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications, 1995), 12.

² R. Yin, Applications of case study research (Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publishing, 1993), 21.

Yin has identified some specific types of case studies: Exploratory, Explanatory, and Descriptive.³ Research by Stake included three others: Intrinsic - when the researcher has an interest in the case; Instrumental - when the case is used to understand more than what is obvious to the observer; and Collective - when a group of cases is studied.⁴ Exploratory cases are sometimes considered as a prelude to social research. Explanatory case studies may be used for doing causal investigations. Descriptive cases require a descriptive theory to be developed before starting the project. In all of the above types of case studies, there can be single-case or multiple-case applications.

This research project will use the Explanatory-Exploratory type of case study. It will enable the researcher to review printed reports and interview the participants in an effort to answer the research question posed on the role of interest groups in allocating funds to blacks in Arkansas and Georgia. The unit of analysis is a critical factor in the case study. It is typically a system of action rather than an individual or group of individuals. Case studies tend to be selective, focusing on one or two issues that are fundamental to understanding the system being examined. In this research study, the unit of analysis will be tobacco prevention interest groups from Arkansas and Georgia.

Case studies are multi-perspectival analyses which mean that the researcher considers not only the voice and perspective of the actors, but also of the relevant groups

³ Ibid., 32.

⁴ Robert Stake, *The art of case research* (Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications, 1995), 44.

of actors and the interaction between them. This one aspect defines the key characteristic that case studies possess: they give a voice to the powerless and voiceless. Using Interest Group theory, the researcher will examine the following characteristics: Information, Recurrent Interaction with Policy makers, Large Dispersed membership, Quasi Unanimity, Organizational Resources, Electoral Resources, and Policy Niche/Coalition Leadership.

Case study is known as a triangulated research strategy. Snow and Anderson assert that triangulation can occur with data, investigators, theories, and even methodologies.⁵ Protocols that are used to ensure accuracy and alternative explanations are called triangulation.⁶ The need for triangulation arises from the ethical need to confirm the validity of the processes. In case studies, this could be done by using multiple sources of data. The problem in case studies is to establish meaning rather than location.

This research project will use two of the four types of triangulation identified by Denzin. ⁷Both Data source triangulation, occurring when the researcher looks for the data to remain the same in different contexts, and Methodological triangulation, in which one

⁵ J. Feagin, A. Orum, and G. Sjoberg, *A case for case study* (Chapel Hill, NC: University of North Carolina Press, 1991), 50.

⁶ Robert Stake, *The art of case research* (Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications, 1995), 60.

Nathan Denzin, *The research act* (Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall, 1984), 84.

approach is followed by another to increase confidence in the interpretation, will be used in this project.

The issue of generalization has appeared in the literature with regularity. It is a frequent criticism of case study research that the results are not widely applicable in real life. Yin in particular refuted that criticism by presenting a well constructed explanation of the difference between analytic generalization and statistical generalization: "In analytic generalization, previously developed theory is used as a template against which to compare the empirical results of the case study." The inappropriate manner of generalizing assumes that some sample of cases has been drawn from a larger universe of cases. Thus the incorrect terminology such as "small sample" arises, as though a single-case study were a single respondent. However in this research project, the dearth of literature in this area provides no clues to the number of cases that exist.

Stake argued for another approach centered on a more intuitive, empirically-grounded generalization. He termed it "naturalistic" generalization. His argument was based on the harmonious relationship between the reader's experiences and the case study itself. He expected the data generated by case studies would often resonate experientially with a broad cross section of readers, thereby facilitating a greater understanding of the

⁸ R. Yin, *Case study research: Design and methods* (1st ed.) (Beverly Hills, CA: Sage Publishing, 1984), 124.

⁹ Robert Stake, *The art of case research* (Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications, 1995), 46.

phenomenon. The researcher enters this project with the knowledge and understanding that only a small group of tobacco researchers may initially value its importance.

However, by using the Explanatory and Exploratory type of case study, the entire research community will understand the need and the areas for future research.

As in all research, consideration will be given to construct validity, internal validity, external validity, and reliability. ¹⁰ The researcher will establish construct validity using the single-case exploratory design, and establish internal validity using the single-case explanatory design. This research study will use multiple sources of evidence in the form of interviews and documents. The specification of the unit of analysis also provides the internal validity as the theories are developed and data collection and analysis test those theories. It is the development of a formal case study protocol that provides the reliability that is required of all research.

Each stage of the methodology will consist of a discussion of procedures recommended in the literature followed by a discussion of the application of those procedures in the proposed study:

- 1. Design the case study protocol:
 - a. determine the required skills
 - b. develop and review the protocol
- 2. Conduct the case study (will be shown in Chapter 5 of this research project):
 - a. prepare for data collection

¹⁰ R. Yin, Case study research: Design and methods (Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publishing, 1989), 34.

- b. conduct interviews
- 3. Analyze case study evidence (will be shown in Chapter 5 of this research project):
 - a. analytic strategy
- 4. Develop conclusions, recommendations, and implications based on the evidence (will be shown in Chapter 6 of this research project)

The following sections expand on each of the stages listed above, in the order in which they are executed in the current study. Each section begins with the procedures recommended in the literature followed by the application of the recommended procedure in the current study.

Application of Recommended Procedures

Yin presented three conditions for the design of case studies: a) the type of research question posed, b) the extent of control an investigator has over actual behavioral events, and c) the degree of focus on contemporary events. This type of research question justifies an exploratory study. Questions in this research are:

- Was there any change in the membership of tobacco prevention coalitions?
- Is membership diverse and representative of the black community?
- What are characteristics of the participating organizations, then and now?
- What role did the Black Caucus play in the process?
- What organizational and policy resources exist?
- What leadership exists in the coalition?
- What are the funding patterns?

The researcher will not have control over the behavioral events, which is a characteristic of case studies. The third condition, that was present in the Themba-Nixon

¹¹ Ibid., 92.

study and is evident in the current study, is that the events being examined are contemporary, although historic information was used.

Documents to be used in this research project will be direct interviews with participants, evaluation reports, and journal and newspaper articles. The validity of the documents will be carefully reviewed so as to avoid incorrect data being included in the data base. One of the most important uses of documents is to corroborate evidence gathered from other sources.

Interviews are one of the most important sources of this case study information.

The interview could take one of several forms: open-ended, focused, or structured. This will serve to corroborate previously gathered data. This research project will consist of a semi-structured interview that is designed to collect information that answers the questions listed above. Interviewees for this research project are as follows:

Arkansas

Kevin Dedner, Legislative Liaison, American Cancer Society, Arkansas Chapter Patty McLean, State Tobacco Program Manager

Letitia Daniels, Midwest Regional Consultant, The Campaign for Tobacco-free Kids Georgia

Kenneth Ray, State Tobacco Program Manager

June Deen, American Lung Association, Georgia Chapter

Kathleen Collomb, Dekalb County Tobacco Program Director

Kristen Copes. The American Cancer Society and State Tobacco Program Manager

Resources

As a staff member with the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's Office on Smoking and Health, the researcher has access to the Annual Reports from the years prior to and preceding the passage of legislation which guides the allocation of Master Settlement Agreement funds. Additionally, the researcher serves as a Program Consultant and has access to the actors involved with the policy development process in Arkansas and Georgia.

Limitations

The scope of this research is limited to an analysis of the role of interest groups in the allocation of master settlement agreement funds to communities of color. This research is not intended to evaluate the efficacy and benefits which are subsequent to this action. Any effort to make conclusions regarding the benefit, use, or capacity developed as a result of grants or contracts paid for with these funds is outside the scope of this research project.

The sudden and tragic death of Dr. Faye Boozman from an accident on his farm presents another void in this research. Dr. Boozman served as Director of the Arkansas Department of Health and was a key figure linking the public health community with the

legislative community. His experience as a legislator in the Arkansas General Assembly made him an asset during the entire process. He was the person responsible for adding language to the Arkansas legislation that prescribed a percentage of the funds to be dedicated to tobacco control in minority communities. He had spoken to the researcher with anticipation concerning this project and pledged his participation. His absence from this project will be greatly missed.

CHAPTER 5

DATA ANALYSIS

Characteristics of participating organizations

The Coalition for a Healthy Arkansas Today (CHART) is the statewide advocacy group for tobacco control and prevention in the state. In 2002, the original organization, consisting of over one hundred members, partnered with Governor Huckabee to ensure that Tobacco Master Settlement Agreement dollars were used to promote the health of Arkansans. Continuing under the leadership of Katherine Donald, the coalition characteristics remain very consistent with the original organization. The coalition members still consist of health professionals, health organizations and local community members from across the state.

Patty McLean, the Tobacco Program Manager, was one of the leaders of the early efforts to address tobacco use in Arkansas. Back then the coalition consisted of only a few committed groups such as the American Cancer Society, the State Medical Society and tobacco advocates. Prior to the CHART Coalition, the Coalition for a Tobacco-free Arkansas operated with minimum funding and focused primarily on youth tobacco use. The CHART Coalition began operating formally in 2000 just as talks of a

settlement with the tobacco industry appeared to be a possibility. It was Ms. McLean's belief that the major priority of the new CHART Coalition should be to recruit member organizations and identify key spokespersons. The CHART Coalition brought together partners from across the state who watched with interest, hoping that settlement dollars would provide needed funds to address the many health care needs in Arkansas.

Kevin Dedner, the Legislative Liaison for the American Cancer Society took the lead in developing the by-laws for the new CHART coalition (see appendix A). Officers were installed and regular monthly meetings were held in the offices of the American Cancer Society. With a unified desire of wanting to see the settlement funds used to improve the community, the membership of CHART represented a truly diverse group of individuals and organizations, some with vast health knowledge and others with community connections. The CHART Coalition continues to operate from these by-laws and the coalition's primary membership is listed in the section below.

The Coalition for a Healthy & Responsible Georgia (CHARGe) Coalition of Georgia was formed as an effort to achieve solidarity among health care providers across the state while offering support to the governor's plan for spending Georgia's portion of the Tobacco Master Settlement Agreement. The CHARGe Coalition successfully joined the combined resources of the Medical Association of Georgia, the medical colleges, and several other statewide health care-related organizations such as the Georgia Association of the American Lung Association and the American Cancer Society. The Coalition was

never formalized and by-laws were never established to govern the group's activities. However, the group met for the first time on October 26, 1999 and agreed to operate using three guiding principles:

- Two-thirds of all the tobacco settlement funds should go to health care;
- A mechanism should be identified to ensure the continuous dedication of settlement funds for health care purposes without the necessity to address the issue annually with Georgia's Legislature; and
- Any and all such tobacco settlement funds should be treated as new money
 coming into the state and not used to supplant existing state funds going to health
 care.

One of the first tasks of the Coalition was to define what the term "health care" meant in relation to the disbursement of the settlement funds. The coalition members each took responsibility to write position papers and host legislator lunches every opportunity available.

Membership

The American Lung Association, American Heart Association, the American

Cancer Society, and the Arkansas Medical Association continue to serve on the

Executive Committee of the coalition. In addition, all of the major health care

organizations, including hospitals, also continue to serve on the statewide coalition, while

the Arkansas Department of Health serves as an Ex-Officio member of the coalition. Below is a list that shows the coalition members in 1999 and 2006. Those in bold represent black members of the coalition.

1999	2006

Arkansas for Drug Free Youth	Arkansas for Drug Free Youth
American Cancer Society	American Cancer Society
American Heart Association	American Heart Association
American Lung Association	American Lung Association
American Academy of Pediatrics	American Academy of Pediatrics
Arkansas Department of Health	Arkansas Department of Health
University of Arkansas for Medical	University of Arkansas for Medical
Sciences	Sciences
American Stroke Association	American Stroke Association

Arkansas Medical Society Arkansas Medical Society

Arkansas Children's Hospital

Arkansas Hospital Association Arkansas Hospital Association

Arkansas Children's Hospital

Arkansas Education Association Arkansas Education Association Campaign for Tobacco-Free Kids Campaign for Tobacco-Free Kids Arkansas Municipal League Arkansas Municipal League Arkansas Chapter of the American Arkansas Chapter of the American College of Cardiology College of Cardiology Arkansas Alliance for Health, Arkansas Alliance for Health, Physical Education, Recreation & Dance Physical Education, Recreation & Dance Arkansas for Drug Free Youth/Union Arkansas for Drug Free Youth/Union County County City of Latino Rock & Mayor Jim Dailey City of Latino Rock & Mayor Jim Dailey Little Rock Coalition for Tobacco-Free Kids Little Rock Coalition for Tobacco-Free Kids Independence County Tobacco-Free Coalition Independence County Tobacco-Free Coalition North Arkansas Drug Awareness & Prevention North Arkansas Drug Awareness & Prevention Council Prevention Council Baxter County Juvenile Services Baxter County Juvenile Services

Tobacco-Free Coalition for Jonesboro	Tobacco-Free Coalition for Jonesboro	
Northwest Arkansas Tobacco-Free Coalition	Northwest Arkansas Tobacco-Free Coalition	
Highland Rebels Against Drugs	Highland Rebels Against Drugs	
Jefferson County Council for Church &	Jefferson County Council for Church &	
Social Action, Inc.	Social Action, Inc.	

The CHARGe Coalition in Georgia ceased to operate as a group in 2004 according to Kenny Ray, the Georgia Tobacco Program Manager. The American Heart Society, the American Lung Association and other members continued to advocate for Tobacco Master Settlement Agreement dollars to be used for health care. However, the American Cancer Society now promotes that the tobacco settlement dollars be used for cancer research along with tobacco prevention.

Diverse representation of the black community

The Arkansas CHART coalition has had African Americans as coalition members since the beginning as represented in the list above. The American Cancer Society was one the founding organizations of the coalition and was represented on the coalition by Kevin Dedner, an African American. In the early days of the coalition, Mr. Dedner and Ms. McLean recall that there was not a heavy focus on racial diversity. More concerned

that the tobacco funds be used for health care instead of roads, tax credits or education, few worried about the diversity of the coalition.

The Arkansans Gazette, Little Rock's largest newspaper, reported that the Black Legislative Caucus was actively promoting that the settlement dollars should be used to improve the health of blacks in the state. The Black Caucus had no members on the CHART Coalition formally; however, Kevin Dedner met regularly with Tracy Steele, a member of the House of Representatives and the Black Caucus. The Black Caucus had insisted that funds be specifically targeted for blacks and other minorities considering that these groups in particular were dying at disproportionate rates from cancer and other tobacco-related illnesses.

In Georgia, there was very little diversity in the coalition. Since the CHARGe Coalition was never formalized, there was never a true plan to recruit members or consider sustainability issues. The major voluntary organizations (American Cancer Society, American Lung Association and American Heart Association) and the state medical society elected to work with the tobacco advocates in the state to ensure the settlement dollars where allocated for health care. Letitia Daniels, the Southern Regional Coordinator for the Campaign for Tobacco-free Kids, assisted Arkansas and Georgia in the effort to have tobacco funds dedicated for tobacco prevention. She recalls often being the only black working on the Georgia effort. She says that while the organizations had

black members and represented health in the state, there was no overt effort to recruit others or to diversify.

Leadership

The Georgia and the Arkansas coalitions had leadership from the major voluntary organizations, the American Cancer Society, the American Heart Association and the American Lung Association. Both Patty McLean and Kenneth Ray recall each of the major voluntary organizations providing considerable leadership and resources to the coalition in their states. Staff from the American Heart, Lung and Cancer Associations hosted meetings, organized community events, and wrote press releases. Letitia Daniels attended most meetings and met with legislators while helping to coordinate the legislative advocacy campaign in both states. She reports that the Campaign conducted opinion polls and wrote 'swiss cheese' press releases that local advocates could add in their local statistics and information and send in to the local newspaper as part of a public education campaign.

In March of 2002 Katherine Donald, an African American, became the second Director of the Arkansas CHART Coalition. In the same year, Arkansas was awarded a grant from the Campaign for Tobacco-Free Kids under their Smokeless States Initiative. As a grantee, Arkansas became eligible to receive even more extensive guidance in program implementation to sustain and build on the momentum created in the state. Ms.

Donald recalls the coalition maintaining a list of legislators who supported funding tobacco prevention and supporting local tobacco prevention ordinances. The coalition would target the districts where legislators were either non-supporters or undecided for their media and promotion activities.

In Georgia, the coalition operated as a loose collection of organizations with a shared purpose, according to Kenneth Ray, the state tobacco program manager.² The coalition's leadership consisted mostly of the American Cancer Society and the American Lung Association. However, there was never any formal establishment of leadership roles and responsibility. Each organization was committed to see tobacco settlement agreement funds used for promoting health care and thus, the decision were made by consensus. The groups met frequently; however no formal minutes were kept.

Organizational and Policy Resources

Both Arkansas and Georgia benefited from national organizations that brought their resources and considerable experience to bear. The Campaign for Tobacco-Free Kids was led by Matt Myers, who led the national tobacco settlement negotiations with the tobacco industry. Matt's experience and knowledge of the tobacco industry tactics led the Campaign to implement regional coordinators to assist states by guiding state

Katherine Donald, interviewed by author, written notes, Pine Bluff, Ark., 13 May 2007.

Kenneth Ray, interviewed by author, written notes, Atlanta, GA, 22 September 2007.

tobacco programs in understanding and not under-estimating the tobacco industry's ability to influence local legislative outcomes. Letitia Daniels was the Campaign's Regional Coordinator for the Southern Region, which included Arkansas and Georgia. Letitia was a regular member of both state's coalition meetings. The Campaign provided funds to both states that were used to pay for advertising at local community events, such as minor league baseball parks, and the local newspapers. Additionally, Ms. Daniels brought considerable experience and understanding of the legislative process. With her recommendation, the Campaign paid for opinion polls and advertising space in newspapers, and funded the commission of studies that identified the impact of tobacco on the community's health.

The Office on Smoking and Health (OSH) was created to implement the National Tobacco Control and Prevention program. The Office on Smoking and Health provided funding to all states in an effort to reduce tobacco use in the United States. One of the major roles of OSH was to provide the nation with the science necessary to support prevention efforts. As a government agency, OSH could not advocate for any specific legislation at the federal or state level; however, it could provide legislatures with data and the rationale which they could use for decision-making. The Office on Smoking and Health required all its state funded programs to attend annual program meetings and trainings which were designed to build the infrastructure necessary for implementing a

tobacco prevention program. These meetings and trainings became an ongoing opportunity to increase the advocacy capacity of every state.

Patty McLean and Kenneth Ray stated that OSH became the first stop for data, media messages and help responding to the requests they were getting from their respective state legislatures. In 1999, the CDC released *Best Practices in Comprehensive Tobacco Control* Programs. This document provided the science for implementing a comprehensive tobacco prevention program. Additionally the *Best Practices* document provided each state with a clear description of each component of a comprehensive program and a minimum and upper range for funding required to implement the components. Records from the Office on Smoking and Health show that *Best Practices* became the centerpiece of testimony they would give to the Arkansas and Georgia Legislature.

The large voluntary organizations, the American Cancer Society, American Lung Association and the American Heart Association all had considerable experience organizing local communities. As such, they each had a developed network of constituents, doctors, nurses and other health professionals, many of whom were considered leaders in their communities. These networks leaders were used as spokespersons in getting the tobacco settlement funds dedicated for health care. The existing networks proved to be invaluable for garnering the support of the public.

In both states, framing the issue as promoting health care was essential. In Arkansas the issue was framed early on in a "Position Paper on Spending the Tobacco Settlement Funds in Arkansas" by Dr. Joseph Thompson and the Arkansas Center for Health Improvement Health Policy Board.³ This position paper was a clear illustration of how the funds would be spread across the partners. It allowed the partners to speak the same message and have a clear understanding of what was in it for each of them. By writing the exact percentages into the legislation, years later the partners could anticipate how the funds were to be split.

In Georgia, there was never any "position paper" that documented how the settlement dollars would be used. The Georgia Hospital Association's October 1999 newsletter points out that Governor Roy Barnes appeared before the Georgia Hospital Association convention on his first day in office January 1999 and stated that the money Georgia receives from the tobacco settlement "should be spent on health care and not on anything else." Two months later the governor revised his plan somewhat by calling for two-thirds of the funds to go to health care with the remaining one-third going towards rural economic development in Georgia. The CHARGe Coalition members agreed to continue to promote the governor's plan in hopes that the proposed two-thirds of the settlement would advance their cause.

³ Joseph Thompson, Arkansas Tobacco Settlement Proceeds Act of 2000: Results from Education and Engagement with Policy Makers and the Public, *Health Promotion Practice*, Supplement to July 2004 Vol. 5, No. 3, 58S.

In 2003, under the leadership of a new governor, Sonny Purdue, and faced with a budget deficit, the Georgia Legislature moved decisively in using the tobacco settlement funds to fund areas other than tobacco prevention. According to Kenneth Ray, the Georgia Tobacco Program Manager, the proposal to divert tobacco prevention funds for cancer research was the primary cause of the dissolution of the CHARGe coalition. June Dean of the Georgia Chapter of the American Lung Association echoes this point and recognizes the proposal to use tobacco prevention funds for cancer research as the first time the coalition seriously had to consider differing opinions on the use of the funds. She states prior to this proposal, all simply agreed in two principles, the funds are to be used for health care and tobacco prevention be funded at least to the Centers for Disease Control's minimum recommended funding.

The local organizations that were members of the state coalitions shared their resources for the good of the coalition. Minutes taken during the Arkansas CHART Coalition shows that meetings were regularly held in member hospitals across the state. Members developed talking points and traveled the state educating the public about the historic opportunity that lay ahead.

The Black Caucus

⁴ Kenneth Ray, interview by author, written notes, Atlanta, GA, 22 September 2007.

⁵ June Dean, interview by author, written notes, Atlanta, GA, 29 September 2007.

Kevin Dedner remembers his organization's early recognition of the impact tobacco settlement dollars could have on smoking prevalence and subsequently cancer rates. He stated that as the Legislative Liaison for the American Cancer Society his responsibility was to coordinate and implement the strategic legislative plan. He further admits that it was frustrating because as an African American, he wanted to push an agenda that guaranteed more funds for the black communities in the state. Kevin says that while the CHART coalition was a very transparent process, he and others where aware of additional meetings taking place between the Black Caucus and the state health department.

Patti McLean, the Arkansas Tobacco Program Manager during the settlement talks, recalls Dr. Boozman, the State Health Officer and Representative Steele of the Black Caucus meeting weekly to discuss changes to the CHART plan that would dedicate tobacco settlement funds for the black community. Dr. Boozman was no stranger to the legislative process. He had served as a State Senator prior to being selected by Governor Huckabee to lead the State's Department of Health. Dr. Boozman's experience as a legislator, a physician and leader of the state health department made him a key player in the state's negotiations because he had the respect of all the parties involved. Finally, Dr.

⁶ Kevin Dedner, interview by author, written notes, Pine Bluff, AR, 13 May 2007.

⁷ Ibid.

⁸ Patti McLean, interview with author, written notes, Atlanta, GA, 10 January 2007.

Boozman, had worked closely with Governor Huckabee to create the Healthy Arkansas Initiative.

Dr. Boozman worked quietly behind the scenes with the voluntary organizations, American Heart Association, American Lung Association and the American Cancer Society and the Black Caucus to support their shared prevention efforts. Mr. Steele and Dr. Boozman met weekly to discuss options that would ensure that the black community, the largest minority population in the state, received their fair share of the settlement. Patti McLean was often included in these meetings. She recalls Mr. Steele having very strong feelings that the national settlement had been won largely because of the horrid statistics of deaths of blacks from tobacco-related diseases. Thus, he felt blacks deserved specific consideration in any plans to spend the Arkansas Settlement dollars. It was one of these weekly meetings that Dr. Boozman and Mr. Steele developed a plan to take 15% of the settlement dollars and direct them to minority communities. It was important that the dollars be used to address tobacco use, prevent the tobacco industry's marketing tactics in minority communities, offer tobacco cessation, and prevent youth from ever starting. Additionally, both men saw the importance of developing the capacity and infrastructure of the community to address not only tobacco, but all health prevention.¹⁰

⁹ Ibid.

¹⁰ Ibid.

It was also during one of these meetings that Patti recalls the two agreed that responsibility to manage and provide oversight for the minority community dollars should be by a minority organization. After some thought, the two agreed that the University of Arkansas at Pine Bluff (UAPB), a Historically Black College and member of the state's university system was the best organization to implement the program. Ms. McLean says that UAPB President, Dr. Calvin Johnson's experience as a former Arkansas Legislator and member of the Black Caucus further confirmed this was the perfect organization to use. She stated that Mr. Steele spoke highly of Dr. Johnson and mentioned that Dr. Johnson's experience as a legislator would help to ensure that the program met the intent of the legislature to create capacity and infrastructure.

In Georgia, Kenneth Ray, the Tobacco Program Manager remembers no interaction with members of the Georgia Black Caucus.¹⁴ He says that the Georgia Black Caucus members were quite outspoken that the tobacco settlement funds be used for health care.¹⁵ However, there were no specific proposals introduced by the group that would have placed requirements on the spending of the money for black communities. In fact, the Atlanta Journal Constitution accounts agree with Mr. Ray's position in that

¹¹ Ibid.

¹² Patti McLean, interview with author, written notes, Atlanta, GA, 10 January 2007.

¹³ Ibid.

¹⁴ Kenneth Ray, interview by author, written notes, Atlanta, GA, 22 September 2007.

¹⁵ Ibid.

while there didn't appear to be an official position by the group, no one spoke against the plan advocated by the governor, which called for one-third of the settlement funds be used for comprehensive tobacco control. In fact, an article published on August 22, 1999 in the Atlanta Journal Constitution titled "Up For Grabs: Groups Are Jockeying For A Piece Of The State's Tobacco Settlement, But Anti-Smoking Forces Will Get None," the author points out that while groups jockeyed for the money, leaders such as the Governor and Kathleen Toomey, Director of the Health Department were not fighting for dollars to be used for tobacco control. In fact, the article points out that Governor Barnes had received more than \$51,000 in campaign funds from the tobacco industry and Dr.

Toomey hadn't requested an increase in funding from the 21-cents per capita, despite the federal government recommendations of \$5.00 per capita required to effectively implement a comprehensive tobacco prevention program.

Funding

Since the 1998 multi-state settlement, the Campaign for Tobacco Free Kids has issued regular reports assessing whether the states are keeping their promise to use a significant portion of their settlement funds, which are expected to total \$246 billion over the first 25 years. These funds are to be used to attack the enormous public health problem posed by tobacco use in the United States. Coalitions have become advocates for sustaining the state's commitment to tobacco prevention. Each of the coalitions are required to submit annual reports to the legislators whose district their programs serve.

All of the coalitions are expected to write editorials as earned media on a regular basis.

The bolded organizations on the tables represent organizations that report at least 50 percent of their service population to be African American. It is important to note that these funds are in addition to the 15 percent of the tobacco prevention funds administered by the Minority Initiative Sub-Recipient Grants Office (MISRGO) at the University of Arkansas at Pine Bluff.

In November 2000, Arkansans passed Initiated Act One (attachment G), which dedicates a portion of Arkansas' Master Tobacco Settlement revenue to tobacco prevention and cessation. The Arkansas Department of Health and Human Services (ADDHHS) has implemented a program to use these funds to reduce the use of tobacco and tobacco products in our state. Through the Minority Initiative Sub-Recipient Grant Office (MISRGO), the University of Arkansas at Pine Bluff (UAPB) is providing administrative oversight and program direction for the portion of the Arkansas Department of Health and Human Services Tobacco Prevention and Cessation fund designed to target Arkansas' minority populations. The University used the funds to support up to 15 community coalitions in minority communities and created the University of Arkansas at Pine Bluff's Center for the Study of Addiction Studies and scholarships for students selected for the program.

CHAPTER 6

CONCLUSION

The Arkansas Coalition for a Healthy Arkansas Today (CHART) and the Georgia Coalition for a Healthy & Responsible Georgia (CHARGe) are excellent examples of the influence advocacy groups can have on the political process. Both coalitions had a clear purpose for their existence. They existed to eliminate the burden caused by tobacco use on residents of their states. Both coalitions saw the unprecedented opportunity, the Master Settlement Agreement, as the source of necessary funds to battle the tobacco industry's efforts to add new users and keep existing smokers smoking. Each coalition's membership was made of a group of diverse individuals and organizations that wanted to implement a comprehensive program. The program was to be based on the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's Best Practices in Tobacco Control.

The members contributed to the coalitions' success in accomplishing its agenda by donating their resources. The three major voluntary health organizations- the American Cancer Society, the American Heart Association, and the American Lung Association- provided their experience, leadership and organization through their local affiliates. Their experience, legislative staff, and paid consultants were invaluable in

framing the issues, establishing a legislative agenda, and creating a cache which gave the coalition instant credability throughout the state. Members of the coalition contributed by writing editorials to the local newspapers, giving presentations at local civic group meetings, developing informational brochures and flyers, hosting local rallies, and donating funds to support more costly activities, such as radio and newspaper advertisements.

There was also considerable support in both states by the leading national tobacco prevention organizations. The Campaign for Tobacco Free Kids and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention provided ongoing support for the coalition's efforts. Their experts were available at all times for consultation and advice. They provided forums for states with similar realities to come together and learn from each other and share strategies. They provided testamony to legislative committees that supported the requests for using the Tobacco Master Settlement dollars for comprehensive tobacco control efforts. The Centers for Disease Control's Best Practices in Comprehensive Tobacco Control Programs became the authorative document for framing a comprehensive tobacco prevention program. This document was invaluable because it was simple enough that tobacco advocates at all levels could understand and follow it. Legislators trusted the science that was behind the document because it was from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

Members of the coalitions had a real incentive to join the coalition. Many believed their participation would result in funds being allocated to their organizations to further their community health missions. However, in the early stages of both states' efforts there was no attention given to the populations that were disproportionately effected by tobacco. These populations were not sought out to join the coalitions' efforts and members from these affected populations were not recruited to join the planning effort. No special attention was made to ensure messages appeared in minority targeted media outlets, nor were there any messages or talking points developed to specifically highlight the plight faced by these groups. In fact, the Arkansas Legislative Black Caucus had to resort to overt measures to be heard in the proceedings. It took the threat of legal action and ultimately a stalemate in the legislative process to enable their voices to be heard. Political party affiliation appeared to play no role in assisting the voices of African American's to be heard, since at the time Arkansas had a Republican Governor and Republican-led Legislature and Georgia had a Democratic Governor with a Republican-led Legislature.

The Arkansas Legislative Black Caucus eventually played an integral role in allocating funds from the Master Settlement Agreement to minority communities.

However, it is important to note that the Arkansas Legislative Black Caucus was never a member of the Arkansas CHART Coaltion. Its council and guidance was not sought or valued initially in the allocation of these state funds. As the article by Joe Thompson

points out, the Chart Coalition was by and for the leading health organizations in the state at the exclusion of African Americans and other ethnic minorities in the state. Nowhere in either Governor Huckabee's Plan or the Arkansas Legislature's Plan was the interest of minorities addressed. Neither plan included specific funding for minority communities that could be used to build capacity and infrastructure in those communities.

Surprisingly, this occurred despite blacks holding leadership positions in the CHART Coalition.

The Arkansas Legislative Black Caucus became a key player in the process when neither the Governor nor the Legislature had enough votes to secure passage of their plans. This gave the Arkansas Legislative Black Caucus the swing vote and thus a position to make its demands heard. It was at this time that the Arkansas Legislative Black Caucus and the blacks in leadership positions in the CHART Coalition began to work together to address the needs of the black community.

In Georgia, the Coalition for a Healthy & Responsible Georgia (CHARGe) was smaller but had the participation of many of the national partners that were active in Arkansas. As in Arkansas, the Georgia Legislative Black Caucus was never an active

¹ Joseph Thompson, Arkansas Tobacco Settlement Proceeds Act of 2000: Results from Education and Engagement with Policy Makers and the Public, *Health Promotion Practice*, Supplement to July 2004 Vol. 5, No. 3, 58S.

member in the CHARGe Coalition. While members of the CHARGe Coalition said the interest of the whole community was represented; they couldn't cite any efforts that were specifically targeted for minority communities.

This examination of the Arkansas and Georgia Legislative efforts to allocate its

Tobacco Master Settlement dollars is significant in that it demonstrates that interest
groups yield considerable power in the legislative process. They are effective vehicles
for developing an agenda and creating community support for a position. However, as
both the Arkansas and Georgia experience teaches us, they are not a garauntee of success
in the legislative process. Additionally, both state examples are important because they
demonstrate the strengths and plights of blacks in coalitions.

The Arkansas example demonstrates that having blacks in key leadership positions in a coalition does not ensure that the coalition will value the needs and interest of black communities. Coalitions have their own decision-making and priority-setting processes that can eliminate the wishes of one or a few of its members. Furthermore, the Arkansas example demonstrates that blacks in coalitions must act in concert with others both inside and outside of the formal coalition structure in order to achieve desired community outcomes.

The Georgia example is also important because it highlights that without those voices to call attention to the disenfranchised and the populations experiencing disparity,

no substantial efforts will be made to address their needs. There were no blacks in key leadership roles within the Georgia's Coalition for a Healthy & Responsible Georgia (CHARGe) Coalition. Georgia's Legislative Black Caucus was not a key player in the final decision on allocating the Master Settlement Funds and thus there were no specific efforts to use the funds to create capacity and infrastructure in minority communities.

Both states demonstrate how important it is to have a plan ready in advance that articulates the goals which you hope to achieve. Arkansas' Legislative Black Caucus benefitted greatly by having previously identified the University of Arkansas at Pine Bluff, a Historically Black College or University as an institution that had the infrastructure and capacity necessary to implement programs statewide. When the opportunity came to advocate for funds to address the unique needs of blacks and minority communities in the state, the Black Caucus had a plan that included programs and the implementation of infrastructure that would be necessary to thwart any challenges. This plan also had the full support of the full Caucus.

In Georgia, quite the opposite was seen. The absence of blacks or the minority community serving organizations effectively meant the black community had no voice in the allocation of the Master Settlement Agreement funds. There was never a plan developed, in advance or otherwise, that specifically articulated and addressed the needs of the black community.

An unexpected benefit of the considerable participation by African Americans in the leadership, planning, and implementation of the advocacy efforts was the development of leadership skills. There are several members of the coalition in both states who continue as active participants and serve in leadership roles. Katherine Donald, an African American member of the CHART Coalition has assumed the position of Executive Director. Kevin Debner, an original member of the CHART Coaliton and Legislative Director for the Arkansas chapter of the American Cancer Association has since unseccessfully run for a seat in the Arkansas General Assembly. While the development of leadership skills was not an area of analysis in this research project, the examples witnessed suggest more research should be conducted in the future to assess if there are specific skills that are learned in the process that leads to future leadership.

Overall, the case study has demonstrated that interest groups are dynamic with individuals and organizations coming in and out of the group throughout the lifespan of the coalition. The participation of members or the lack of participation plays an important role in the agenda setting, activities and subsequent decisions of the coalition. The members share their unique resources for the collective good of the coalition. In Arkansas, it was the participation of blacks, both in the coalition and the legislative process that led to 15% of the allocated tobacco funds being dedicated to benefit minority communities and administered by a Historically Black College or University. In Georgia, there was insufficient data to say conclusively that the absence of blacks on the coalition

or the limited participation of the Black Caucus led to no funds being dedicated to for black communities. However, this reseach project has shed light on the powerful role that coalitions play in allocating resources.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Access Arkansas. (2003). For the record: The Huckabee administration, 1996-2002. Retrieved October 20, 2006, from www.accessarkansas.ogr/governor/pdf/record.pdf.
- Aczel, A. (1996). Complete business statistics. New York: Richard Irwin.
- Aguinaga-Bialous, Stella, and Stanton Glantz. 1997. Tobacco Control in Arizona 1973-1997. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California. Arkansas Center for Health Improvement. (1999, February 9), Position paper on spending the tobacco settlement funds in Arkansas, Little Rock, AR: Author.
- American Lung Association. 2004. American Lung Association: State of Tobacco Control: 2003 [Online]. American Lung Association, 2003. http://lungaction.org/reports/overview03.html. Accessed May 27, 2004.Arkansas Chamber of Commerce. "House, Senate fail to agree on tobacco settlement plan." *Policy Watch*. Nov. 2000: 20-30.
- _____. 2005a. American Lung Association: State of Tobacco Control: 2004 [Online]. American Lung Association, 2004. http://lungaction.org/reports/tobacco-control04.html. Accessed February 5, 2005.
- _____. 2005b. State Legislated Action on Tobacco Issues [Online]. American Lung Association, http:// slati.lungusa.org/. Accessed February 5, 2005.
- Arkansas Minority Tobacco Prevention Summit 2000. (2000) Retrieved June 20, 2007, from www.onyx-group.com/Conference3.htm.
- Associated Press (2000, February 16). House panel rejects plan for tobacco fund. *Evansville Courier*. Retrieve June 20, 2007, from www.courierpress.com/cgibin/view.cgi?200002/16+tobacco02160_news.html+20000216.
- Aptheker, Herbert. American Negro Slave Revolts. New York: International Publishers, 1969.

- Austin-Lane, Joy, Deborah Girasek, and Galen Barbour. 2004. "A Qualitative Study of Post-Settlement Influences on State Tobacco Control Funding." Health Promotion Practices 5 (3): 46S-56S.
- Austin-Smith, David, and John R. Wright. 1994. Counteractive Lobbying. *American Journal of Political Science* 38: 25-44.
- Ayers, William. "We Who Believe in Freedom Cannot Rest Until It's Done: Two Dauntless Women of the Civil Rights Movement and the Education of a People." Harvard Educational Review 59 (Nov. 1989): 520-28.
- Bachrach, Peter, and Morton Baratz. 1962. "The Two Faces of Power." American Political Science Review 56: 947-52.
- Baker, E., Stevens, B. A., Schecter, S.I. & Wright, H.A.. Federal grants, national interest and state response: A review of theory and research. Philadelphia: Center for the Study of Federalism, Temple University 1974.
- Balbach, Edith D., Michael P. Traynor, and Stanton A. Glantz. 2000. The Implementation of California's Tobacco Tax Initiative: the Critical Role of Outsider Strategies in Protecting Proposition 99. *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law* 25:689-715.
- Bardach, E. *The implementation game* Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1977.
- Barnello, M. Gender and roll-call voting in the New York state assembly. *Women and Politics* 20 (1999): 77-94.
- Baumgartner, Frank, and Bryan Jones. 1991. "Agenda Dynamics and Policy Subsystems." The Journal of Politics 53 (4): 1044-74.
- Baumgartner, Frank and Beth L. Leech. 1998 *Basic Interests: The importance of Groups in Politics and Political Science*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Becker, Gary S. 1983. A Theory of Competition among Pressure Groups for Political Influence. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 98: 371-400.
- Beer, S. H. Federalism, nationalism, and democracy in America. *American Political Science Review*, (March 1978): 72.
- Beer, S.H. The modernization of American federalism. *Publius: The Journal of Federalism.* 3 (Winter 1973): 49-95.

- Begay, Michael, and Stanton Glantz. 1995. Question 1: Tobacco Education Outlays from the 1994 Fiscal Year to the 1996 Fiscal Year. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.
- Berry, F. and Berry, W. State lottery adoptions as policy innovations: An event history analysis. *Political Science Review* 84 (1990): 395-415.
- Bialous, Stella, and Stanton Glantz. 1999. "Arizona's Tobacco Control Initiative Illustrates the Need for Continuing Oversight by Tobacco Control Advocates." Tobacco Control 8: 141-51.
- Bialous, Stella, Brion Fox, and Stanton Glantz. 2001. "Tobacco Industry Allegations of 'Illegal Lobbying' and State Tobacco Control." American Journal of Public Health 91 (1): 62-7.
- Blais, Andre, Donald Blake, and Stephanie Dion. 1993. Do Parties Make a Difference? Parties and the Size of Government in Liberal Democracies. *American Journal of Political Science* 37: 40-62.
- Blumenstyk, G. (1994, November). Colleges struggle to develop formal strategies to pay for computing. *Chronicle of Higher Education*, 41(10), A44-45.
- Bohte, J. & Meier, J. The marble cake: Introducing federalism to the government growth equation. *Publius: The Journal of Federalism*, 30 (Spring 2000): 35-46.
- Boyd, Herb. "Radicalism and Resistance: The Evolution of Black Radical Thought"The Black Scholar 28 (2001) 44.
- Brown, Robert D. 1995. Party Cleavages and Welfare Effort in the American States. *American Political Science Review* 89:23-33.
- Brummett, J. (2000, September 17). Playing angles with tobacco money. *Log Cabin Demoncrat of Conway, Arkansas*, p.B7.
- Budget of the United States Government. Fiscal Year 2006. http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/budget/fy2006/. Accessed November 2006.
- Burstein, Paul, and April Linton. 2002. The Impact of Political Parties, Interest Groups, and Social Movement Organizations on Public Policy: Some Recent Evidence and Theorical Concerns. *Social Forces* 81: 380-408.
- Bybee, C. and Comadena, M. Information sources and state legislators: Decision-making and dependency. *Journal of Broadcasting* 28 (1984): 333-341.

- California Environmental Protection Agency, Air Resources Board. 2006. Proposed Identification of Environmental Tobacco Smoke as a Toxic Air Contaminant. Sacramento, CA: Air Resource Board of California.
- Campaign For Tobacco Free Kids. 2004. Special Reports: State Tobacco Settlement [Online]. Campaign For Tobacco Free Kids, 2003. http://www.tobaccofreekids.org/reports/settlements/. Accessed May 27, 2004.
- Carmichael, Stokely. Stokely Speaks: A Black Power Back to Pan Africanism. New York: Vintage, 1971.
- Catlin, A., C. Cowan, S. Heffler, B. Washington. National health spending in 2005: the slowdown continues. Health Aff (2007); 26: 142-153.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (1999). Best practices for comprehensive tobacco control programs—August 1999. Atlanta GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Office on Smoking and Health. (2000). *Current cigarette smoking among adults aged 18 and older*. Retrieved June 22, 2007, from www.cdc.gov/tobacco/statehi/html.2002/current.2000.htm.
- Chaloupka, Frank, Michael Cummings, Chris Morley, and Judith Horan. 2002. "Tax, Price and Cigarette Smoking: Evidence from the Tobacco Documents and Implications for Tobacco Company Marketing Strategies." Tobacco Control 11: 62i-72i.
- Chernick, H. Block grants for the needy: The case of AFDC. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 1 (1982): 209-222.
- Chubb, J. E. The political economy of federalism. *American Political Science Review*, 79 (Winter 1985): 994-1015.
- Cigler, Alan J. and Burdett A. Loomis. 1995. Contemporary Interest Group Politics: More Than "More of the Same." In *Interest Group Politics*, 4th ed., ed. Allan J. Cigler and Durdett A. Looms, 393-406. Washington, DC: Congressional Quarterly Press.
- Clarke, John Henrik. Africans at the Crossroads Notes for an African World Revolution. Trenton, New Jersey: Africa World Press, 1991.

- Cleaver, Kathleen Neal. "The Education of Kathleen Neal Cleaver (In Conversation)." Transitions 77 (1998): 172-195.
- Coalition on Smoking or Health. 1990. State Legislated Action on Tobacco Issues. Washington, DC: Coalition on Smoking on Health.
- Cobb, R. and Elder, C. *Participation in American politics: The dynamics of agenda-building.* Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press 1972.
- Collins, Patricia Hill. Black Feminist Thought. Boston: Unwin Hyman, 1990.Computer User Group, Fairfield University. (1993). *A plan for the strategic implementation, use and development of a university-wide computing environment.* Fairfield, CT: Fairfield University.
- Conlan, T. And the beat goes on: Intergovernmental mandates and preemption in an era of deregulation. *Publius: The Journal of federalism* 21 (Spring 1991): 43-57.
- Conlan, T. From new federalism to devolution: Twenty-five years of intergovernmental reform. Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution Press 1998
- Conlan, T. New federalism: Intergovernmental reform from Nixon to Reagan. Washington, D.C.: The Brookings Institution, 1998.
- Corwin, E.S. A constitution of powers and modern federalism. Edited by R.G. McGloskey, *Essays in Constitutional Law.* New York: Knoopf 1962.
- Cross, T., Bazron, B., Dennis, K., & Isaacs, M. (1989). *Towards a culturally competent system of care* (Vol. 1). Washington, DC: Georgetown University Child Development Center, Child Adolescent Services System Technical Assistance Center.
- Dahl, Robert. 1978. "Pluralism Revisited." Comparative Politics 10 (2): 191-203.
- _____. 1982. Dilemmas of Pluralist Democracy. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- . 1996. "Equality Versus Inequality." PS: Political Science & Politics 29 (4): 639-48.
- Danziger, J. (1985). Social science and the social impacts of computer technology. *Social Science Quarterly*, 66, 1.

- Davis, A. The evolution of the institution of mothers' pension in the United States. *American Journal of Sociology* 35 (1930): 573-582.
- Derthick, M. New towns in-town. Washington, DC: Urban Institute Press, 1972.
- Dear, R. and Patti, R.J. Legislative advocacy: Seven effective tactics. *Social Work* (1981): 289-296.
- Dearlove, Joanna, and Stanton Glantz. 2000. Tobacco Industry Political Influence and Tobacco Policy Making in New York. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.
- Deitch, K. (1994, May 1). A price war for higher education. *Change*, 26(3), 53-54.
- DeLoughry, T., Wilson, D. (1994, June 22). Is new technology worth it?. *Chronicle of Higher Education*. 40(42), A19, A21. Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. N Engl J Med 2002; 346: 393-403.
- Denzin, N. (1984). The research act. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- DePalma, A. (1991, November 27). As a deficit looms, 26 threaten to quit key Columbia posts. *New York Times*, 141(48797), A1.Derthick, Martha. 2005. Up in Smoke: From Legislation to Litigation in Tobacco Politics, 2nd ed. Washington, DC: CQ Press.
- Dixon, Lee, and James Cox. State Management and Allocation of Tobacco Settlement Revenue, 2002. Washington, DC: National Conference of State Legislatures.
- Dixon, Richard D, Roger C. Lowery, Diane E. Levy, and Kenneth F. Ferraro. 1991. Self-Interest and Public Opinion toward Smoking Policies: A Replication and Extension. *Public Opinion Quarterly* 55:241-254.
- Donahue, J. Disunited states. New York: Basic Books, 1997.
- Downs, A. 1957. An Economic Theory of Democracy. New York: Harper and Row.
- Du Bois, W.E.B. The Souls of Black Folk. New York: W.W. Norton, 1999.
- Dye, T. American federalism: Competition among governments, Lexington, MA: Lexington Books. 1990.

- Easton, David. 1965. A Systems Analysis of Political Life. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Edner, Shelton. Surface Transportation Funding in a New Century: Assessing One Slice of the Federal Marble Cake. *Publius: The Journal of federalism* 32 (Winter 2002): 7.
- Eismeier, T.J. 1982. Public Preferences about Government Spending: Partisan, Social, ad Attitudinal Sources of Policy Differences. *Political Behavior* 4:133-145.
- Elazar, D. J. The American partnership: Intergovernmental cooperation in the nineteenth century. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1962.
- Ellison, B. A. Intergovernmental relations and the advocacy coalition framework: The operation of federalism in Denver Water Politics. *Publius: The Journal of Federalism.* 28, (Winter 1988): 35-54.
- Entin, K. Information exchange in Congress: The case of the House Armed Services Committee. *Western Political Quarterly* 26 (1973): 427-439.
- Erikson, Robert S., Gerald C. Wright, and John P. McIver. 1989. Political Parties, Public Opinion, and State Policy in the United States. *American Political Sciences Review* 83: 729-750.
- Evangelauf, J. (1992, March 11). At public colleges more double digit tuition growth. *Chronicle of Higher Education*, *38*(27), 29,32.
- Ezell, M. *Advocacy in human services*. Stamford. CT: Brooks/Cole 2001.
- Fairfield University Controller. (1995). Analysis of revenue and expenditures from fiscal year 1989 1995. Fairfield, CT: Fairfield University.
- Feagin, J., Orum, A., & Sjoberg, G. (Eds.). (1991). A case for case study. Chapel Hill, NC: University of North Carolina Press.
- Federation of Tax Administrators. 2004. State Excise Tax Rates on Cigarettes (January 1, 2004) [Online]. Federation of Tax Administrators, 2004. http://www.taxadmin.org/fta/rate/cigarett.html. Accessed May 27, 2004.
- Feldstein, Paul J. 1977. *Health Associations and the Demand for Legislation: The Political Economy of Health.* Cambridge, MA: Ballinger.

- Fintor, Lou. 1999. Critics Feel States May Misspend Their Tobacco Windfall. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 91: 1356-1358.
- Foeman, Anita K. "Gloria Richardson: Breaking the Mold." Journal of Black Studies 26 (May 1996): 604-15.
- Forliti, A. (2000, March 4). Measure to allocate tobacco settlement money approved. *Messenger Inquirer* (Owensboro, KY). Retrieved June 20, 2007, from www.tcsg.org/tobacco/settlement/indiana.htm.
- Frederickson, George. A Comparative History Ideologies in the United States and South Africa. New York: Oxford University Press, 1995.
- Gaillard, A. W., Thornton, A.E., & Bryant, B. (2002, November 19). Freeing minority communities from the tobacco industry's hold. Paper presented at the 2002 National Conference on Tobacco or Health, San Francisco, CA. Retrieved June 22, 2007, from http://ncth.confex.com/ncth/2002/techprogram/paper_6501.htm.
- Gamkhar, Shama, and Shao-Chee Sim. 2001. "The Impact of Federal Alcohol and Drug Abuse Block Grants on State and Local Government Substance Abuse Program Expenditures." Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law 26: 1261-90.
- Gant, LeVerne. "Passing the Torch: African American Women in the Civil Rights Movement." Journal of Black Studies 26 (May 1996) 629-47.
- Garrett, R. (2003, July 23). Settlement aids several programs. *Southwest (AR) Times Record*. Retrieved June 22, 2007, from www.swtimes.com/archive/2003/July/13/Insight/settleaids.html.
- Garrow, David. "A Circle of Trust: Remembering SNCC." The Journal of American History 85 (Mar 1999): 1672-4.
- Geewax M. Bernanke says fiscal 'storm' is coming: Social Security and Medicare benefits strain federal budget. San Francisco Chronicle. January 19, 2007.
- Giddings, Paula. When and Where I Enter: The Impact of Black Women on Race and Sex in America. New York: Morrow, 1994.
- Givel, Michael, and Stanton Glantz. 1999. Tobacco Industry Political Power and Influence in Florida from 1979 to 1999. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.

- 2000a. "Failure to Defend a Successful State Tobacco Control Program: Policy Lessons from Florida." American Journal of Public Health 90 (5): 762-67.
 2000b. The Public Health Undermined: The Tobacco Industry's Legacy in Missouri in the 1990's. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies.
 2001a. "Tobacco Lobby Political Influence on U.S. State Legislatures in the 1990s." Tobacco Control 10: 124-34.
 2001b. Tobacco Policy Making in California 1999-2001: Stalled and Adrift. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.
 2002. Political Reform and Tobacco Control Policy Making in Mississippi from 1990 to 2001. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.
 2004-2005. Political Insiders without Grassroots Advocacy in the Administration of a Missouri Tobacco Control Youth Access Program." Public Integrity 7 (1): 5-19.
- Givel, Michael, Joanna Dearlove, and Stanton Glantz. 2001. Tobacco Policy Making in California 1999-2001: Stalled and Adrift. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.
- Glantz, Stanton, and Edith Balbach. 2000. Tobacco War: Inside the California Battles. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Gleick, James. 1987. Chaos: Making a New Science. New York: Penguin Books.
- Glendening, P. N. & Reeves, M. *Pragmatic federalism*, 2^d ed. Pacific Palisades, CA: Palisades Publishers, 1984.
- Goldstein, Adam, Joanna Cohen, Brian Flynn, Nell Gottlieb, Laura Solomon, Greg Dana, Karl Bauman, and Michael Munger. 1997. "State Legislators' Attitudes and Voting Intentions Toward Tobacco Control Legislation." American Journal of Public Health 87 (7): 1197-200. Goldstein, Adam, Joanna Cohen, Brian Flynn, Nell Gottlieb, Laura Solomon, Greg Dana, Karl Bauman, and Michael Munger. 1997. "State Legislators' Attitudes and Voting Intentions Toward Tobacco Control Legislation." American Journal of Public Health 87 (7): 1197-200.
- Gostlin, L.O., (2002). *Public health law and ethics: A reader*. Berkeley and New York: University of California Press and Milbank Memorial Fund.

- Gould, Stephen, and Niles Eldredge. 1977. "Punctuated Equilibrium: The Tempo and Mode of Evolution Reconsidered." Paleobiology 3: 115-51.
- Gray, V. Innovation in the states: A diffusion study. *American Political Science Review* 67 (1973): 1174-1193.
- Gray, V. and Lowery, D. Where do policy ideas come from? A study of Minnesota legislators and staffer. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 10 (2000): 573-597.
- Grodzins, Morton. *The Federal System, Goals for Americans*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1960.
- Grodzins, Morton. *The American system: A new view of government in the United States*, Chicago, IL: Rand-McNally, 1966.
- Grogan, Colleen M. 1994. Political-Economic Factors Influencing State Medicaid Policy. *Political Research Quarterly* 47: 589-622.
- Gross, Gary P., Benny Soffer, Peter B. Bach, Rahul Rajkumar and Howard P. Forman. 2002. State Expenditures for Tobacco-Control Programs and the Tobacco Settlement. *New England Journal of Medicine* 347: 1080-1086.
- Grossman, Gene., and Elhanan Helpman. 2002. Electoral Competition and Special Interest Politics. In *Interest Groups and Trade Policy*, ed. G.M. Grossman and E. Helpman, 43-72. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Hamlet, Janice D. "Fannie Lou Hamer: The Unquenchable Spirit of the Civil Rights Movement." Journal of Black Studies 26 (May 1996): 560-76.
- Hayes, S. and Glick, H. The role of agenda setting in policy innovation. *American Politics Quarterly* 25 (1997): 497-516.
- Haynes, K. and Mickelsen. J.S. *Affecting change: Social workers in the political arena*, 5th ed. Boston: Allyn & Bacon 2003.
- Headen, S.W., Robinson, R.G. Tobacco: from slavery to addiction. In: Braithwaite RL, Taylor SE, eds. Health issues in the black community. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Inc, 2001: 347-83.
- Healton, C.G. (2003, January 22). *Tobacco control and the settlement agreement*. Paper presented at the 2003 National Health Policy Conference in Washington, DC.

- Retrieved June 20, 2007, from www.academyhealth.org/nhpc/presentations/healton.pdf.
- Hedge, D., Scicchitano, M. & Metz, P. "The principal-agent model and regulatory federalism," *Western Political Quarterly*, 44 (1991): 1055-1080.
- Helland, E. Environmental protection in the federalist system: The political economy of NPDES inspections. *Economic Inquiry*, 36 (1998): 305-319.
- Hepworth, D. and Larson, J. *Direct social work practice: Theory and skills.* Chicago: Dorsey Press 1986.
- Herring, M. Legislative responsiveness to black constituents in three Deep South states. *Journal of Politics* 52 (1990): 740-758.
- Hines, J. & Thaler, R. The flypaper effect. *Journal of Economic Perspective*, 9 (1995): 217-226.
- hooks, b. Feminist Theory: From Margin to Center. Boston: South End Press, 1984.
- Hotelling, H. 1929. Stability in Competition. *Economic Journal* 39: 41-57.
- Huckabee, M. (2002 summer). State budget shortfalls and Arkansas' strategies. Spectrum, The Journal of State Government, 75, 32-34.
- Hutchinson, Earl Ofari. Blacks and Reds: Race and Class in Conflict 1991-1990. East Lansing: Michigan State University Press, 1995.
- Ibrahim, Jennifer K., and Stanton A. Glantz. 2003. Tobacco Policy Making in California 2001-2003: No Longer Finishing First. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.
- Indiana Minority Health Coalition/About Us. (2003). Retrieved June 20, 2007, from www.imhc.org/About%20Us?AU1.htm.
- Indiana State Legislature. (2000, February 1). Brown: House tobacco settlement plan offers best methods of relief. Retrieved June 20, 2007 from www.in.gov/legislative/hdpr/R3_02012000.html#.
- Indiana Tobacco Prevention and Control. (2001, October 19). *Indiana statistics [News Release]*. Retrieved June 22, 2007, from www.state.in.us/itpc/NewsDetail.asp?NewsID=9.

- Indiana Tobacco Prevention and Control. (2002). *Indiana Tobacco Prevention and Control annual report*. Retrieved June 20, 2007, from www.in.gov/itpc/Images/annual.pdf.
- Indiana Tobacco Prevention and Control. (2002, March 20). ITPC, IBE join forces to reduce tobacco us in minority communities [Press Release]. Retrieved June 20, 2007, from www.in.gov/itpc/NewsDetail.asp?NewsID=17.
- Ingram, H. Policy implementation through bargaining: The case of federal grants-in aid. *Public Policy*, 23 (1977): 499-526.
- Jacobson, Peter D. and Kenneth E. Warner. 1999. Litigation and Public Health Policy Making: the Case of Tobacco Control. *Journal of health Politics, Policy and Law* 24:769-804.
- Jacoby, W.G. 1994. Public Attitudes toward Government Spending. *American Journal of Political Science* 38: 335-361.
- Jansson, B.S. *Becoming an effective policy advocate: From policy practice to social justice.* 3rd ed. Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole 1999.
- Jones, Bryan, Frank Baumgartner, and James True. 1998. "Policy Punctuations: U.S. Budget Authority, 1947-1995." The Journal of Politics 60 (1): 1-33.
- Jones, C. *Clean air: The policies and politics of pollution control*. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press, 1975.
- Katz, William Loren. Black Indians. New York: Amos Press. 1969.
- Kershaw, J. M."AAPI youth tobacco use: A comparative analysis of current cigarette use data from Florida, Texas, and National Youth Tobacco Surveys." *Asian American Pacific Islander Journal of Health* 9 (2001): 25-33.
- Kincaid, J. From cooperative to coercive federalism. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 509 (1990):139-152.
- Kincaid, J. The devolution tortoise and the centralization hare. *New England Economic Review*, June/July 1998.
- King, J., & Kraemer, K. (1985). *The dynamics of computing*. New York: Columbia University Press.

- Kingdon, J. Congressmens' voting decisions, 3rd ed. New York: Harper & Row 1989.
- Kirby, Sandra L, Greaves, Lorraine, and Reid, Colleen. *Experience Research Social Change: Methods Beyond the Mainstream.* 2d ed. Toronto: Broadview Press, 2006.
- Kronebusch, Karl. Matching Rates and Mandates: Federalism and Children's Medicaid Enrollment. 32 *The Policy Studies Journal* (2004): 317.
- Kovenock, D. Influence in the U.S. House of Representatives: A statistical analysis of communications. *American Politics Quarterly* 1 (1973): 407-464.
- Kousser, Thad. 2002. The Politics of Discretionary Medicaid Spending. 1980-1993. Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law 27:639-671.
- Lakdawalla, D.N., Goldman, D.P. and Shang, B. The health and cost consequences of obesity among the future elderly. *Health Aff 2005*; (suppl 2).
- Legro, Jeffrey. 2000. "The Transformation of Policy Ideas." American Journal of Political Science 44 (3): 419-32.
- Levy, S. (1988). *Information technologies in universities: An institutional case study*. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Northern Arizona University, Flagstaff.
- Lewis, B. and Ellefson, P. Evaluating information flows to policy committees in state legislatures: Forest and natural resources as a case. *Evaluation Review* 66 (1996): 29-48.
- Lewis, David Levering. A Bibliography of W.E.B. Du Bois. New York: International Publishers, 1990.
- Lindblom, Charles. 1977. Politics and Markets. New York: Basic Books.

 ______. 1982a. "Another State of Mind." American Political Science Review 76 (1): 9-21.

 _____. 1982b. "The Market as Prison." Journal of Politics 44 (2): 324-36.

 _____. 1983. "Comment on Manley." American Journal of Political Science 77 (2): 384-86.
- Loehlin, J. (1992). Latent variable models. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

- Long-Range Planning Committee. (1992). *The long range plan 1993-1998*. Fairfield, CT: Fairfield University.
- Lovell, C. et al., Federal and state mandating on local governments: An exploration of issues and impacts. Riverside, CA: Graduate School of Administration, University of California, Riverside. 1979.
- Lowi, T. J. The end of liberalism, 2^d ed. New York: Norton, 1979.
- MacManus, S. "Mad" about mandates: The issue of who should pay for what resurfaces in the 1990s. *Publius: The Journal of federalism*, 21 (Spring 1991): 59-74.
- MacRae, D. Jr. The university and the utility of policy analysis. *Policy Studies* 5 (1976):286-288.
- Madison, James. The Federalist Papers Number 37 From the Daily Advertiser January 11, 1788, Located at http://www.foundingfathers.info/federalistpapers.
- Madison, James. The Federalist Papers Number 38 From the New York Packet January 15, 1788, Located at http://www.foundingfathers.info/federalistpapers.
- Madison, James. The Federalist Papers Number 39 From the Independent Journal 1788, Located at http://www.foundingfathers.info/federalistpapers.
- Madison, James. The Federalist Papers Number 43 From the New York Packet January 18, 1788. Located at http://www.foundingfathers.info/federalistpapers.
- Maggiotto, M.A., and J.E. Pierson. 1977. Partisan Identification and Electoral Choice: The Hostility Hypothesis. *American Journal of Political Science* 21: 745-767.
- Magzamen, Sheryl, and Stanton Glantz. 1999. Turning the Tide: Tobacco Industry Political Influence and Tobacco Policy Making in California 1997-1999. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.
- Manley, John. 1983. "Neo-Pluralism: A Class Analysis of Pluralism I and Pluralism II." American Political Science Review 77 (2): 368-83.
- Mannix, Danial, and Malcolm Cowley. A History of the Atlantic Slave Trade. New York: Penguin Books, 1976.
- Matthews, D. and Stimson, J. Yeas and Nays: Normal decision-making in the U.S. House of Representatives. New York: John Wiley and Sons 1998.

- Mayo, C. and Perlmutter, D. Media use and disuse by state legislators. *Journal of Business and Technical Communication* 12 (1988): 71-88.
- McGinnis, John O. and Somin, I. Federalism vs. State's Rights: A Defense of Judicial Review in a Federal System. *Northwestern Law Review* 99 (Fall 2004): 92.
- McGloskey, R. G. A constitution of powers and modern federalism. Corwin, E. S. *Essays in Constitutional Law*, New York: Knoopf, 1962. 188-189.
- McLean, J. E. *Politics is what you make it*. Public Affairs Pamphlet No. 181. Washington, D.C. Public Affairs Press, 1952.
- Melnick, R. Shepp. 1999. Tobacco Litigation: Good for the Body but Not the Body Politic. *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law* 24: 805-810
- Miles, M., & Huberman, M. (1984). *Qualitative data analysis: A source book for new methods*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage Publications.
- Monardi, Fred, and Stanton Glantz. 1996. Tobacco Industry Political Activity and Tobacco Control Policy Making in Washington: 1983-1996. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.
- _____. 1997a. Tobacco Industry Political Activity and Tobacco Control Policy Making in New Jersey: 1982-1995. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.
- _____. 1997b. Tobacco Industry Political Activity and Tobacco Control Policy Making in Pennsylvania. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.
- _____. 1998a. Tobacco Industry Political Activity and Tobacco Control Policy Making in Ohio. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.
- _____. 1998b. Tobacco Industry Political Activity and Tobacco Control Policy Making in Wisconsin: 1983-1998. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.
- Monardi, Fred, Amanda O' Neill, and Stanton Glantz. 1996. Tobacco Industry Political Activity in Colorado. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.

- Morley, Chris, Michael Cummings, Andrew Hyland, Gary Giovino, and Judith Horan. 2002. "Tobacco Institute Lobbying at the State and Local Levels of Government in the 1990s." Tobacco Control 11 (Supplement 1): i102-i109.
- Morgan, G. Images of organization, 2^d ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage, 1997.
- Morgan, K. L., Morgan, S. and Quitno, N. *Health care state rankings 1998*. Lawrence, KS: Morgan Quitno Press 1998.
- Moritz, R. (2003, January 18). Anti-smoking campaign working, health official say. *Morning news of Northwest Arkansas*. Retrieved June 20, 2007, from www.mornews.com/277648215366489.bsp.
- Mooney, C. Modeling regional effects on state policy diffusion, *Political Research Quarterly* 54 (2001): 103-124.
- Moore, Richard B. Afro-American and Radical Politics. New York: International Publishers, 1995.
- Moore, Stephen, Sidney M. Wolfe, Deborah Lindes, and Clifford E. Douglas. 1994. Epidemiology of failed Tobacco Litigation. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 272: 1171-1175.
- Naison, Mark. Communist in Harlem during the Depression. Urbana: University of Illinois, 1983.
- Nance, Teresa A. "Hearing the Missing Voice." Journal of Black Studies 26 (May 1996): 543-559.
- Nathan, R. The "devolution revolution": An overview. *In Rockefeller Institute Bulletin* Albany, NY: Nelson A. Rockefeller Institute of Government, 1996: 5-13.
- Nixon, Meredith, and Stanton Glantz. 2002. Tobacco Industry Political Activity and Tobacco Control Policy Making in Texas: 1980-2002. San Francisco: Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California.
- Office of Smoking and Health. 2000. CDC's STATE: Tobacco Map Reports [Online]. National Center for Disease Control and Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers of Disease Control and Prevention, 1999. http://www2.cdc.gov/nccdphp/osh/state/. Accessed June 8, 2000.

- Olson, Mancur, Jr. 1965. *The Logic of Collective Action*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Parks, Rosa. Rosa Parks: My Story. New York: Dial Books, 1992.
- Persson, T. and G. Tabellini. 2002. Political Economics and Public Finance. In *Handbook of Public Economics*, vol.3,ed. A.J. Auerbach M. Feldstein, 1549-1659.

 Amsterdam: Elsevier Science.
- Pertschuk, Michael. Smoke in Their Eyes: Lessons in Movement Leadership from the Tobacco Wars. Nashville: Vanderbilt Press, 2001.
- Pertschuk, Michael. 1992. Smoking Gun Speaks: The Tobacco Industry's Buy America Strategy. Paper read at Seventh National Conference on Chronic Disease Prevention and Control, Salt Lake City, UT.
- Peterson, Mark A. 1993. Political Influence in the 1990s: From Iron Triangles to Policy Networks. *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law* 18(2) 395-438.
- Peterson, P. The price of federalism. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press, 1995.
- Philip Morris Tobacco Company. 1995. Privileged and Confidential Information. Minneapolis, MN: Minneapolis Tobacco Document Depository. Bates No 2046972451-204692476.
- Pierce, J.C. and Lovrich, N. Trust in the technical information provided by interestgroups: The views of legislators, activists, experts, and the general public. *Policy Studies Journal* 12 (1983): 626-639.
- Pion, Martin, and Michael Givel. 2004. "Airport Smoking Rooms Don't Work." Tobacco Control 13 (Supplement 1): i37-i40.
- Pollock, Philip. 1994. "Issues, Values, and Critical Moments: Did 'Magic' Johnson Transform Public Opinion and AIDS?" American Journal of Political Science 38 (2): 426-46.
- Porter, H. Legislative experts and outsiders: The two-step flow of communication. *Journal of Politics.* 36 (1974): 703-730.
- Posner, P. *The Politics of unfunded mandates: Whither federalism?* Washington, D.C.: Georgetown University Press. 1998.

- Pressman, J. & Wildavsky, A. Implementation: How great expectations in Washington are dashed in Oakland; Or, why it's amazing that federal program work at al, Berkely: University of California Press. 1973.
- Pressman, J. L. & Wildavaky, A. *Implementation: How great expectations in Washington are dashed in Oakland*, 3rd ed. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press 1984.
- Pyecha, J. (1988). A case study of the application of noncategorical special education in two states. Chapel Hill, NC: Research Triangle Institute.
- Rachal, John. "The long, hot summer: The Mississippi response to freedom summer, 1964." The Journal of Negro History 84 (Fall 1999) 315-40.
- Rampersad, Arnold. The Art and Imagination of W.E.B. Du Bois. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1976.
- Ray, D. The source of voting cues in three state legislatures. *Journal of Politics* 44 (1982): 1074-1087.
- Reagan, M. D. & Sanzone, J. G. *The new federalism*. 2^d edition. New York: Oxford University Press, 1981.
- Reynolds, H. (1977). The analysis of cross-classifications. New York: The Free Press.
- Riffe, D. Comparison of media and other sources of information for Alabama legislators. *Journalism Quarterly* 65 (1988): 46-53.
- Rivlin, A. Reviving the American dream: The economy, the states, and the federal government. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press, 1992.
- Roberts, K.W.S. 1977. Voting over Income Tax Schedules. *Journal of Public Economics* 8: 329-340.
- Robinson, Cedric. Black Movements in America. New York: Routledge, 1997.
- Robinson, Robert G., Barry, M., et al. Report of the Tobacco Policy Research Group on marketing and promotion targeted at African Americans, Latinos, and women. *Tobacco Control* 1992; 1(suppl): S24-30.
- Robinson, Robert G. "Community development model for public health application: Overview of a model to eliminate population disparities." *Journal of Health Education Practice* (March 2005): 248-266.

- Robinson, Robert G., Pertschuk, Michael, and Sutton, Charyn. Smoking and African Americans: spotlighting the effects of smoking and tobacco promotion in the African American community. In: Samuels SE, Smith MD, eds. Improving the health of the poor: strategies for prevention. Menlo Park, California: Henry J Kaiser Family Foundation, 1992: 122-81.
- Rosenthal, D. B. & Hoefler, J. Competing approaches to the study of American federalism and intergovernmental relations. *Publius: The Journal of Federalism*, 19 (Winter 1989): 1-23.
- Sabatier, Paul. 1991. "Toward Better Theories of the Policy Process." PS: Political Science & Politics 24 (2): 147-56.
- Sabatier, Paul, and Hank Jenkins-Smith. 1993. Policy Change and Learning: An Advocacy Coalition Framework. Boulder, CO: Westview.
- Sabatier, P. A. & Jenkins-Smith, H. C. The advocacy coalition framework: An assessment in *Theories of the policy process*. Boulder, CO: Westview Press, 1984.
- Sabatier, P.A. and Whiteman, D. Legislative decision making and substantive policy information flow. *Legislative Studies Quarterly* 65 (1985): 395-415.
- Schattschneider, E. E. 1960. The Semisovereign People. New York: Holt, Rinehart, and Winston.
- Schneider, R.L. and Lester, L. Social Work Advocacy. Stamford, CT: Brooks/Cole 2001.
- Scholzman, K. and Tierney, J. *Organized interests and American democracy*. New York: Harper and Row 1986.
- Schultz, Debra L. Going South: Jewish Women in the Civil Rights Movement. New York: University Press, 2001.
- Shannon, J. The return of fend for yourself federalism: The Reagan mark. *Intergovernmental Perspective*. (Summer/Fall 1987): 34.
- Sjoberg, G., Williams, N., Vaughan, T., & Sjoberg, A. (1991). The case study approach in social research. In Feagin, J., Orum, A., & Sjoberg, G. (Eds.), (1991). *A case for case study* (pp. 27-79). Chapel Hill, NC: University of North Carolina Press.

- Sloan, Frank, C. A. Mathews, and Justin Trogdon. 2005. "Impacts of the Master Settlement Agreement on the Tobacco Industry." Tobacco Control 13: 356-61.
- Sloan, Frank A., Jennifer S. Allsbrook, Leanne K. Madre, Leah E. Masselink, and Carrie A. Mathews. 2005. States' Allocations of Funds from the Master Settlement Agreement with Tobacco Companies: Evidence from Six States. *Health Affairs* 24: 220-227.
- Song, D. The influence of empirical research: Committee vs. floor decision making. *Legislative Studies Quarterly* 13 (1988): 375-393.
- Stake, R. (1995). The art of case research. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.
- Studlar, Donley. 2002. Tobacco Control: Comparative Politics in the United States and Canada. Peterborough, Ontario, Canada. Broadview Press, Ltd.
- Sutton, Charyn. The Onyx Group. The end of tobacco billboards: An assessment. July 2000.
- Tellis, W. (1997, July). Introduction to case study [68 paragraphs]. *The Qualitative Report* [On-line serial], *3*(2). Available: http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR3-2/tellis1.html
- Themba-Nixon, M., Sutton, C., Shorty, L., Lew, R., et al, "More Money, More Motivation? Master Settlement Agreement and Tobacco Control Funding in Communities of Color." Health Promotion Practice 5 (Supplement July 2004): 113S-128S.
- Trochim, W. (1989). Outcome pattern matching and program theory. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 12(4), 355.
- True, James, and Glenn Utter. 2002. "Saying 'Yes,' 'No,' and 'Load Me Up' to Guns in America." American Review of Public Administration 32 (2): 216-41.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency. 1992. Respiratory Health Effects of Passive Smoking: Lung Cancer and Other Disorders. Washington, DC: Office of Health and Environmental Assessment.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2002). *Indiana: Quick facts from the U.S. Census*. Retrieve June 22, 2007, from http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/18000.htm.

- U.S. Census Bureau. (2002). *Arkansas Quick facts from the U.S. Census*. Retrieve June 22, 2007, from http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/05000.htm.
- Thomas, C. and Hrebenar, R.J. *Interest groups in the states, In V. Gray. Politics in the American states*, 7th ed. Washington, D.C.: Congressional Quarterly Press: 113-143.
- Thomas, Clive S., and Ronald J. Hrebenar. 1999. Interest Groups in the States. In *Politics in the American States: A Comparative Analysis*, 7th ed., ed. Virginia Gray, Russell L. Hanson, and Herbert Jacob, 113-143. Washington, DC: CQ Press.
- Van-Ghehuwe, B. and Barber, J. Legislative advocacy in action. *Social Work* 31 (1986): 393-395.
- Vernick, J. S., Rutkow, L. and Teret, S. "Public Health Benefits of Recent Litigation Against the Tobacco Industry." *Journal of the American Medical Association* 298 (July 2007): 86-89.
- Volden, C. Asymmetric effects of intergovernmental grants: Analysis and implications for U.S. Welfare Policy. *Publius: The Journal of Federalism* 29 (Summer 1999): 51-73.
- Wahike, J., Eulau, H., Buchanan, W. and Ferguson, L. *The legislative system:* Explorations in legislative behavior. New York: John Wiley and Sons 1962.
- Walker, D.. *The rebirth of federalism: Slouching toward Washington*. 2d ed., New York: Chatham House Publishers, 2000.
- Walker, J. the diffusion of innovations among the American states. *American Political Science Review* 63 (1996): 880-890.
- White, E. F. Dark Continent of Our Bodies: Black Feminist and the Politics of Respectability. Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 2001.
- Wildavsky, Aaron. 1964. The Politics of the Budgetary Process. Boston: Little, Brown.
- Witt, S. and Moncrief, G. Religion and roll call voting in Idaho: The 1990 abortion controversy. *American Politics Quarterly* 21 (1993):140-149.
- Wood, B. D. Modeling federal implementation as a system: The clean air case. *American Journal of Political Science*, 36 (1992): 40-67.

- Woolf, S.H. and Johnson, R.E. The Health Impact of resolving racial disparities: an analysis of US mortality data. *Am J Public Health*. 2004; 94:2078-2081.
- Woolf, S.H., Johnson, R.E. and Phillips, R.L. Giving everyone the health of the educated: would social change save more lives than medical advances? *Am J Public Health*. In press.
- Woolf, S.H., Johnson, R.E., and Geiger, H.J. The rising prevalence of severe poverty in America: a growing threat to public health. *Am J Prev Med.* 2006;31:332-341.
- Worsham, Jeff. 1998. "Wavering Equilibriums: Subsystem Dynamics and Agenda Control." American Politics Quarterly 26 (4): 485-512.
- Yerger, Valerie and Malone, R.E. African American leadership groups: smoking with the enemy. *J of Tob Control* 2002; 11:336-45.
- Yin, R. (1984). *Case study research: Design and methods* (1st ed.). Beverly Hills, CA: Sage Publishing.
- Yin, R. (1989). Case study research: Design and methods (Rev. ed.). Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publishing.
- Yin, R. (1993). Applications of case study research. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publishing.
- Yin, R. (1994). *Case study research: Design and methods* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publishing. Ziegler, H. and Huelshoff, M. Interest groups and public policy. *Policy Studies Journal* 9 (1980): 430-448.
- Zwier, R. The search for information: Specialists and non specialists in the U.S. House of Representatives, *Legislative Studies Quarterly* 4 (1979): 31-42.